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Dear Potbelly Stockholders, 

I am proud of what our team accomplished in 2023 on our way to realizing our vision of becoming the most 
loved sandwich brand in every neighborhood. It was a year when many of the components of our Five-Pillar 
strategy showed their true promise as we moved forward into the early stages of our long-term sustainable 
growth trajectory. 

Traffic-Driven Profitability 

We lived up to our focus on traffic-driven profitability to establish a formula for sustainable value creation. 
Indeed, traffic was the primary driver of growth for the brand in 2023, as we delighted customers with our 
one-of-a-kind Sideways service, excited them with our innovative digital marketing and promotions like our 
week of Perks, meatball madness, and our in-app only underground menu. We are a fast casual restaurant 
company with superior quality across our menu of sandwiches, soups, salads, and desserts. We satisfied our 
customers’ hunger as only Potbelly can, with favorites like A Wreck sandwich and oatmeal chocolate chip 
cookies, as well as innovative LTOs like the Ring of Fire. Our Perks loyalty program engaged and rewarded our 
members while showcasing the best part of our brand – the food – and achieved spectacular growth through the 
year. 

The results were strong: 12.0% growth in same store sales, while simultaneously improving profitability, with a 
370-basis point improvement to shop margin achieving 14.2%. Our Adjusted EBITDA grew 80%. We achieved 
our three-year average unit volume target of $1.3 million a year early. 

Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative 

We are most excited about the progress we made on our transformation toward becoming a franchise business 
through our Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative. In 2023, we expanded our existing base of franchisees 
from coast to coast, executing Shop Development Area Agreements with talented multi-unit operators 
enthusiastic about growing with our brand. We added the leadership, talent, and processes to end 2023 with 
612 open and committed shops while we work toward our potential of more than 2000 shops in the U.S. with our 
current and new franchisee partners. 

Long-Term Growth Framework 

We are eager to introduce our new long-term goals that we see as a framework we can sustain over time. This 
includes same-store-sales growth in the low to mid-single-digits, unit growth in the low-double-digits, and 
Adjusted EBITDA growth in the low to mid-double-digits. These are challenging goals, but they are achievable 
and are aligned with how we operate our business. Importantly, we already have the plans in place to achieve 
these targets. 

Our success starts with our great food and the relationship between our customers and Potbelly team members. 
That was true in 2023 and will underpin our future success. We have laid the foundation as a growth company, 
and with our Five-Pillar strategic plan, we are on the right track to capitalize on the opportunities ahead. I look 
forward to another great year of carrying out our mission - to delight customers with great food and good vibes. 



 

Sincerely, 

 

Robert D. Wright 
President and Chief Executive Officer 



UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549
___________________________________________________________________________

FORM 10-K
___________________________________________________________________________

x ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023
or

o TRANSRR ITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

Commission file number 001-36104
___________________________________________________________________________

POTBELLY CORPORATRR ION
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

___________________________________________________________________________

Delaware 36-4466837
(State or Other Jurisdiction of

Incorporation)
(I.R.S. Employer
Identificff ation No.)

111 N. Canal Street, Suite 325
Chicago, Illinois 60606

(Address of Principal Executive Offiff ces) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s Telephone Number, Including Area Code: (312) 951-0600
___________________________________________________________________________

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Trading Symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, $0.01 par value PBPB The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC

(Nasdaq Global Select Market)
___________________________________________________________________________

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yeso Nox
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yeso Nox
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months, and (2) has been subju ect to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yesx
Noo
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submu itted electronically, everyr Interactive Data File required to be submu itted pursuant
to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant
was required to submu it such files.) Yesx Noo
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting
company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting
company,” and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer o Accelerated filer x

Non-accelerated filer o Smaller reporting company x

Emerging growth company o

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for
complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.o



Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effeff ctiveness of
its internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public
accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report. Yesx Noo
If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether financial statements of the registrant
included in the filing reflect the correction of an error to previously issued financial statements.o
Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based
compensation received by any of the registrant's executive offiff cers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b).o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yeso Nox
As of June 25, 2023, the last trading day of the registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter, the aggregate market value of
the registrant’s outstanding common equity held by non-affiff liates was $231.5 million, based on the closing price of the registrant’s
common stock on such date as reported on the Nasdaq Global Select Market. For the purposrr es of this computation, shares held by
directors and executive offiff cers of the registrant have been excluded. Such exclusion is not intended, nor shall it be deemed, to be an
admission that such persons are affiff liates of the registrant.

As of Februarr ry 25, 2024, 29,602,526 shares of the registrant’s common stock were outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATRR ED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant’s definitive proxy statement for its 2024 Annual Meeting to be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission not later than 120 days afteff r the end of the year covered by this Annual Report are incorporated by reference into Part III of
this Annual Report.



Potbelly Corporation and Subsidiaries
Table of Contents

Cautionary Statement on Forward-Looking Statements and Risk Factors Summary 3

RT I
Item 1. Business 5
Item 1A. Risk Factors 14
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments 31
Item 1C. Cybersecurity 31
Item 2. Properties 33
Item 3. Legal Proceedings 34
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 34

PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities 35
Item 6. Reserved 36
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 36
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 51
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 52
Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 79
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 79
Item 9B. Other Information 81
Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections 81

PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 82
Item 11. Executive Compensation 82
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters 82
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence 82
em 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 82

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 83

Exhibit Index 84
Signatures 88

2



CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND RISK FACTORS SUMMARY

Forward-looking statements, within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), are made
throughout this Annual Report and are intended to come within the safe harbor protection provided by those sections.
These forward-looking statements can generally be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, including the
terms “believes,” “estimates,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “strives,” “goal,” “seeks,” “projeo cts,” “intends,” “forff ecasts,”
“plans,” “may,” “will” or “should” or, in each case, their negative or other variations or comparable terminology. They
appear in a number of places throughout this Annual Report and include statements regarding our intentions, beliefsff or
current expectations concerning, among other things, our results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, prospects,
growth, strategies and the industryrr in which we operate.

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events and
depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. We believe that these risks and uncertainties include, but
are not limited to, those described in “Risk Factors” in Item 1A, which include, but are not limited to, the following:

• competition in the restaurant industry,rr which is highly competitive and includes many larger, more well-
establa ished companies;

• changes in economic conditions, including the effeff cts of consumer confidff ence and discretionary spending;

• our ability to manage our growth and successfulff ly implement our business strategy;

• our reliance on a limited number of supplu iers for our majoa r products and on a distribution network with a
limited number of distribution partners for the majoa rity of our national distribution program;

• the future cost and availabia lity of credit, and the liquidity or operations of our supplu iers and other service
providers;

• fluff ctuat tion in price and availabia lity of commodities, including but not limited to items such as beef,ff poultry,rr
grains, dairyrr and produce and energy supplu ies, where prices could increase or decrease more than we expect;

• our ability to expand into new markets and successfulff ly identify,ff open and operate new shops (which is
dependent upon various factors such as the availabia lity of attractive sites for new shops);

• our ability to negotiate suitable lease terms, terminate on acceptable terms or sublu ease or assign leases for
underperforming shops;

• our ability to identifyff new franchisees to open and operate new shops;

• our ability to control construcrr tion and development costs and obtain capital to fund such costs;

• our ability to recruir t, train and retain qualified operating personnel;

• changes in consumer tastes and lack of acceptance or awareness of our brand in existing or new markets;

• faiff lure of our marketing effoff rts to attract and retain customers;

• risks of food safety and food-borne illnesses and other health concerns about our food;

• damage to our reputation caused by, for example, any perceived reduction in the quality of our food, service
or staff,ff an adverse change in our culture or the operations of our franchisees;

• the seasonality of our business;

• our supplu y chain;

• demographic trends, traffiff c patterns and our ability to effeff ctively respond in a timely manner to changes in
traffiff c patterns;

• the cost of advertising and media;

• inflaff tion or deflation, unemployment rates, interest rates, and increases in various costs, such as real estate
and insurance costs;

• risks associated with labora disputes, labora unions, or our ability to offsff et higher labora costs;

• adverse weather conditions, natural disasters and other disasters, especially in local or regional areas in
which our shops are concentrated;
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• our ability to grow our digital business;

• litigation or legal complaints alleging, among other things, illness, injun ry or violations of federal and state
workplk ace and employment laws and our ability to obtain and maintain required licenses and permits;

• government actions and policies; tax and other legislation; regulation of the restaurant industry;rr and
accounting standards or pronouncements;

• security breaches of confidff ential customer information in connection with our electronic processing of credit
and debit card transactions or the failure of our information technology system;

• the volatility of our common stock and actions by activist stockholders;

• our ability to adequately protect our intellectuat l property;

• the costs associated with complying or meeting environmental, social and governance regulations and
stakeholder expectations;

• the impact of climate-related risks on our financial results, leased premises and operations; and

• other factors discussed under “Business” in Item 1, “Risk Factors” in Item 1A and “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Item 7.

These factors should not be construerr d as exhaustive and should be read in conjunction with the other cautionary
statements included in this document. These risks and uncertainties, as well as other risks of which we are not aware or
which we currently do not believe to be material, may cause our actuat l future results to be materially different than those
expressed in our forward-looking statements. We do not undertake to update our forward-looking statements, whether as a
result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required by law.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

The Neighborhood Sandwich Shop

Potbelly Corporation is a sandwich concept that has been feeding customers’ smiles with warm, toasty
sandwiches, signature salads, hand-dipped shakes, freshly-baked cookies and other fresh menu items, customized just the
way customers want them, for more than 40 years. Potbelly promises Fresh, Fast & Friendly service in a welcoming
environment that reflects the local neighborhood. Our employees are trained to engage with our customers in a genuine
way to provide a personalized experience. We believe the combination of our great food, people and atmosphere creates a
devoted base of Potbelly customers.

We believe that a key to our past and future success is our culturt e. It is embodied in The Potbelly Waya , which is an
expression of our Vision, Mission and Values, and the foundation of everytrr hing we do. Our Vision is to be the most loved
sandwich brand in everyrr neighborhood. Our Mission is to delight customers with great food and good vibes. Our Values
embody both how we lead and how we behave and form the cornerstone of our culture. We use clear language that
resonates from the frontline associate to the most senior levels of the organization, creating shared expectations and
accountabilities in how we approach our day-to-day activities. We strive to be a fun, friendly and hardworking group of
people who enjon y taking care of our customers, while at the same time taking care of each other.

As of December 31, 2023, we had 424 shops in 31 states and the District of Columbia. Of these, the company
operates 345 shops and franchisees operate 79 shops.

Our History

Potbelly started in 1977 as a small antique store on Lincoln Avenue in Chicago. To boost sales, the original owner
began offeff ring toasty warm sandwiches to customers. Soon, people who had no interest in antiques were stopping by to
enjon y the delicious sandwiches, homemade desserts and live music featurt ed in the shop. As time passed, Potbelly became a
well-known neighborhood destination with a loyal following of regulars and frequent lines out the door.

Potbelly opened its second shop in 1997 and continued to open shops in more neighborhoods reaching over 400
company-operated and franchise locations today. Throughout the growth, each new shop has maintained a similar look,
vibe and experience that defines the Potbelly brand. Though our shops vary in size and shape, we maintain core elements in
each new location, such as fast and effiff cient line flow, vintage décor customized with local details and exceptional
customer focus.

Just like our first shop on Lincoln Avenue, we are committed to building community roots in all the
neighborhoods we serve.

Our Business Strategy

We strive to be proactive and deliberate in our effoff rts to drive profitaff bla e growth in our existing business. Our
“Traffic-Driven Profitff ability” 5-pillar strategic plan includes a prioritized set of low-cost strategic investments that we
believe will continue to deliver strong returns. The 5 pillars are:

• Craveable-Quality Food at a Great Value
• People Creating Good Vibes
• Customer Experiences that Drive Traffiff c Growth
• Digitally-Driven Awareness, Connection and Traffiff c
• Franchise-Focused Development

These initiatives include improvements to our overall customer experience, an updated, simplifieff d menu and
further enhancements of our Potbelly Perks rewards program. They also include improvements to drive a better digital
customer experience.

Lastly, we are prioritizing low-cost, high-return traffiff c driving opportunities, as well as numerous initiatives that
are focused on expanding shop-level margins. While we cannot provide assurances that we will achieve and maintain these
objectives, we consider each of them to be core strategies of our business.
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Shop Operations. We believe that continued excellence in shop-level execution is fundamental to our growth and
improved performance. To maintain our operational standards, we use a Balanced Scorecard approach to measure People,
Customers, Sales and Profitff s at each of our shops. Hiring the right people and maintaining optimal staffiff ng levels enables
us to run effiff cient operations. We track metrics such as peak hour throughput and customer satisfaction survey results.
Shop sales and profitaff bia lity are benchmarked against prior year periods and budget, and we focus on achieving targets on a
shop-by-shop basis. To supporu t our shop operators, we invest in systems and technology that can meaningfulff ly improve
shop-level execution. For example, we have applied technology to automate and ensure customer focus. In addition, we are
expanding our off-pff remise business, including catering, deliveryrr and pickup,kk which we view as additional growth drivers.

Shop Development. Our company-operated shops are successfulff in diverse markets in 19 states and the District of
Columbia. Our shops are also located in multiple types of neighborhoods and formats, including suburu bar n, urbar n, central
business districts, airports and others. We evaluate a number of metrics to assess the optimal sites for our new shops,
including neighborhood daytime population, site visibility, traffiff c and accessibility, along with an on-the-ground qualitative
assessment of the characteristics of each unique trade area. This location-specific approach to development allows us to
leverage our versatile shop format, which does not have standardized requirements with respect to size, shape or location,
to achieve strong returns across a wide range of real estate settings. See “—Site Selection and Expansion—Shop Design”
for more information about our shop requirements.

Marketkk ing.We believe that our brand position, “Potbet lly is the sandwich shop with the craveable quality and good
vibes of a first-class dive” reflects our brand strength and competitive advantage and has broad appeal across a wide range
of market types and geographies. We learn from the formal customer feedbad ck we solicit, and from managers and
employees who interact with customers in our shops, that many customers in new markets report positive recommendations
from friends and family members who live in regions with establa ished Potbelly shops. We believe that our positive brand
perception helps drive interest in our shops in both existing and new markets. We enhance this with our social and digital
interactions and complement our distinctive in-shop experience with online access, allowing customers to order ahead
through both our website and Potbelly app, including catering, deliveryrr or in-shop pick up. Additionally, our Potbelly Perks
rewards program unlocks connection and digital promotion capaa bia lities with our most loyal customers.

Franchisiii ng. In 2010, we initiated a program to franchise shops in selected markets in the U.S. As of
December 31, 2023, our franchisees operated 79 shops across 22 states. As we further develop our franchise program, we
intend to expand the number of franchise shops at an increasing rate of growth. We focus on franchisees that are
compatible with the Potbelly culture that commit to multi-unit growth through our exclusive Shop Development Area
Agreements (“SDAAs”). See “—Franchising” for more information about our franchise programs. Since the initiation of
the program, we have sold 182 shop commitments as of December 31, 2023. We expect the financial impact of our
franchising effoff rts to continually expand along with the franchise growth itself.

Our Food

Our Menu

Each of our shops offeff rs freshly-made food with high-quality ingredients. Our menu currently includes toasty hot
sandwiches, signature salads, soups, chili, sides, freshly-baked cookies, hand-dipped shakes and, in our breakfast locations,
breakfast sandwiches.

Overall, we believe our menu of high-quality food at reasonabla e prices offeff rs considerable value to our customers.
In fiscal year 2023, our system-wide average check per entree was approximately $11.87, up from $11.38 in 2022.

We believe menu innovation is a way for us to grow our business, responding to consumer trends, listening to
customer feedbad ck, and understanding customers' needs. This innovation includes the ongoing development of bundling
options, craveable add-ons, and premium protein sandwiches served toasty warm from our ovens, while continuing to
encourage customization and personalization by each customer.

Food Preparatiott n and Safea ty

Food safety is a top priority, and we dedicate subsu tantial resources, including our supplu y chain and quality
assurance teams, to help ensure that our customers enjon y safe, quality food products. We have taken various steps to
mitigate food safety and quality risks, including having personnel focused on this goal together with our supplu y chain team.
We consider food safety and quality assurance when selecting our distributors and supplu iers. The shops are provided the
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training, processes and tools to serve safe, consistent, quality food to our customers. Our shops’ practices are validated by
third-party food safety reviews, internal safety audits and routine health inspections.

Shop Operations and Management

We believe having an excellent manager in each shop is a critical factor in achieving continuous excellence in
operations. Managers hire our associates, help ensure consistent execution of our menu items and strive to achieve specificff
targets that are evaluated daily, weekly and periodically. We devote significant time and resources to identifying, selecting
and training our managers who, along with our employees, provide a positive experience to our Potbelly customers. We
invest in people, customer and operating systems that help our leaders manage their teams and drive consistency in
achieving business targets. Our sales-based commission, profitff -sharing bonus program incentivizes all levels of shop
management on continuous improvement.

Potbellyll Operatiott ns

Our operations are structurt ed around the elements of:ff People, Customers, Sales and Profitsff . Our business includes
over 39% digital orders through the Potbelly App or website and third-party deliveryrr services providers, along with our in-
shop and drive-thru experiences. The highest sales volume daypart is lunch, but other parts of the day are also important to
our business. Additionally, we have well balanced sales volume throughout the week. Our labora scheduling systems help
ensure the appropriate staffiff ng when needed. For in-shop orders, our employees greet our customers, take their order and
dress the sandwiches to order. We are implementing and expanding upon new technology with the Potbelly Digital Kitchen
("PDK") that helps streamline digital orders and supporu t high volume shops with in-line order taking tabla ets to improve
throughput and customer satisfacff tion. Beginning in 2023, PDK was and will be integrated in the initial construcr tion and
design of all new shop openings.

Each shop has a budget and targets that align to the shop bonus programs. Our scorecard system aligns key targets
such as sales and profitff s, staffiff ng, training, turnover and customer experiences to encourage high performance. Our
performance metrics are aligned to the quarterly shop bonus program that rewards top performers and encourages over-
deliveryrr against targets. In addition to our internal effoff rts, we also leverage third-party companies to provide customer
service feedbad ck and conduct food safety assessments to analyze and improve the Potbelly experience.

The Potbellyll Expexx rience

We seek to deliver a positive experience for everyrr customer at everyrr opportunity through our tasty food, unique
atmosphere and outgoing and engaging employees. We staffff each shop with experienced teams to ensure consistent and
attentive customer service that provides a unique and "Good Vibes" experience. We target employees who are friendly and
responsive to the needs of our customers as they assist them in selecting menu items complementing individual
preferff ences. We staffff appropriately during peak hours to ensure a fast yet personal Potbelly experience for each in-shop
customer, with face-to-face interaction from start to finish and a fast yet convenient experience for each of our digital
customers. We also provide off-pff remise services, including catering, delivery and order ahead to serve our customers.

Human Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2023, we employed over 5,000 persons, of which approximately 180 are corporate personnel,
450 are shop management personnel and the remainder are hourly shop personnel. Our franchisees are independent
business owners that separately employ personnel in their shops.

Potbelly actively creates and promotes an environment that is inclusive of all people and their unique abilities,
strengths and differences. We respect and embrace diversity in each other, our customers, supplu iers and all others with
whom we interact as an essential component in the way we do business. We look to attract, hire and retain smart, talented
and outgoing people who share and demonstrate our values. We value friendly employees who engage with our customers
in a genuine way to provide a personalized experience. We believe we make expectations and accountabilities clear
through our culturt e training and our Employee Handbook, including the Ethics Code of Conduct, which summarizes
company information, policies and employee conduct guidelines.

The Potbelly Waya , outlined in our Employee Handbook, defines the culturt e of our company and our employees. It
is the recipe that motivates and inspires us to be the best at what we do.

Our Visiii on – to be the most loved sandwich brand in everyrr neighborhood.
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Our Missiii on – to delight customers with great food and good vibes.

Our Values:
• Great Food – we love serving great-tasting, high-quality craveabla e food.
• Good Vibes – we bring positive energy, fun and friendliness.
• Achievement – we have high standards, deliver great results and celebrate success.
• Innovation – we're always improving through creative solutions.
• Integrity – we're accountable and always do what's right.
• Teamwork – we have each other's back and work together.
• Community – we value and supporu t the neighborhoods we call home.
• Belonging – we make everyonerr feel welcome and valued.

Our culture helps us to attract and retain employees and has contributed to our better-than-industry-rr average
turnover rate for the year ended December 31, 2023. Employees are further encouraged to perform at their personal best
through an ongoing scorecard measuring system that is tied directly to a pay for performance compensation program. We
believe our sustainabla e process to hire, train and develop our people enables us to deliver a positive customer experience. A
typical Potbelly shop consists of one salaried general manager, several hourly managers and numerous employees. The
number of employees can increase during peak hours or at locations with high-traffiff c.

Many of our managers live in the neighborhood in which their shop is located. We believe this allows them to get
to know their customers, understand the unique character of each neighborhood and form deep roots within the community.
The shop manager has primary responsibility for the day-to-day operation of the shop and is required to abide by Potbelly’s
operating standards. Our Management Training Program provides new levels of management with five to nine weeks of
training that emphasizes culture, standards, strategy and procedurd es to prepare them for success, and is followed by on-
going, in-shop coaching with their District Manager or Regional Director. Our shop managers report to District Managers
who typically report to a Regional Director, and Vice President of Company Operations. We also employ franchise
business consultants exclusively dedicated to our franchisees and their shop operations. These employees all report
ultimately to our Chief Operating Offiff cer. In addition, members of senior management visit shops regularly to help ensure
that our culture, strategy and quality standards are being adhered to in all aspects of our operations.

Shop managers are responsible for selecting, hiring and training the employees for each new shop. The training
period includes on-the-jo- b supeu rvision by an experienced employee. Ongoing employee training remains the responsibility
of the shop manager, but we also provide specific training for our employees around The Potbelly Waya each year. Special
emphasis is placed on the safety, consistency and quality of food preparation and service, which is monitored through
ongoing coaching sessions and meetings with managers. In addition, we have other continuing communications with all of
our employees on food safety and preparation standards.

At Potbelly, we believe rewards and recognition play an important role in retaining our employees. Our approach
to rewarding talent is through a combination of competitive compensation and benefits. To foster a sense of ownership and
align the interests of our team members with shareholders, stock options, restricted stock units and performance-based
units are provided to eligible team members under our 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan. Additionally, certain employees
are eligible for performance-based cash incentive plans. These incentive plans reward individuals based on the achievement
of predetermined company targets.

Potbelly is committed to providing our employees with a benefits program that is both comprehensive and
competitive. Our benefits program offeff rs health care, dental and vision coverage, as well as financial stability to our
employees and their families. We remain focused on compensating our employees equally, regardless of gender, race and
ethnicity. Potbelly also provides an employee meal benefit program. Our Recognition Toolkit outlines our programs that
recognize employees’ contributions to the overall objectives and effiff cient operations of the Company.

Restaurant Portfolio

As of December 31, 2023, we had 424 shops in 31 states and the District of Columbia. Of these, the company
operates 345 shops and franchisees operate 79 shops.

In 2023, we opened one new company-operated shop and closed seven. In the near term, we will continue to
evaluate underperforming shops for possible closure and limit our rate of company-operated shop growth while we focus
on franchise shop development under our Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative. As part of this initiative, we
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refranchised 33 company-operated shops during 2023 across multiple markets. We expect that most of our shop growth
will occur through franchisee development in 2024.

With an average new shop investment of approximately $650,000 and average unit volumes of $1.32 million,
which represent the average net sandwich shop sales for all company-operated shops for fiscal year 2023, we strive to
generate average shop-level profitff margins, a non-GAAP measure, of mid to high teens. However, we cannot provide any
assurances that we will achieve and maintain similar profitff margins or cash returns in the future.

Siteii Selectiott n and Expanxx sion

We consider the location of a shop to be a critical variable in its long-term success and as such, we devote
significant effoff rt to the investigation and evaluation of potential locations. We seek new shop locations based on specificff
criteria, such as demographic characteristics, daytime population thresholds and traffiff c patterns, along with the potential
visibility of,ff and accessibility to, the shop. New company shops are built with only one purposrr e in mind: to generate cash
flow that meets or exceeds those modeled in our return targets. Franchisees have similar expectations for their new shop
development while the company benefits from the brand expansion and royalty income from those locations. Our strategy
is to focus primarily on franchise unit growth and limit our rate of company-operated shop growth.

Shopo Designi

We strive to create a unique customer experience that delivers a neighborhood feel for each shop. We typically
design the interior of our shops in-house, utilizing outside architects when necessary. Our design team sources most
furnishings and decorations for our shops. Each of our shops featurt es vintage décor and shared design elements, such as the
use of wood, wallpaper motifs and our signature Potbelly stove. Consistent with The Potbelly Waya , our shops display
locally-themed photos and other decorative items inspired by the neighborhood. Our shop size averages approximately
2,300 square feet; however, we currently target shop sizes between 1,800 and 2,000 square feet for new openings. The
dining area of a typical shop can seat anywhere from 20 to 40 customers. Some of our shops incorporate larger dining areas
and outdoor patios. We believe the unique atmosphere creates a lively place where friends and family can get together,
encourages repeat visits by our customers and drives increased sales. We continue to focus on our shop design to improve
the deliveryrr and customer pickupk experience.

Construction

Construcrr tion of a new shop generally takes approximately 60 to 90 days from the date the location is leased or
under contract, fully permitted and the landlord has delivered the space to Potbelly. Each new shop requires a total cash
investment of approximately $650,000, but this figure could be materially higher or lower depending on the market, shop
size and condition of the premises upon landlord delivery. We generally construcr t shops in third-party leased retail space
but also construcr t free-standing buildings on leased properties. In the future, we intend to continue converting existing
third-party leased retail space or construcr ting new shops in the majoa rity of circumstances. For additional information
regarding our leases, see “—Properties” in Item 2.

Franchising

We look for franchisees who love working with a team and have solid business experience, financial
qualificff ations and personal motivation. Our franchise arrangements grant third parties a license to establa ish and operate a
shop using our systems and trademarks. The franchisee pays us for the ideas, strategy, marketing, operating system,
training, purchasing power and brand recognition. All new franchisees participate in an eight-week training program
consisting of real-lifeff experience in our company-operated shops. Franchised shops must be operated in compliance with
our methods, standards and specificff ations, regarding menu items, ingredients, materials, supplu ies, services, fixturt es,
furnishings, décor and signs.

Franchising Terms

The conventional franchise agreement provides for an initial term of eight to ten years with the option to renew.
The conventional agreement requires the franchisee to pay a weekly royalty of 6.0% of gross sales net of discounts, an
upfroff nt initial franchise fee and ongoing IT and operational fees. The franchisee is also required to contribute to the
Potbelly Brand Fund, which is used for advertising and marketing activities to promote the Potbelly brand.
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In addition to franchise and license agreements, we also enter into development arrangements with certain
franchisees. The agreement, which includes a development fee charged to the franchisee, gives exclusive rights to develop
shops in a specified geographical area for a certain period of time. The development fee paid is credited towards the initial
franchise fee owed for each shop opened under the agreement.

Advertising and Marketing

We believe our shops appeal to a broad base of loyal customers for our great food, diverse menu and good vibes,
staffeff d by friendly people. Under our current strategy we have devoted greater marketing resources to promote the Potbelly
brand and, among other things, generate awareness of shop locations, promotions and brand differentiation all with the
objective of driving traffiff c growth in our shops.

Adverdd tising

We promote our brand in all markets where we have shops. The use of digital media is the most common
advertising vehicle. Additionally, we rely on in-shop materials to communicate and market to our customers.

Digii taii l Marketintt g

We have increased our use of digital marketing tools, which enable us to reach a significant number of people in a
timely and targeted fashion. We believe that our customers will use social media to make dining decisions or to share
dining experiences; thereforff e, we advertise on Facebook, Instagram and several other digital media platforms. We also
leverage our Potbelly App to communicate with our customers and personalize offeff rs for them. These platforms allow them
to transact with us digitally by ordering ahead for pickupk or delivery, paying with their phone and earning tasty treats.

Potbellyll Perkskk

We offeff r a loyalty program for customers called Potbelly Perks that can be accessed at potbet lly.com, the Potbelly
App and at the point of sale in our shops. In 2023, a Potbelly Perks member earned 10 points for everyrr dollar spent and
earned a free entrée afteff r achieving 1,000 points. Once a member earned the free entrée, that entrée reward expired afteff r 30
days.

In January 2024, we enhanced our Potbelly Perks program to provide more reward options and flexibility for
members. Members will earn 10 or more coins, the equivalent of points under the legacy program, for everyrr dollar they
spend. The number of coins earned per dollar is dependent on each member's annual spend with Potbelly. Coins can be
redeemed for a variety of items across the Potbelly menu. The coins expire one year afteff r they are earned.

Sourcing and Supply Chain

Our supplu y chain team sources, negotiates and purchases food supplu ies for our shops. We believe in using safe,
high-quality ingredients while maintaining our value position in the marketplt ace. We benchmark our products against the
competition using consumer panels. We contract with Distribution Market Advantage, Inc. ("DMA"), a cooperative of
multiple food distributors located throughout the nation. DMA is a broker through which we negotiate and gain access to
third-party food distributors and supplu iers. For fiscal year 2023, distributors through our DMA arrangement supplu ied us
with more than 90% of our food supplu ies through six primaryrr distributors: Reinhart FoodService, L.L.C., Ben E. Keith
Company, Harbor Foodservice, Shamrock Foods, Gordon Food Service and Nicholas & Co. Our remaining food supplu ies
are distributed by other distributors under separate contracts. Our distributors deliver inventoryrr to our shops approximately
two to three times per week.

We negotiate pricing and volume terms directly with certain of our supplu iers and distributors or through DMA.
Our supplu y chain team utilizes a mix of forward pricing protocols for certain items under which we agree with our supplu ier
on fixed prices for deliveries at some time in the future, fixed pricing protocols under which we agree on a fixed price with
our supplu ier for the duration of that protocol, and formula pricing protocols under which the prices we pay are based on a
specified formula related to the prices of the goods, such as spot prices. Our use of any forward pricing arrangements varies
subsu tantially from time to time and these arrangements tend to cover relatively short periods (i.e., typically 12 months or
less).
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Currently we have pricing arrangements of varying lengths with our distributors and supplu iers, including
distributors and supplu iers of meats, dairy,rr bread, cookie dough and other products. Meats represent approximately 30% of
our product purchasing composition. In fiscal year 2023, more than 80% of our meat products were sourced from 10
supplu iers under non-exclusive contracts. We have secondary supplu iers in place for many of our significant meats, and we
believe we would be able to source our meat requirements from different supplu iers if doing so became necessary. We have
a non-exclusive contract with Campagna-Turano Bakery, Inc. for our signature multigrain bread. Campagna-Turano
Bakery, Inc. produces bread items in a primary and secondary production facility. We have secondary supplu iers in place
for, our bread items and we believe we would be able to source our bread requirements from different supplu iers if doing so
became necessary. However, changes in the price or availabia lity of certain products may affeff ct the profitaff bia lity of certain
items, our ability to maintain existing prices and our ability to purchase sufficient amounts of items to satisfy our
customers’ demands.

The remainder of our products, ingredients and supplu ies are currently sourced from a variety of interchangeable
supplu iers. Additionally, our supplu y chain team has establa ished contingency plans for many key products. For example,
manufactff urt ers of certain products maintain alternative production facilities capable of satisfying our requirements should
the primary facility experience interruptu ions. For other products, we believe we have identifieff d alternate supplu iers that
could meet our requirements at competitive prices or, in some cases, have identifieff d a product match that could be used in
our shops. Our supplu y chain team regularly updates our procurement strategies to include contingency plans for new
products and ingredients, as well as additional secondary and alternate supplu iers. We believe these strategies would
collectively enable us to obtain sufficient product quantities from other sources at competitive prices without material
disruptr ion should a current suppu lier be unabla e to fulfilff l its commitment to us.

Information Technology

Shop-level financial and accounting controls are handled through a point-of-sale and back-office system (“POS”)
networked into a centralized data center. The POS system is used to process sales transactions and manage the business,
controlling costs such as inventoryrr and labora . We use a point-to-point encryprr ted payment solution to process credit card
transactions. Our company-operated shops report all transaction data into our corporate data warehouse where business
information is provided to corporate employees to aid in collaboration, communication, and training between shops and the
corporate offiff ce. We believe our systems currently comply with all credit card industryrr security standards for processing of
credit and gift cards.

Competition

We compete in the restaurant industry,rr primarily in the fast-casual restaurant segment but also with restaurants in
the full-service restaurant segment and face significant competition from a wide variety of restaurants, convenience stores
and other outlets on a national, regional and local level. We believe that we compete primarily based on product quality,
restaurant concept, service, convenience, value perception and price. Many of our competitors have existed longer and have
a more establa ished market presence with subsu tantially greater financial, marketing, personnel, and other resources than we
do, and as a result, these competitors may be better positioned to succeed in a highly competitive restaurant industry.rr Our
competition continues to intensifyff as competitors increase the breadth and depth of their product offeff rings and open new
units. We compete with fast-casual restaurants, specialty restaurants and other retail concepts for prime shop locations. In
recent years, competition has increased from food delivery services, which offeff r meals from a wide variety of restaurants.

Government Regulation

We and our franchisees are subju ect to various federal, state, and local laws affeff cting our business. Each of our
shops is subju ect to licensing and regulation by a number of governmental authorities, which may include, among others,
health and safety, nutritional menu labea ling, health care, environmental and fire agencies in the state, or municipality in
which the shop is located. Difficulty in obtaining or failing to obtain the required licenses or approvals could delay or
prevent the development of a new shop in a particular area. Additionally, difficulties or inabilities to retain or renew
licenses, or increased compliance costs due to changed regulations, could adversely affeff ct operations at existing shops.

Our shop operations are also subju ect to federal and state labora laws, including the U.S. Fair Labora Standards Act,
the U.S. Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, and the Occupau tional Safety and Health Act, governing such
matters as minimum wages, overtime, fringe benefits, workplkk ace safety and other worker conditions and citizenship
requirements. Significant numbers of our food service and preparation personnel are paid at rates related to the applicable
minimum wage and further increases in the minimum wage or other changes in these laws could increase our labora costs.
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Our ability to respond to minimum wage increases by increasing menu prices will depend on the responses of our
competitors and customers. Our distributors and supplu iers also may be affeff cted by higher minimum wage and benefit
standards, which could result in higher costs for goods and services supplu ied to us.

We and our franchisees may also be subju ect to lawsuits from our employees, the U.S. Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission or others alleging violations of federal and state laws regarding workplk ace and employment
matters, as well as discrimination and similar matters.

We and our franchisees are subju ect to the Americans with Disabia lities Act (the “ADA”), which, among other
things, requires our shops to meet federally mandated requirements for the disabla ed. The ADA prohibits discrimination in
employment and public accommodations on the basis of disabia lity. Under the ADA, we and our franchisees could be
required to expend funds to modify our shops to provide service to, or make reasonabla e accommodations for the
employment of,ff disabla ed persons. In addition, our employment practices are subju ect to the requirements of the Immigration
and Naturalization Service relating to citizenship and residency. Government regulations could affeff ct and change the items
we procure for resale. We and our franchisees may also become subju ect to legislation or regulation seeking to tax and/or
regulate sugary beverages and high-fat and high-sodium foods, which could be costly to comply with. Our results can be
impacted by tax legislation and regulation in the jurisdictions in which we operate and by accounting standards or
pronouncements.

We and our franchisees are also subju ect to laws and regulations relating to information security, privacy, cashless
payments, gift cards and consumer credit, protection and fraud, and any failure or perceived failure to comply with these
laws and regulations could harm our reputation or lead to litigation, which could adversely affeff ct our financial condition.

Our franchising activities are subju ect to the rules and regulations of the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) and
various state laws regulating the offeff r and sale of franchises. The FTC’s franchise rule and various state laws require that
we furnish a franchise disclosure document (“FDD”) containing certain information to prospective franchisees and a
number of states require registration of the FDD with state authorities. Subsu tantive state laws that regulate the franchisor-
frff anchisee relationship, including in the areas of termination and non-renewal, presently exist in a subsu tantial number of
states. We believe that our FDD and franchising procedurd es comply in all material respects with both the FTC guidelines
and the applicable state laws regulating franchising in those states in which we have offeff red franchises.

See “Risk Factors” in Item 1A for a discussion of risks relating to federal, state and local regulation of our
business.

Seasonality

Our business is subju ect to seasonal fluctuations. Historically, customer spending patterns for our establa ished shops
are lowest in the first quarter of the year due to holidays, consumer habia ts and adverse weather. Other factors also have a
seasonal effeff ct on our results. For example, shops located near colleges and universities typically do more business during
the academic year. Our quarterly results have been and will continue to be affeff cted by the timing of new shop openings and
their associated pre-opening costs. As a result of these and other factors, our financial results for any quarter may not be
indicative of the results that may be achieved for a full fiscal year.

Intellectual Property and Trademarks

We regard our “Potbet lly” and “Potbet lly Sandwich Works” trademarks as having significant value and as being
important factors in the marketing of our shops. We have also obtained trademarks for several of our other menu items,
such as “A Wreck,” and for various advertising slogans, including “Good Vibes, Great Sandwiches,” “Feed Your Smile”
and “A First Class Dive.” We have procedurd es in place to monitor for potential infringement of our intellectuat l property,
and it is our policy to pursue registration of our intellectuat l property whenever possible and to oppose vigorously any
infringement thereof, taking into account the strength of our claim, likelihood of success, cost and overall business
priorities.

We license the use of our registered trademarks to franchisees through franchise arrangements. The franchise
arrangements restrict franchisees’ activities with respect to the use of our trademarks and impose quality control standards
forff the goods and services offeff red in connection with the trademarks.
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Available Information

We maintain a website with the address www.potbet lly.com. Potbelly's Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed with or furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), are publicly availabla e free of charge on the Investor Relations section
of our website at investors.potbet lly.com as soon as reasonabla y practicable afteff r these materials are filed with or furnished
to the SEC. In addition, the SEC maintains an internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements and
other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov. We also use our website as a tool
to disclose important information about the company and comply with our disclosure obligations under Regulation Fair
Disclosure. Our corporate governance policies, Ethics Code of Conduct and Board committee charters are also posted on
the Investor Relations section of Potbelly's website. The information on our website (or any webpages referenced in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K) is not part of this or any other report Potbelly files with, or furnishes to, the SEC.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the following factors, which could materially affeff ct our business, financial condition or
results of operations. You should read these Risk Factors in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Item 7 and our consolidated financial statements and the related notes to
those statements included in Item 8.

Risks Related to our Business and Industry

We face signi ificff ant competititt on for customtt ersrr and our inabiliii tyii to competett effeff ctivtt elyll maya affeff ct our traffiff c, sales and
shop-level profitff margins, which couldll adverserr ly affeff ct our busineii ss, finaii ncial conditiodd n and results of operations.

The restaurant industryrr is intensely competitive with many well-established companies that compete directly and
indirectly with us with respect to food safety and quality, ambience, service, price, value and location. We compete with
national, regional and locally owned limited-service restaurants, fast casual restaurants, and full-service restaurants. Some
of our competitors have significantly greater financial, marketing, personnel and other resources than we do, and many of
our competitors are well establa ished in markets in which we have existing shops or intend to locate new shops. In addition,
many of our competitors have greater name recognition nationally or in some of the local markets in which we have shops.
Any inability to successfulff ly compete with the restaurants in our markets will place downward pressure on our customer
traffiff c and may prevent us from increasing or sustaining our revenues and profitaff bia lity. Consumer tastes, nutritional and
dietaryrr trends, traffiff c patterns and the type, number and location of competing restaurants ofteff n affeff ct the restaurant
business, and our competitors may react more effiff ciently and effeff ctively to those conditions. Further, we face growing
competition from the supeu rmarket industry,rr with the improvement of their “convenient meals” in the deli section, and from
limited-service and fast casual restaurants, as a result of higher-quality food and beverage offeff rings by those restaurants.
Meal kit deliveryrr companies and other eat-at-home options also present some degree of competition for our shops. In
addition, some of our competitors have in the past implemented programs which provide price discounts on certain menu
offeff rings, and they may continue to do so in the future. If we are unabla e to continue to compete effeff ctively, our traffiff c,
sales and shop-level profitff margins could decline, and our business, financial condition and results of operations would be
adversely affeff cted.

Our digii taii l busineii ss, which has become an increasingii lygg signi ificff ant part of our busineii ss, is subject to riskii s.kk

If we do not continue to grow our digital business, it may be difficff ult for us to achieve our planned sales growth.
We rely on some third-party deliveryrr services to fulfilff l deliveryrr orders and their ordering and payment platforms, or our
mobile app or online ordering system, could be interrupr ted by technological failures, user errors, cyber-attacks or other
factff ors, which could adversely impact sales through these channels and negatively impact our reputation. Our delivery
partners are responsible for order fulfillmeff nt and errors or failures to make timely deliveries could cause guests to stop
ordering from us. Additionally, our deliveryrr partners own the customer data for Potbelly orders placed on their platform
and may use such customer data to encourage customers to order from other restaurants or deliveryrr platforms. The third-
party restaurant deliveryrr business is intensely competitive, with a number of players competing for market share, online
traffiff c capital, and deliveryrr drivers. If the third-party delivery services that we utilize cease or curtail operations, increase
their fees, or give greater priority or promotions on their platforms to our competitors, our deliveryrr business and our sales
may be negatively impacted.

We are subject to riskii skk associatedtt withii leasing propertytt subject to long-tgg ertt mrr non-cancelablll ell leases,s and the coststt of
exiting leases at shops we have closll ed or maya closll e in the future maya be greater than we estimate.ee

We do not own any real property and all of our company-operated shops are located on leased premises. Payments
under our company-operated shops' leases account for a significant portion of our operating expenses, and we expect that
new company-operated shops in the future will also be leased. The leases for our shop locations generally have initial terms
of ten years and typically provide for two renewal options in five-year increments as well as for rent escalations. Generally,
our leases are net leases that require us to pay our share of the costs of real estate taxes, utilities, building operating
expenses, insurance and other charges in addition to rent. We generally cannot cancel these leases. Additional sites that we
lease are likely to be subju ect to similar long-term non-cancelable leases. If we close a shop, we nonetheless may be
obligated to perform our monetary obligations under the applicable lease, including, among other things, payment of the
base rent for the balance of the lease term. In addition, as each of our leases expire, we may fail to negotiate renewals,
either on commercially acceptabla e terms or at all, which could cause us to close shops in desirabla e locations. For further
details on the significance of occupau ncy costs to our profitaff bia lity, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations-Results of Operations-Fiscal year 2023 (53 Weeks) Compared to Fiscal year 2022 (52
Weeks)-Revenues” in Item 7.
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We maya subleall se or assigni properties and face future liabiliii tyii if subtentt ants or assigni ees defae ultll or incur contintt gent
liabilitiii es.

For the underperforming shops we have closed, we have negotiated lease termination agreements on terms that are
acceptabla e to us for a majoa rity of them. However, in some cases we may seek to either assign leases and retain contingent
liabia lity for rent and other lease obligations or to retain the tenant’s obligations under the lease and sublu ease the shop
premises to a third party. But we may be unabla e to enter into such arrangements on acceptabla e terms, and even if we do,
such arrangements may result in our incurring liabilities and expenses in future periods. The rent payments that we receive
from subtu enants may be less than our rent obligations under the leases. Under these circumstances, we would be
responsible for any shortfalff l. These risks are heightened as we continue to increase our refranchising effoff rts which may
adversely affeff ct our financial condition or results of operations.

Our sales and profitff growth couldll be adverserr ly affeff ctedtt if comparablell stortt e sales are less than we expexx ct.tt

The level of comparable store sales, which represent the change in year-over-year sales for company-operated
shops open for 15 months or longer, will affeff ct our sales growth and will continue to be a critical factor affeff cting profitff
growth. Our ability to increase comparable store sales depends in part on our ability to successfulff ly implement our
initiatives to build sales. Such initiatives may not be successfulff , resulting in our inability to achieve our target comparable
store sales growth or that the change in comparable store sales could be negative, either of which may cause a decrease in
sales and profitff growth that would adversely affeff ct our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Food safea ty and food-borne illnll ess concerns maya have an adverserr effeff ct on our busineii ss by reducingii demand and
increasingii costs.tt

Food safety is a top priority, and we dedicate subsu tantial resources to help ensure that our customers enjon y safe,
quality food products. However, food-borne illnesses and food safety issues have occurred in the food industryrr in the past
and could occur in the future. Any report or publicity linking us to instances of food-borne illness or other food safety
issues, including food tampering or contamination, could adversely affeff ct our brand and reputation as well as our revenues
and profitsff . In addition, instances of food-borne illness, food tampering or food contamination occurring solely at
restaurants of our competitors could result in negative publicity about the food service industryrr generally and adversely
impact our sales.

Furthermore, our reliance on external food supplu iers and distributors increases the risk that food-borne illness
incidents could be caused by factors outside of our control and that multiple locations would be affeff cted rather than a single
shop. We cannot assure that all food items are properly maintained during transport throughout the supplu y chain and that
our employees will identify all products that may be spoiled or contaminated and should not be used in our shops. If our
customers become ill from food-borne illnesses, we could be forced to temporarily close some shops. Furthermore, any
instances of food contamination, whether or not at our shops, could subju ect us or our supplu iers to a food advisory, recall or
withdrawal pursuant to the Food Safety Modernization Act.

We have limiteii d contrott l withii respect to the operations of our franchisees which couldll have a negate ivtt e impact on our
busineii ss.

Our franchisees are obligated to operate their shops according to our specific guidelines. We provide training
opportunities to these franchisees to integrate them into our operating strategy. However, since we do not have control over
these shops, we cannot ensure that there will not be differences in product quality, operations, marketing or profitaff bla y or
that there will be adherence to all of our guidelines at these shops. The failure of these shops to operate effeff ctively could
adversely affeff ct our cash flows from those operations or have a negative impact on our reputation or our business.

In addition, franchisees may not have access to the financial or management resources that they need to open the
shops contemplated by their agreements with us or be able to find suitabla e sites on which to develop them, or they may
elect to cease development for other reasons. Franchisees may not be able to negotiate acceptabla e lease or purchase terms
for the sites, obtain the necessary permits and governmental approvals or meet construcr tion schedules. Any of these
problems could slow our growth from franchise operations and reduce our franchise revenues. Additionally, financing from
banks and other financial institutt ions may not always be availabla e to franchisees to construcr t and open new shops. The lack
of adequate financing could adversely affeff ct the number and rate of new shop openings by our franchisees and adversely
affeff ct our future franchise revenues.
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Risks Related to Macroeconomic and Industry Conditions

Local conditiodd ns,s adverserr weathett r conditiodd ns,s natural disaii stertt s,rr acts of violenll ce, terrorismii or civilii unrest, couldll
adverserr ly affeff ct our busineii ss.

Certain of the regions in which we operate have been, and may in the future be, subju ect to adverse local
conditions, events, terrorist attacks, adverse weather conditions, or natural disasters, such as earthquakes, floods, hurricanes
and wildfires. Any of the foregoing events may result in physical damage, temporaryrr or permanent closure, lack of an
adequate work force, or temporaryrr or long-term disruptr ion in the supplu y of food, beverages, electric, water, sewer and
waste disposal services necessary for our shops to operate. Depending upon its magnitude, any of the foregoing could
severely damage our shops and/or adversely affeff ct our business, results of operations or financial condition. We currently
maintain property insurance and business interruptu ion insurance covering all locations in which we are the primary lessee.
However, if there is a majoa r disaster, such coverage may not be adequate. In addition, upon the expiration of our current
insurance policies, adequate insurance coverage may not be availabla e at reasonabla e rates, or at all. We have disaster
recovery procedurd es and business continuity plans in place to address most events of a crisis nature (including hurricanes
and other natural disasters) including back up and off-sff ite locations for recovery of electronic and other forms of data and
information. However, if we are unabla e to fully implement our disaster recovery plans, we may experience delays in
recovery of data, inability to perforff m vital functions, tardiness in required reporting and compliance, failures to adequately
supporu t shop operations and other breakdowns in normal communication and operating procedurd es that may have a
material adverse effeff ct on our business, results of operations, financial condition and exposure to administrative and other
legal claims.

Increased commodityii ,yy energyr and othett r coststt couldll decrease our shop-level profitff margins or cause us to limit or
othett rwise modifyi our menus,s which couldll adverserr ly affeff ct our busineii ss.

Our profitff ability depends in part on our ability to anticipate and react to changes in the price and availabia lity of
food commodities, including among other things beef,ff poultry,rr grains, dairyrr and produce. Prices may be affeff cted due to
market changes, increased competition, the general risk of inflation, shortages or interruptu ions in supplu y due to weather,
disease or other conditions beyond our control, or acts of war, terrorism or other hostilities, including the war between
Russia and Ukraine and the conflicff t between Israel and Palestine. Other events could increase commodity prices or cause
shortages that could affeff ct the cost and quality of the items we buy or require us to further raise prices or limit our menu
options. These events, combined with other more general economic and demographic conditions, could impact our pricing
and negatively affeff ct our sales and shop-level profitff margins. We enter into certain forward pricing arrangements with our
supplu iers from time to time, which may result in fixed or formula-based pricing with respect to certain food products. See
“Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk-Commodity Price Risk” in Item 7A. However, these
arrangements generally are relatively short in duration and may provide only limited protection from price changes, and the
extent to which we use these arrangements varies subsu tantially from time to time. In addition, the use of these arrangements
may limit our ability to benefit from favorable price movements.

Our profitff ability is also adversely affeff cted by increases in the price of utilities, such as natural gas, whether as a
result of commodity inflation, shortages or interruprr tions in supplu y, or otherwise. Our profitff ability is also affeff cted by the
costs of insurance, labora , marketing, taxes and real estate, all of which could increase due to inflation, changes in laws,
competition or other events beyond our control. Our ability to respond to increased costs by increasing menu prices or by
implementing alternative processes or products will depend on our ability to anticipate and react to such increases and other
more general economic and demographic conditions, as well as the responses of our competitors and customers. All of
these things may be difficult to predict and beyond our control. In this manner, increased costs could adversely affeff ct our
performance.

Shortagett s or interruptu iott ns in the supplu yll or delivery of frff esh food productstt couldll adverserr ly affeff ct our operating results.tt

We are dependent on frequent deliveries of fresh food products that meet our specifications. Shortages or
interruptu ions in the supplu y of fresh food products caused by problems in production or distribution, inclement weather,
unanticipated demand or other conditions could adversely affeff ct the availabia lity, quality and cost of ingredients, which
would adversely affeff ct our operating results.

We have a limitii edtt number of suppu liers for our majoa r productstt and rely on a distii ritt bui tion networkrr withii a limited number
of distii ritt bui tion partnersrr for the majoa rityii of our national distii ritt bui tion programs in the U.S. If our supplu iell rs or distii ritt bui tors
are unablell to fulfilff lll theirii obligll atiott ns underdd theirii contratt cts,tt it couldll harm our operations.
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We have a limited number of supplu iers for our majoa r products, such as bread. In 2023, we purchased almost all of
our bread from one supplu ier, Campagna-Turano Bakery, Inc., and more than 80% of our meat products from 10 supplu iers.
In addition, we contract with a distribution network with a limited number of distribution partners located throughout the
nation to provide the majoa rity of our food distribution services in the U.S. Through our arrangement, our food supplu ies are
largely distributed through six primaryrr distributors. Although we believe that alternative supplu y and distribution sources
are availabla e, there can be no assurance that we will be able to identifyff or negotiate with such sources on terms that are
commercially reasonabla e to us. If our supplu iers or distributors are unabla e to fulfillff their obligations under their contracts or
we are unabla e to identify alternative sources, we could encounter supplu y shortages and incur higher costs. See “Business-
Sourcing and Supplu y Chain” in Item 1.

Our busineii ss operations and future developmll ent couldll be signi ificff antly disruii ptu edtt if we lose keye membersrr of our
managea ment team.

The success of our business continues to depend to a significant degree upon the continued contributions of our
senior offiff cers and key employees, both individually and as a group. Our future performance will be subsu tantially
dependent on our ability to retain and motivate key members of our senior leadership team. We currently have employment
agreements in place with all of the members of our senior leadership team. The loss of the services of any of these
executive offiff cers or other key employees could have a material adverse effeff ct on our business and plans for future
development. In addition, we may have difficulty finding appropriate replacements and our business could suffer. We also
do not maintain any key person lifeff insurance policies for any of our employees.

Inabilityii to attrtt act, trainii and retain top-o pe- rforff minrr g personnel couldll adverserr ly impact our finaii ncial results,s busineii ss and
abilityii to operate our shops.

We believe that our continued success will depend, in part, on our ability to attract, motivate and retain a sufficient
number of qualified managers and the services of skilled personnel. A sufficient number of qualifieff d individuals may be in
short supplu y in some communities. Competition in these communities for qualifieff d staffff and significant improvement in
regional or national economic conditions could increase the difficulty of attracting and retaining qualifieff d individuals and
could result in the need to pay higher wages and provide greater benefits. The loss of the services of,ff or our inability to
attract and retain, such personnel could have a material adverse effeff ct on our business, including reduced restaurant
operating hours and decreased product quality. We believe good managers and staffff are a key part of our success and
devote significant resources to recruirr ting and training our restaurant managers and staff.ff We aim to reduce turnover among
our restaurant staffff and managers in an effoff rt to retain top performing employees and better realize our investment in
training new employees. Any failure to do so may adversely impact our operating results by increasing training costs and
making it more difficult to deliver outstanding customer service, which could have a material adverse effeff ct on our
financial results. Additionally, any inability to recruirr t and retain qualifieff d individuals could delay the planned openings of
new shops and could adversely impact our existing shops. Any such inability to retain or recruir t qualifieff d employees,
increased costs of attracting qualifieff d employees or delays in shop openings could adversely affeff ct our business and results
of operations.

Unionizaii tion activitiii es,s emplm oyll ment-rtt elatll edtt claill msii or labor dispii utestt maya disruii ptu our operations and affeff ct our
profitaff bilityii .yy

Although none of our employees are currently covered under collective bargaining agreements, union organizers
have engaged in effoff rts to organize our employees and those of other restaurant companies and our employees may elect to
be represented by labora unions in the future. If a significant number of our employees were to become unionized and
collective bargaining agreement terms were significantly different from our current compensation arrangements, it could
adversely affeff ct our business, financial condition or results of operations. In addition, a labora dispute involving some or all
of our employees may harm our reputation, disruptrr our operations and reduce our revenues, and resolution of disputes may
increase our costs.

As an employer, we may be subju ect to various employment-related claims, such as individual or class actions or
government enforcement actions relating to alleged employment discrimination, employee classification and related
withholding, wage-hour, labora standards or healthcare and benefit issues. Such actions, if brought against us and successfulff
in whole or in part, may affeff ct our ability to compete or could adversely affeff ct our business, financial condition or results
of operations.

If we are unablell to staftt fff and retain qualifll ieff d restautt rant managea ment and operating personnel in an increasingii lygg
competititt ve market,tt we maya be unable to effeff ctivtt elyll operate and grow our busineii ss and revenues, which couldll
materiallyll adverserr ly affeff ct our finaii ncial perforff marr nce.
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Similar to the broader economy, we are experiencing labora shortfalff ls relative to our sales levels in certain parts of
our workforce. If we are unabla e to attract and retain qualifieff d people, our restaurants could be short staffeff d, we may be
forced to incur overtime expenses, and our ability to operate and expand our concepts effeff ctively and to meet our
customers' demand could be limited, any of which could materially adversely affeff ct our financial performance.

Risks Related to our Growth and Business Strategy

Idendd tifyiff ngii ,gg openingii and operating new shops entails numerous riskii skk and uncertainties.

Our shop model is designed to generate strong cash flow, attractive shop-level financial results and high returns on
investment. Our current strategy is to close underperforming shops and continue with our limited rate of company-operated
shop growth. We may not be able to open our planned new shops on a timely basis, if at all, given the uncertainty of
numerous factors, including the location of our current shops, demographics and traffiff c patterns. In the past, we have
experienced delays in opening some shops and that could happea n again. Delays or failures in opening new restaurants
could adversely affeff ct our business and results of operations.

The number and timing of new shops opened during any given period may be negatively impacted by a number of
factors including, without limitation:

• the identificff ation and availabia lity of attractive sites for new shops and the ability to negotiate suitabla e lease terms;
• anticipated commercial, residential and infrastrucr ture development near our new shops;
• the proximity of potential sites to an existing shop;
• the cost and availabia lity of capia tal to fund construcr tion costs and pre-opening expenses;
• our ability to control construcrr tion and development costs of new shops;
• recruirr tment and training of qualified operating personnel in the local market;
• our ability to obtain all required governmental permits, including zoning approvals, on a timely basis;
• competition in new markets, including competition for appropriate sites;
• unanticipated increases in costs, any of which could give rise to delays or cost overruns; and
• avoiding the impact of inclement weather, natural disasters and other calamities.

If we are unabla e to expand in existing markets or penetrate new markets, our ability to increase our revenues and
profitaff bia lity may be harmed.

Our expanxx sion into new marketstt maya present increased riskii s.kk

In the past, we have opened shops in markets where we have little or no operating experience. Shops we open in
new markets may take longer to reach expected sales and profitff levels on a consistent basis and may have higher
construcr tion, occupau ncy or operating costs than shops we open in existing markets, thereby affeff cting our overall
profitaff bia lity. New markets may have competitive conditions, consumer tastes and discretionary spending patterns that are
more difficult to predict or satisfy than our existing markets. We may need to make greater investments than we originally
planned in advertising and promotional activity in new markets to build brand awareness. We may find it more difficult in
new markets to hire, motivate and keep qualifieff d employees who share our values. We may also incur higher costs from
entering new markets if,ff for example, we assign area managers to manage comparatively fewer shops than we assign in
more developed markets. As a result, these new shops may be less successfulff or may achieve target shop-level profitff
margins at a slower rate. If we do not successfulff ly execute our plans to enter new markets, our business, financial condition
or results of operations could be adversely affeff cted.

New shops,s once opened, maya not be profitaff ble,ll and the results that we have expexx rienced in the past maya not be
indicative of fuff ture results.tt

Our results have been, and in the future may continue to be, significantly impacted by the timing of new shop
openings (often dictated by factors outside of our control), including associated shop pre-opening costs and operating
ineffiff ciencies, as well as changes in our geographic concentration due to the opening of new shops. We typically incur the
most significant portion of pre-opening expenses associated with a given shop within the five months immediately
preceding and the month of the opening of the shop. Our experience has been that labora and operating costs associated with
a newly opened shop for the first several months of operation are materially greater than what can be expected afteff r that
time, both in aggregate dollars and as a percentage of revenues. Our new shops commonly take 8 to 12 weeks to reach
planned operating levels due to ineffiff ciencies typically associated with new shops, including the training of new personnel,
lack of market awareness, inability to hire sufficient qualified staffff and other factors. We may incur additional costs in new
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markets, particularly for transportation, distribution and training of new personnel, which may impact the profitaff bia lity of
those shops. Accordingly, the volume and timing of new shop openings may have a meaningfulff impact on our profitff ability.

Although we target specifieff d operating and financial metrics, new shops may not meet these targets or may take
longer than anticipated to do so. Any new shops we open may not be profitaff bla e or achieve operating results similar to those
of our existing shops. If our new shops do not perform as planned, our business and future prospects could be harmed. In
addition, if we are unabla e to achieve our expected comparable store sales, our business, financial condition or results of
operations could be adversely affeff cted.

Opening new shops in existingii marketstt maya negate ivtt elyll affeff ct sales at our existing shops.

The consumer target area of our shops varies by location, depending on a number of factors, including population
density, other local retail and business attractions, area demographics and geography. As a result, the opening of a new
shop in or near markets in which we already have shops could adversely affeff ct the sales of those existing shops. Existing
shops could also make it more difficult to build our consumer base for a new shop in the same market. Our business
strategy does not entail opening new shops that we believe will materially affeff ct sales at our existing shops, but we may
selectively open new shops in and around areas of existing shops that are operating at or near capacity to effeff ctively serve
our customers. Sales cannibalization between our shops may become significant in the future as we continue to expand our
operations and could affeff ct our sales growth, which could, in turn, adversely affeff ct our business, financial condition or
results of operations.

Our failure to managea our growth effeff ctivtt elyll couldll harm our busineii ss and operating results.

Our growth plan includes a combination of new shops and increasing same store sales. Our existing management
systems, financial and management controls and information systems may not be adequate to supporu t our planned
expansion. Our ability to manage our growth effeff ctively will require us to continue to enhance these systems, procedurd es
and controls and to locate, hire, train and retain management and operating personnel. We may not be able to respond on a
timely basis to all of the changing demands that our planned expansion will impose on management and on our existing
infrastructurt e or be able to hire or retain the necessary management and operating personnel, which could harm our
business, financial condition or results of operations.

Our inabilityii to successfulff lyll implement our busineii ss stratt tegye ,yy includindd g expanxx sion of our franchising effoff rts,tt couldll
negate ivtt elyll impact our busineii ss and future profitff abitt litii ytt and growth.

We strive to grow profitff ability and create value for our stockholders through a strategy of continued excellence in
shop-level execution, building company-operated shops in both new and existing markets, increasing brand awareness and
expansion of our franchising effoff rts. There are, however, risks associated with identifyiff ng, opening and operating new
shops, increased costs in brand marketing, re-franchising our company-operated shops, and signing new franchisees, and if
we do not successfulff ly implement our business strategy, it could negatively impact our business and our future profitff ability
and growth.

Our initiatives to increase sales and traffiff c, including menu optimization, off-pff remise sales options and increased
marketing and brand awareness programs may not positively affeff ct sales or improve our results of operations.

We cannot assure that we will be able to successfulff ly implement our initiatives, including the expansion of our
franchising effoff rts. Further, our ability to achieve the anticipated benefits of these initiatives within expected timeframes is
subju ect to many estimates and assumptions, which are, in turn, subju ect to significant economic, competitive and other
uncertainties, some of which are beyond our control. There is no assurance that we will successfulff ly implement, or fully
realize the anticipated positive impact of,ff our initiatives, or execute successfulff ly on strategy, in the expected timeframes or
at all. In addition, there can be no assurance that our effoff rts, if properly executed, will result in our desired outcome of
improved financial performance.

The success of our franchisees is important to our future growth.

We have a significant percentage of system-wide shops owned and operated by our franchisees. While our
franchise agreements are designed to require our franchisees to maintain brand consistency, the franchise relationship
reduces our direct day-to-day oversight of these restaurants and may expose us to risks not otherwise encountered if we
maintained ownership and control. Our reputation and financial results may be negatively impacted by: franchisee defaults
in their obligations to us; limitations on our ability to enforce franchise obligations due to bankruptr cy proceedings or
differences in legal remedies in varying jurisdictions; franchisee failures to participate in business strategy changes due to
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financial constraints; franchisee failures to meet obligations to pay employees; and franchisees’ failure to comply with food
quality and preparation requirements.

Our inabilityii to successfulff lyll and suffu icff ientlytt raise menu prices couldll result in a declinll e in profitaff bilityii .yy

We utilize menu price increases to help offsff et cost increases, including increased cost for commodities, minimum
wages, employee benefits, insurance arrangements, construcr tion, utilities and other key operating costs. If our selection and
amount of menu price increases are not accepted by consumers and reduce guest traffiff c, or are insufficient to counter
increased costs, our financial results could be negatively affeff cted.

New infon rmatiott n or attittt udesdd regare dingii diet and healthll couldll result in changes in regue lations and consumer eatingii
habitsii that couldll adverserr ly affeff ct our revenues.

Regulations and consumer eating habia ts may change because of new information or attitudes regarding diet, health
and safety. These changes may include regulations and recommendations from medical and diet profesff sionals pertaining to
the ingredients and nutritional content of our menu items at our restaurants. For example, a number of states, counties and
cities are enacting menu-labea ling laws requiring multi-unit restaurant operators to make certain nutritional information
availabla e to guests or restrict the sales of certain types of ingredients in restaurants. The success of our restaurant operations
is dependent, in part, upon our ability to respond effeff ctively to changes in consumer health and disclosure regulations and
to adapt our menu offeff rings to trends in eating habia ts. If consumer health regulations or consumer eating habia ts change
significantly, we may be required to modify or remove certain menu items. To the extent we are unabla e to respond with
appropriate changes to our menu offeff rings, it could materially affeff ct customer demand and have an adverse impact on our
revenues.

Evolvill ngii consumer preferff ences and tastestt maya adverserr ly affeff ct our busineii ss.

Our continued success depends on our ability to attract and retain customers. Our financial results could be
adversely affeff cted by: a shiftff in consumer spending away from outside-the-home food (such as the disruptrr ion caused by
online commerce that results in reduced foot traffiff c to “brick & mortar” retail stores); lack of customer acceptance of new
products (including due to price increases necessary to cover the costs of new products or higher input costs), brands and
platforms (such as featurt es of our mobile technology, changes in our loyalty rewards programs and our delivery or catering
services initiatives); or customers reducing their demand for our current offeff rings as new products are introduced. In
addition, some of our products contain nuts, dairyrr products, sugar and other compounds and allergens, the health effeff cts of
which are the subju ect of public and regulatoryrr scrutiny, including the suggestion of linkages to a variety of adverse health
effeff cts. There is increasing consumer awareness of health risks, including obesity, as well as increased consumer litigation
based on alleged adverse health impacts of consumption of various food and beverage products. While we have a variety of
items, including items that have reduced calories, an unfavff orable report on the health effeff cts of compounds present in our
products, whether accurate or not, imposition of additional taxes on certain types of food and beverage components, or
negative publicity or litigation arising from certain health risks could significantly reduce the demand for our products and
could materially harm our business and results of operations.

Our abilityii to raise capia taii l in the future maya be limiii teii d, which couldll make us unablell to fund our capia taii l requirements.

Our business and operations may consume resources faster than we anticipate. In the future, we may need to raise
additional funds through the issuance of new equity securities, debt or a combination of both. Additional financing may not
be availabla e on favorable terms or at all. If adequate funds are not availabla e on acceptabla e terms, we may be unabla e to fund
our capital requirements. If we issue new debt securities, the debt holders would have rights senior to common
stockholders to make claims on our assets, and the terms of any debt could restrict our operations, including our ability to
pay dividends on our common stock. If we issue additional equity securities, existing stockholders may experience dilution,
and the new equity securities could have rights senior to those of our common stock. Because our decision to issue
securities in any future offeff ring will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict
or estimate the amount, timing or nature of our future offeff rings. Thus, our stockholders bear the risk of our future securities
offeff rings reducing the market price of our common stock and diluting their interest.
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Risks Related to Information Technology Systems, Cybersecurity and Data Privacy

If we are unablell to protecttt the personal infon rmatiott n that we gathett r or fail to comply withii privacyc and datatt protectt tion
laws and regue lations, we couldll be subject to civilii and criminal penalties, suffeu r repuee tational harm and incur substantiatt l
costs.tt

In the ordinary course of our business, we collect, process, transmit, and retain personal information regarding our
employees, our franchisees and their employees, vendors, contractors, and consumers, which can include social security
numbers, social insurance numbers, banking and tax identificff ation information, health care information, and credit card
information, and our franchisees collect similar information. In recent years we expanded our development and
management of our mobile app and online ordering platform. While our deployment of such technology facilitates our
primary goals of generating incremental sales and improving operations at our franchisees’ restaurants as well as additional
customer awareness and interest in our shops, such deployment also means that we are collecting and entrusr ted with
additional personal information, including geo-location tracking information, about our customers.

In connection with the collection and retention of this information, we are subju ect to legal and compliance risks
and associated liability related to privacy and data protection requirements. Due to enhanced scrutiny from the general
public, data privacy regulations as well as their interpretations and criteria for enforcement, continue to be subju ect to
frequent change, and there are likely to be other jurisdictions that propose or enact new or emerging data privacy
requirements in the future. The complexity of these privacy and data protection laws may result in significant costs arising
from compliance and from any non-compliance, whether or not due to our negligence, and could affeff ct our brand
reputation and our results of operations.

In addition, to the extent that we are not in compliance with any data security laws or experience a majoa r breach,
theft,ff or loss of personal information that is held by us, or third parties on our behalf (whether or not due to our failure to
comply with data security rules and standards), we could be subju ect to subsu tantial fines, penalties, indemnificff ation claims,
and potential litigation against us which could negatively impact our results of operations and financial condition. As a
result of any breach, we may incur additional capital expenditures arising from additional security technologies, personnel,
experts, and credit monitoring services for those whose data has been breached. These costs, which could be material,
could adversely impact our results of operations during the period in which they are incurred. Furthermore, negative
publicity regarding a breach or potential security vulnerabia lities in our systems or those of our franchisees or vendors (even
if no breach has been attempted or has occurred), could adversely affeff ct the reputation of our brand and acceptance of our
digital engagement with our customers which in turn could adversely affeff ct our future results of operations.

Infon rmatiott n technologyo systemtt failures or breaches of our networkrr securityii couldll interruptu our operations and
adverserr ly affeff ct our busineii ss.

We rely on our computer systems and network infrastrucr ture across our operations, including point-of-sale
processing at our shops. In addition, we are increasingly relying on cloud computing and other technologies that result in
third parties holding customer information on our behalf.ff Our operations depend upon our and our third-party vendors’
ability to protect our computer equipment and systems against damage from physical theft,ff fire, power loss,
telecommunications failure or other catastrophic events, as well as from internal and external security breaches, viruses and
other disruptrr ive problems. Any damage or failure of our computer systems or network infrastructurt e that causes an
interruptu ion in our operations could have a material adverse effeff ct on our business and subju ect us to litigation or actions by
regulatoryrr authorities. In addition, an increasing number of transactions are processed through our mobile application.
Disruptr ions, failures or other performance issues with such customer facing technology systems could impair the benefits
such systems provide to our business and negatively impact our relationship with our customers.

Securityii breaches of confidff endd tial customtt er infon rmatiott n in connectiott n withii our electll rott nic processingii of creditdd and debitii
card transactiott ns maya adverserr ly affeff ct our busineii ss.

Anyy iintentiionall atta kck or an iuninten itionall event hthat resullts iin unauthhoriiz ded access to ysystems to didisruptrr
opera itions, corruptu ddata or st leal or expose confididff en itiall iinformatiion or iintellllectuat ll propertyy hthat compro imises hthe
iinformatiion of our customers or em lpl yoyees co luldd resullt iin iwiddespre dad negga itive blpubliicityity, ddamagge to our reputatiion, a lloss
of customers, didisruptr iion of our bbusiiness andd lleggall lili babiliili ities. As our reliliance on te hch lnol gyogy hhas ggrown, hthe scope andd
seve iri yty of iri ksks pos ded to our ysystems from ycybber hthreats hhas iincreas ded. hThe te hch iniques andd so hiphistiicatiion us ded to co dnduct
ycybber-atta kcks andd bbrea hches of iinformatiion te hch lnol gyogy ysystems, as wellll as hthe sources andd ta grgets of hthese atta kcks, hchangge
frequentlyly andd are ofteff n not recognigni dzed untilil atta kcks are llaunchhedd or hhave bbeen iin lplace for a pe iri dod of itime. We
contiinuouslyly mo initor andd ddevellop our iinformatiion te hch lnol gyogy networkks andd iinfrastructurt e to prevent, ddetect, dadddress andd
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i imitiggate hthe iri ksk fof unauthhoriiz ded access, imisuse, mallware andd othher events hthat co luldd hhave a secu iri yty iimpact; hhowever,
hthere can bbe no assurance hthat hthese or anyy measures iwillll bbe effeff ctiive.

dAddidi itionallllyy, hthe majoa rity of our sales are by credit or debit cards. Other restaurants and retailers have
experienced security breaches in which credit and debit card information of their customers has been stolen. We may in the
future become subju ect to lawsuits or other proceedings for purporrr tedly fraudulent transactions arising out of the actual or
alleged theftff of our customers’ confidff ential or personal information and credit or debit card information. Most states have
also enacted legislation requiring notificff ation of security breaches involving personal information, including credit and
debit card information. In connection with credit card sales, we transmit confidff ential credit card information by way of
secure private retail networks. Although we use private networks, third parties may have the technology or know-how to
breach the security of the customer information transmitted in connection with credit card sales, and our security measures
and those of our technology vendors may not effeff ctively prohibit others from obtaining improper access to this
information. If a person is able to circumvent these security measures, he or she could destroy or steal valuable information
or disruptr our operations. Any security breach could expose us to risks of data loss, litigation, and liabia lity, and could
seriously disruptr our operations and any resulting negative publicity could significantly harm our reputation.

Additionally, the Califorff nia Privacy Act of 2018, which became effeff ctive on January 1, 2020, provides a new
private right of action for data breaches and requires companies that process information on Califorff nia residents to make
new disclosures to consumers about their data collection, use and sharing practices and allow consumers to opt out of
certain data sharing with third parties. Any such claim or proceeding, or any adverse publicity resulting from these
allegations, may have a material adverse effeff ct on our business.

We maintain disclosure controls and procedurd es to ensure we will timely and sufficiently notifyff our investors of
material cybersecurity risks and incidents, including the associated financial, legal or reputational consequences of such an
event. In addition, we maintain policies and procedurd es to prevent directors, senior offiff cers and other corporate insiders
frff om trading stock afteff r being made aware of a material cybersecurity incident and to control the distribution of
information about cybersecurity events that could constitutt e material nonpublic information about Potbelly; however, we
cannot be certain that a corporr ate insider who becomes aware of a material cybersecurity incident does not undertake to
buy or sell Potbelly stock before information about the incident becomes publicly availabla e.

Our inabilityii or failure to executett on a comprehensive busineii ss contintt uityii planll at our restautt rant supporu t centers
followingii a disaii stertt or force majea ure event couldll have a material adverserr impact on our busineii ss.

Many of our corporate systems and processes and corporate supporu t for our restaurant operations are centralized at
one location. We have disaster recovery procedurd es and business continuity plans in place to address crisis-level events,
including hurricanes and other natural disasters, and back up and off-sff ite locations for recovery of electronic and other
forff ms of data and information, and events like the COVID-19 pandemic have provided a limited test of our ability to
manage our business remotely. However, if we are unabla e to fully implement our disaster recovery plans, we may
experience delays in recovery of data, inability to perform vital corporate functions, tardiness in required reporting and
compliance, failures to adequately supporu t field operations and other breakdowns in normal communication and operating
procedurd es that could have a material adverse effeff ct on our financial condition, results of operation and exposure to
administrative and other legal claims. In addition, these threats are constantly evolving, which increases the difficulty of
accurately and timely predicting, planning for and protecting against the threat. As a result, our disaster recovery
procedurd es and business continuity plans may not adequately address all threats we face or protect us from loss.

Risks Related to Legislation and Regulations

Legie slii atll iott n and regue lations requiring the dispii laya and provision of nutritt tioii nal infon rmatiott n for our menu offeff ringii s,gg and
new infon rmatiott n or attitt tuii des regare dingii diet and healthll or adverserr opiniii ons about the healthll effeff ctstt of consuming our
menu offeff ringii s,gg couldll affeff ct consumer preferff ences and negate ivtt elyll impact our results of operations.

Government regulation and changes in consumer eating habia ts resulting from shiftinff g attitudes regarding diet and
health or new information regarding changes in the health effeff cts of consuming our menu offeff rings may impact our
business. These changes have resulted in, and may continue to result in, the enactment of laws and regulations that impact
the ingredients and nutritional content of our menu offeff rings, or laws and regulations requiring us to disclose the nutritional
content of our food offeff rings.

For example, PPACA establa ishes a uniform, federal requirement for certain restaurants to post certain nutritional
information on their menus. Specifically, the PPACA amended the Federal Food, Drugrr and Cosmetic Act to require chain
restaurants with 20 or more locations operating under the same name and offeff ring subsu tantially the same menus to publish
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the total number of calories of standard menu items on menus and menu boards, along with a statement that puts this
calorie information in the context of a total daily calorie intake. The PPACA also requires covered restaurants to provide to
consumers, upon request, a written summary of detailed nutritional information for each standard menu item, and to
provide a statement on menus and menu boards about the availabia lity of this information. In addition, a number of states,
counties, and cities have enacted menu labea ling laws imposing requirements for additional menu disclosure, such as
sodium content. An unfavff orable report on, or reaction to, our menu ingredients, the size of our portions or the nutritional
content of our menu items could negatively influence the demand for our offeff rings.

Compliance with current and future laws and regulations regarding the ingredients and nutritional content of our
menu items may be costly and time-consuming. Additionally, if consumer health regulations or consumer eating habia ts
change significantly, we may be required to modify or discontinue certain menu items, and we may experience higher costs
associated with the implementation of those changes. Additionally, some government authorities are increasing regulations
regarding trans-fats and sodium, which may require us to limit or eliminate trans-fats and sodium from our menu offeff rings
or switch to higher cost ingredients or may hinder our ability to operate in certain markets. If we fail to comply with these
laws or regulations, our business could experience a material adverse effeff ct.

We cannot make any assurances regarding our ability to effeff ctively respond to changes in consumer health
perceptions or our ability to successfulff ly implement the nutrient content disclosure requirements and to adapt our menu
offeff rings to trends in eating habia ts. The imposition of menu-labea ling laws could have an adverse effeff ct on our results of
operations and financial position, as well as the restaurant industryrr in general.

We are subject to many federal, stattt ett and local laws withii which compliance is bothtt costlytt and complex.ee

The restaurant industryrr is subju ect to extensive federal, state and local laws and regulations, including those
relating to building and zoning requirements and those relating to the preparation and sale of food. The development and
operation of restaurants depend, to a significant extent, on the selection and acquisition of suitabla e sites, which are subju ect
to zoning, land use, environmental, traffiff c and other regulations and requirements. We are also subju ect to licensing and
regulation by state and local authorities relating to health, sanitation, safety and fire standards.

We are subju ect to federal and state laws governing our relationships with employees (including the Fair Labora
Standards Act of 1938, the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, and applicable requirements concerning the
minimum wage, overtime, family leave, working conditions, safety standards, immigration statust , scheduling notificff ation
requirements, unemployment tax rates, workers’ compensation rates and state and local payroll taxes) and federal and state
laws which prohibit discrimination. As significant numbers of our associates are paid at rates related to the applicable
minimum wage, further increases in the minimum wage or other changes in these laws could increase our labora costs. For
example, the state of Illinois approved a minimum wage increase that became effeff ctive on January 1, 2022 which increased
the minimum wage to $12.00 per hour. As other jurisdictions implement minimum wage increases, we expect our business
labora costs will continue to increase. Our ability to respond to minimum wage increases by increasing menu prices will
depend on the responses of our competitors and customers. Our distributors and supplu iers could also be affeff cted by higher
minimum wages, financial condition benefit standards and compliance costs, which could result in higher costs for goods
and results services supplu ied to us. Additionally, our ability to optimize our labora to meet our profitaff bia lity goals is heavily
dependent on precise workforce planning, which is impacted by laws related to wage and hour violations or predictive
scheduling ("fair workweek") in many of the markets that we operate and could be further impacted as more jurisdictions
adopt such regulations.

We are subju ect to the ADA, which, among other things, requires our shops to meet federally mandated
requirements for the disabla ed. The ADA prohibits discrimination in employment and public accommodations on the basis
of disabia lity. Under the ADA, we could be required to expend funds to modify our shops to provide service to, or make
reasonabla e accommodations for the employment of,ff disabla ed persons. In addition, our employment practices are subju ect to
the requirements of the Immigration and Naturalization Service relating to citizenship and residency. Government
regulations could also affeff ct and change the items we procure for resale such as commodities.

Our franchising activities are subju ect to federal rules and regulations administered by the U.S. Federal Trade
Commission and laws enacted by a number of states. In particular, we are subju ect to federal and state laws regulating the
offeff r and sale of franchises, as well as judicial and administrative interpretations of such laws. Such laws impose
registration and disclosure requirements on franchisors in the offeff r and sale of franchises and may also apply subsu tantive
standards to the relationship between franchisor and franchisee, including limitations on the ability of franchisors to
terminate franchises and alter franchise arrangements. Failure to comply with new or existing franchise laws, rules, and
regulations in any jurisdiction or to obtain required government approvals could negatively affeff ct our ability to grow or
expand our franchise business and sell franchises.
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The impact of current laws and regulations, the effeff ct of future changes in laws or regulations that impose
additional requirements and the consequences of litigation relating to current or future laws and regulations, or our inability
to respond effeff ctively to significant regulatoryrr or public policy issues, could increase our compliance costs and other costs
of doing business and, thereforff e, have an adverse effeff ct on our results of operations. Failure to comply with the laws and
regulatoryrr requirements of federal, state and local authorities could result in, among other things, revocation of required
licenses, administrative enforcement actions, fines and civil and criminal liabia lity. In addition, certain laws, including the
ADA, could require us to expend significant funds to make modifications to our shops if we failed to comply with
applicable standards. Compliance with all of these laws and regulations can be costly and can increase our exposure to
litigation or governmental investigations or proceedings.

Failure to obtaitt nii and maintain required licenses and permitstt or to comply withii food contrott l regue lations couldll lead to
the loss of our food service licenses and, thereby,b harm our busineii ss.

Restaurants are required under various federal, state and local government regulations to obtain and maintain
licenses, permits and approvals to operate their businesses, and such regulations are subju ect to change from time to time.
The failure to obtain and maintain these licenses, permits and approvals could adversely affeff ct our operating results.
Typically, licenses must be renewed annually and may be revoked, suspended or denied renewal for cause at any time if
governmental authorities determine that our conduct violates applicable regulations. Difficulties or failure to maintain or
obtain the required licenses and approvals could adversely affeff ct our existing shops and delay or result in our decision to
cancel the opening of new shops, which would adversely affeff ct our business.

Restautt rant companies have been the target of clasll s action lawsuitsii and othett r proceedindd gs allell gie ngii ,gg among othett r things,s
violatll iott ns of feff deral and stattt ett workplkk acll e and emplm oyll ment laws. Proceedindd gs of this nature are costlytt ,yy divert
managea ment attett ntiott n and, if successfulff ,ll couldll result in our payment of substantiatt l damages or settlement costs.tt

Our business is subju ect to the risk of litigation by employees, consumers, supplu iers, stockholders or others through
private actions, class actions, administrative proceedings, regulatoryrr actions or other litigation. The outcome of litigation,
particularly class action and regulatoryrr actions, is difficult to assess or quantify.ff In recent years, restaurant companies have
been subju ect to lawsuits, including class action lawsuits, alleging violations of federal and state laws regarding workplkk ace
and employment matters, discrimination and similar matters. A number of these lawsuits have resulted in the payment of
subsu tantial damages by the defendants.

Occasionally, our customers file complaints or lawsuits against us alleging that we are responsible for some illness
or injun ry they suffered at or afteff r a visit to one of our shops, including actions seeking damages resulting from food-borne
illness or accidents in our shops. We are also subju ect to a variety of other claims from third parties arising in the ordinary
course of our business, including contract claims. The restaurant industryrr has also been subju ect to a growing number of
claims that the menus and actions of restaurant chains have led to the obesity of certain of their customers. We may also be
subju ect to lawsuits from our employees, the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or others alleging violations
of federal and state laws regarding workplk ace and employment matters, discrimination and similar matters.

Regardless of whether any claims against us are valid or whether we are liabla e, claims may be expensive to defend
and may divert time and money away from our operations. In addition, they may generate negative publicity, which could
reduce customer traffiff c and sales. Although we maintain what we believe to be adequate levels of insurance, insurance may
not be availabla e at all or in sufficient amounts to cover any liabilities with respect to these or other matters. A judgment or
other liabia lity in excess of our insurance coverage for any claims or any adverse publicity resulting from claims could
adversely affeff ct our business and results of operations.

We maya not be ablell to adequateltt yll protecttt our intellecll tual property,tt which, in turn, couldll harm the value of our brands
and adverserr ly affeff ct our busineii ss.

Our ability to implement our business plan successfulff ly depends in part on our ability to further build brand
recognition using our trademarks, service marks and other proprietary intellectuat l property, including our name and logos
and the unique ambiance of our shops. We have registered or applied to register a number of our trademarks. We cannot
assure you that our trademark applications will be approved. Third parties may also oppose our trademark applications, or
otherwise challenge our use of the trademarks. In the event that our trademarks are successfulff ly challenged, we could be
forced to rebrand our goods and services, which could result in loss of brand recognition, and could require us to devote
resources to advertising and marketing new brands. If our effoff rts to register, maintain and protect our intellectuat l property
are inadequate, or if any third party misappropriates, dilutes or infringes on our intellectuat l property, the value of our
brands may be harmed, which could have a material adverse effeff ct on our business and might prevent our brands from
achieving or maintaining market acceptance. We may also face the risk of claims that we have infringed third parties’
intellectuat l property rights. If third parties claim that we infringe upon their intellectuat l property rights, our operating
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profitsff could be adversely affeff cted. Any claims of intellectual property infringement, even those without merit, could be
expensive and time consuming to defend, require us to rebrand our services, if feasible, divert management’s attention and
resources or require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements in order to obtain the right to use a third party’s
intellectuat l property.

Changes in accountintt g stantt dardsdd or the recogno itiott n of impaim rmii ent or othett r charger s maya adverserr ly affeff ct our future
results of operations.

New accounting standards or changes in financial reporting requirements, accounting principles or practices,
including with respect to our critical accounting estimates, could adversely affeff ct our future results. We may also be
affeff cted by the nature and timing of decisions about underperforming markets or assets, including decisions that result in
impairment or other charges that reduce our earnings. In assessing the recoverabia lity of our long-lived assets, we consider
changes in economic conditions and make assumptions regarding estimated future cash flows and other factors. These
estimates are highly subju ective and can be significantly impacted by many factors such as global and local business and
economic conditions, operating costs, inflation, competition, and consumer and demographic trends. If our estimates or
underlying assumptions change in the future, we may be required to record impairment charges. If we experience any such
changes, they could have a significant adverse effeff ct on our reported results for the affeff cted periods.

Risks Related to our Indebtedness

Limitaii tions in our Revolving Facilityii maya limit our abilitii ytt to invest in the ongoingii needsdd of our busineii ss and if we are
unablell to comply withii our finaii ncial covenants,s our liquidityii and results of operations couldll be harmed.dd

On Februarr ry 7, 2024, we entered into a credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with Wintrust Bank, N.A., as
administrative agent (the “Agent”). The Revolving Facility Credit Agreement provides for a revolving loan facility with an
aggregate commitment of $30 million (the “Revolving Facility”). The Revolving Facility places certain conditions on us,
including that it may:

• limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business or the industries in which we operate;
• make us more vulnerabla e to increases in interest rates, as borrowings under the Revolving Facility are at variable

rates; and
• limit our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital or other purposr es.

The Revolving Facility places certain limitations on our ability to incur additional indebtedness and, among other
things, our ability to enter into certain types of transactions, financing arrangements and investments, to make certain
changes to our capia tal structurt e and to guarantee certain indebtedness. The Revolving Facility also places certain
restrictions on the payment of dividends and distributions. These restrictions limit or prohibit, among other things, our
ability to:

• make certain restricted payments including, pay dividends on, redeem or repurchase our stock;
• incur additional indebtedness;
• create or incur liens;
• make certain dispositions, acquisitions or investments;
• merge or consolidate with or into other companies or undergo certain other fundamental changes;
• enter into swap transactions;
• enter into certain sale and leaseback transactions; and
• enter into certain transactions with our affiff liates.

Failure to comply with certain covenants or the occurrence of a change of control under Revolving Facility could
result in the acceleration of our obligations under the Credit Agreement, which could harm our business, liquidity, capia tal
resources and results of operations.

The Revolving Facility requires that we and our subsu idiaries maintain compliance with certain minimum fixed
charge coverage ratios and maximum consolidated leverage ratios as set forth in the agreement. Changes in our financial
performance with respect to certain financial ratios may increase our interest rates and failure to comply with these

25



covenants could result in a default and an acceleration of our obligations under the Revolving Facility, which would harm
our business, liquidity, capital resources and results of operations.

We maya be unablell to obtaitt nii additiii onal debt or othett r finaii ncing on favorablell terms or at all.ll

There are inherent risks in our ability to borrow. Our lenders may be unabla e to lend to us or tighten their lending
standards, which could make it more difficult for us to refinance our existing indebtedness or to obtain other financing on
favorable terms or at all. Longer term disruptrr ions in the capital and credit markets as a result of uncertainty, changing or
increased regulation, reduced alternatives, failures of significant financial institutions or other events could adversely affeff ct
our access to liquidity needed for our business. Any disruptr ion could require us to take measures to conserve cash until the
markets stabilize or until alternative credit arrangements or other funding for our business can be arranged, which could
harm our business, liquidity, capital resources and results of operations. Such measures could include deferring capia tal
expenditures (including the opening of new restaurants) and reducing or eliminating other discretionary uses of cash.

General Risk Factors

Economic conditdd iott ns in the United Stattt estt couldll materiallyll affeff ct our busineii ss, finaii ncial conditiodd n and resultstt of
operations.

The restaurant industryrr depends on consumer discretionary spending. During periods of economic downturt n,
continuing disruptr ions in the overall economy, including the impacts of high unemployment and financial market volatility
and unpredictabia lity, may cause a related reduction in consumer confidff ence, which could negatively affeff ct customer traffiff c
and sales throughout our industry.rr These factors, as well as national, regional and local regulatoryrr and economic
conditions, gasoline prices and disposable consumer income affeff ct discretionary consumer spending. If economic
conditions worsen and our customers choose to dine out less frequently or reduce the amount they spend on meals while
dining out, customer traffiff c could be adversely impacted. If negative economic conditions persist for a long period of time
or become pervasive, consumer changes to their discretionary spending behavior, including the frequency with which they
dine out, could be more permanent. The U.S. economy is likely to be affeff cted by many national and international factors
that are beyond our control. If sales decrease, our profitff ability could decline as we spread fixed costs across a lower level of
sales. Prolonged negative trends in shop sales could cause us to, among other things, reduce the number and frequency of
new shop openings, close shops or delay remodeling of our existing shops or take asset impairment charges.

Because many of our shops are concentratedtt in local or regie onal areas, we are susceptible to economic and othett r trends
and developmll ents,s includindd g adverserr weathett r conditdd iott ns,s in these areas.

Our financial performance is highly dependent on shops located in Illinois, Texas, Michigan, Washington, D.C.
and Virginia, which comprised approximately 65% of our total domestic company-operated shops as of December 31,
2023. Shops located in the Chicago metropolitan area comprised approximately 27% of our total domestic shops as of such
date. As a result, adverse economic conditions in any of these areas could have a material adverse effeff ct on our overall
results of operations. In addition, given our geographic concentrations, negative publicity regarding any of our shops in
these areas could have a material adverse effeff ct on our business and operations, as could other regional occurrences such as
local strikes, terrorist attacks, increases in energy prices, or natural or man-made disasters.

In particular, adverse weather conditions, such as regional winter storms, floods, severe thunderstorms and
hurricanes, could negatively impact our results of operations. Temporaryrr or prolonged shop closures may occur, and
customer traffiff c may decline due to the actuat l or perceived effeff cts of future weather-related events.

Damagea to our repuee tation or lack of acceptance of our brand in existing or new marketstt couldll negate ivtt elyll impact our
busineii ss, finaii ncial conditidd on and resultstt of operations.

We believe we have built our reputation on the high quality of our food, service and staff,ff as well as on our unique
culture and the ambience in our shops, and we must protect and grow the value of our brand to continue to be successfulff in
the future. Any incident that erodes consumer affiff nity for our brand could significantly reduce its value and damage our
business. For example, our brand value could sufferff , and our business could be adversely affeff cted if customers perceive a
reduction in the quality of our food, service or staff,ff or an adverse change in our culture or ambience, or otherwise believe
we have failed to deliver a consistently positive experience.

We may be adversely affeff cted by news reports, social media, or other negative publicity (regardless of their
accuracy), regarding food quality issues, public health concerns, illness, safety, injun ry or government or industryrr findings
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concerning our shops, restaurants operated by other foodservice providers, or others across the food industryrr supplu y chain.
The risks associated with such negative publicity cannot be completely eliminated or mitigated and may materially harm
our results of operations and result in damage to our brand.

Our inabilityii or failure to recogno ize, respond to and effeff ctivtt elyll managea the immediacyc of social media couldll have a
material adverserr impacm t on our busineii ss.

There has been a marked increase in the use of social media platforms, including blogs, social media websites and
other forms of Internet-based communications which allows individual access to a broad audience of consumers and other
interested persons. The availabia lity of information on social media platforms is virtuat lly immediate as is its impact. Many
social media platforms immediately publish the content their subsu cribers and participants can post, ofteff n without filters or
checks on accuracy of the content posted. The opportunity for dissemination of information, including inaccurate
information, is seemingly limitless and readily availabla e. Information concerning our company may be posted on such
platforms at any time. Information posted may be adverse to our interests or may be inaccurate, each of which may harm
our performance, prospects or business. The harm may be immediate without affoff rding us an opportunity for redress or
correction. Such platforms also could be used for dissemination of trade secret information, compromising valuable
company assets. In sum, the dissemination of information online could harm our business, prospects, financial condition
and results of operations, regardless of the information’s accuracy.

Additionally, use of social media is an important element of our marketing effoff rts. New social media and internet-
based communication platforms are developing rapia dly, and we need to continuously innovate and evolve our marketing
strategies to maintain our brand relevance and broad appeal to guests. We also continue to invest in other digital marketing
initiatives to reach our guests and build their awareness of,ff engagement with, and loyalty to us, including our “Potbet lly
Perks” reward program. These initiatives may not be successfulff , resulting in expenses incurred without the benefit of
higher revenues, increased customer engagement or brand recognition. Other risks associated with our use of social media
and internet-based communication platforms include platforms and business partners who experience challenges, improper
disclosure of proprietary information, negative comments about us, exposure of personally identifiaff bla e information, fraud,
hoaxes or malicious dissemination of false information. The inappropriate use of social media by our guests or employees
could lead to litigation or result in negative publicity that could damage our reputation.

Our marketintt g programs maya not be successfulff .ll

We intend to continue to invest in marketing effoff rts that we believe will attract and retain customers. These
initiatives may not be successfulff , resulting in expenses incurred without the benefit of higher revenues. Additionally, if
these initiatives are not successfulff , we may engage in additional promotional activities to attract and retain customers,
including buy-one get-one offeff rs and other offeff rs for free or discounted food, and any such additional promotional
activities could adversely impact our results of operations.

We also plan to continue to emphasize mobile and other digital ordering, deliveryrr and pick-upu orders, and
catering. These effoff rts may not succeed to the degree we expect or may result in unexpected operational challenges that
adversely impact our costs. We may also seek to introducd e new menu items that may not generate the level of sales we
expect. Additionally, some of our competitors have greater financial resources, which enable them to spend significantly
more on marketing and advertising than we are able to. Should our competitors increase spending on marketing and
advertising, or our marketing funds decrease for any reason, or should our advertising and promotions be less effeff ctive than
our competitors, there could be a material adverse effeff ct on our results of operations and financial condition.

Our busineii ss is subject to seasonal fluctuatiott ns.

Historically, customer spending patterns for our establa ished shops are lowest in the first quarter of the year due to
holidays, consumer habia ts and adverse weather. Other factors also have a seasonal effeff ct on our results. For example, shops
located near colleges and universities typically do more business during the academic year. Our quarterly results have been
and will continue to be affeff cted by the timing of new shop openings and their associated pre-opening costs. As a result of
these and other factors, our financial results for any quarter may not be indicative of the results that may be achieved for a
full fiscal year.

Changes to estimates related to our property,tt righi t-of-uff se assets for operating leases and equipmii ent or operating resultstt
that are lower than our current estimates at certain shop locations maya cause us to incur impairmii ent charger s on certain
long-lgg ivll ed assets,s which maya adverserr ly affeff ct our resultstt of operations.
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In accordance with accounting guidance as it relates to the impairment of long-lived assets, we make certain
estimates and projections with regard to individual shop operations, as well as our overall performance, in connection with
our impairment analyses for long-lived assets. When impairment triggers are deemed to exist for any location, the
estimated forecasted shop cash flows are compared to its carrying value. If the carrying value exceeds the estimated
forecasted shop cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset
exceeds the fair value of the asset group. The projections of future cash flows used in these analyses require the use of
judgment and a number of estimates and projections of future operating results. If actuat l results differ from our estimates,
additional charges for asset impairments may be required in the future. We have experienced significant impairment
charges in past years. If future impairment charges are significant, our reported operating results would be adversely
affeff cted.

Changes in taxaa laws and unanticipatii edtt taxaa liabiliii tiii es couldll adverserr ly affeff ct the taxeaa s we pay and our profitaff bilitii y.tt

We are subju ect to income and other taxes in the U.S., and our operations, plans and results are affeff cted by various
tax initiatives in the U.S. In particular, we are affeff cted by the impact of changes to tax laws or policy or related
authoritative interpretations. We are also impacted by settlements of pending or any future adjud stments proposed by taxing
and governmental authorities inside the U.S. in connection with our tax audits, all of which will depend on their timing,
nature and scope. Any significant increases in income tax rates, changes in income tax laws or unfavff orable resolution of
tax matters could have a material adverse impact on our financial results.

We have expexx rienced and contintt ue to expexx rience labor cost infln atll iott n. If we are unablell to offsff et highi er labor costs,tt our
cost of doingii busineii ss willii signi ificff antlyll increase,e which couldll materiallyll adverserr ly impact our finaii ncial perforff marr nce.

Increases in minimum wages and minimum tip credit wages, extensions of personal and other leave policies, other
governmental regulations affeff cting labora costs and a diminishing pool of potential staffff members when the unemployment
rate falls and legal immigration is restricted, especially in certain localities, could significantly increase our labora costs and
make it more difficult to fully staffff our restaurants, any of which could materially adversely affeff ct our financial
performance. If the United States federal government (or local jurisdictions) significantly increase the minimum wage and
tip credit wage (or eliminate the tip credit wage) and require significantly more mandated benefits than what is currently
required under applicable law, our labora costs may increase. In addition to increasing the overall wages paid to our
minimum wage and tip credit wage earners, these increases create pressure to increase wages and other benefits paid to
other staffff members who, in recognition of their tenure, performance, job responsibilities and other similar considerations,
historically received a rate of pay exceeding the applicable minimum wage or minimum tip credit wage. Because we
employ a large workforce, any wage increase and/or expansion of benefits mandates will have a particularly significff ant
impact on our labora costs. Our vendors, contractors and business partners are similarly impacted by wage and benefit cost
inflation, and many have or will increase their price for goods, construcr tion and services in order to offsff et their increasing
labora costs.

Our labora expenses include significant costs related to our health benefit plans. Health care costs continue to rise
and are especially difficult to project. Material increases in costs associated with medical claims, or an increase in the
severity or frequency of such claims, may cause health care costs to vary subsu tantially from year-over-year. Given the
unpredictabla e nature of actual health care claims trends, including the severity or frequency of claims, in any given year our
health care costs could significantly exceed our estimates, which could materially adversely affeff ct our financial
performance. Any significant changes to the healthcare insurance system could impact our healthcare costs. Material
increases in healthcare costs could materially adversely affeff ct our financial performance. While we tryrr to offsff et labora cost
increases through price increases, more effiff cient purchasing practices, productivity improvements and greater economies of
scale, there can be no assurance that these effoff rts will be successfulff . If we are unabla e to effeff ctively anticipate and respond
to increased laboa r costs, our financial performance could be materially adversely affeff cted.

FaiFF luii re of our internal contrott l over finaii ncial reporee ting couldll adverserr ly affeff ct our busineii ss and finaii ncial resultsll .

Our management is responsible for establa ishing and maintaining effeff ctive internal control over financial reporting.
Internal control over financial reporting is a process to provide reasonabla e assurance regarding the reliabia lity of financial
reporting for external purposr es in accordance with GAAP. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting is not intended to provide absolute assurance that we would prevent or detect a misstatement of our
financial statements or fraud. Any failure to maintain an effeff ctive system of internal control over financial reporting could
limit our ability to report our financial results accurately and timely or to detect and prevent fraud. The identificff ation of a
material weakness could indicate a lack of controls adequate to generate accurate financial statements that, in turn, could
cause a loss of investor confidff ence and decline in the market price of our common stock. We cannot assure you that we
will be able to timely remediate any material weaknesses that may be identifieff d in future periods or maintain all of the
controls necessary for continued compliance. Likewise, we cannot assure you that we will be able to retain sufficient
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skilled finance and accounting personnel, especially in light of the increased demand for such personnel among publicly
traded companies.

Risks Related to Environmental Social and Governance Issues

Our busineii ss is subject to evolvill ngii corporatett governance and publicll discii losure regue lations and expexx ctattt iott ns,s includindd g
withii respect to enviroii nmental, social and governance matters, that couldll exposxx e us to numerous riskii s.kk

We are subju ect to changing rules and regulations promulgated by a number of governmental and self-reff gulatoryrr
organizations, including the SEC, the Nasdaq Stock Market and the Financial Accounting Standards Board. These rules
and regulations continue to evolve in scope and complexity and many new requirements have been created in response to
laws enacted by Congress, making compliance more difficult and uncertain. In addition, increasingly regulators, customers,
investors, employees and other stakeholders are focusing on environmental, social and governance ("ESG") matters and
related disclosures. These changing rules, regulations and stakeholder expectations may result in, increased general and
administrative expenses and increased management time and attention spent complying with or meeting such regulations
and expectations. For example, developing and acting on initiatives within the scope of ESG, and collecting, measuring and
reporting ESG related information and metrics can be costly, difficult and time consuming and is subju ect to evolving
reporting standards, including the SEC's recently proposed climate-related reporting requirements. We may also
communicate certain initiatives and goals, regarding environmental matters, diversity, responsible sourcing and social
investments and other ESG related matters, in our SEC filings or in other public disclosures. These initiatives and goals
within the scope of ESG could be difficult and expensive to implement, the technologies needed to implement them may
not be cost effeff ctive and may not advance at a sufficff ient pace, and we could be criticized for the accuracy, adequacy or
completeness of the disclosure. In addition, we could be criticized for the scope or nature of such initiatives or goals, or for
any revisions to these goals. If our ESG-related data, processes and reporting are incomplete or inaccurate, or if we fail to
achieve progress with respect to our goals within the scope of ESG on a timely basis, or at all, our reputation, business,
financial performance and growth could be adversely affeff cted.

Climall te change and volatilell adverserr conditiodd ns maya have an adverserr impact on our busineii ss.

While we seek to mitigate our business risks associated with climate change by establa ishing environmental goals
and standards and seeking business partners, including within our supplu y chain, that are committed to operating in ways
that protect the environment or mitigate environmental impacts, we recognize that there are inherent climate-related risks
wherever business is conducted. Our financial results, our leased premises and operations may be vulnerabla e to the adverse
effeff cts of climate change, which are predicted to increase the frequency and severity of adverse weather events and other
natural cycles such as wildfires and droughts. In addition, our supplu y chain is subju ect to increased costs caused by the
effeff cts of climate change, greenhouse gases and diminishing energy and water resources. Increasing weather volatility and
changes in global weather patterns can reduce crop size and crop quality, or destroy crops altogether, which could result in
decreased availabia lity or higher pricing for our produce and other ingredients. We may be forced to source ingredients from
new geographic regions, which could impact quality and increase costs. These factors are beyond our control and, in many
instances, unpredictabla e. Climate change and government regulation relating to climate change also could result in
construcr tion delays for new restaurants and interruptu ions to the availabia lity or increases in the cost of utilities. The ongoing
and long-term costs of these impacts related to climate change and other sustainabia lity-related issues could have a material
adverse effeff ct on our business and financial condition if we are not able to mitigate them.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

Our busineii ss couldll be negate ivtt elyll affeff ctedtt as a result of actions of activist stoctt kholdell rs.

From time to time, we may be subju ect to proposals by stockholders urging us to take certain corporate action. If
activist stockholder activities ensue, our business could be adversely impacted because:

• responding to actions by activist stockholders can be costly and time-consuming and divert the attention of our
management and employees;

• perceived uncertainties as to our future direction may result in the loss of potential business opportunities and may
make it more difficult to attract and retain qualifieff d personnel and business partners; and

• pursuit of an activist stockholder’s agenda may adversely affeff ct our ability to effeff ctively implement our business
strategy and create additional value for our stockholders.

Our stoctt k price couldll be extremelyll volatile and, as a result,tt you maya not be ablell to resell your shares at or above the
price you paid for them.
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Volatility in the market price of our common stock may prevent you from being able to sell your shares at or
above the price you paid for your shares. The stock market in general has been highly volatile, and this may be especially
truerr for our common stock given our growth strategy and stage of development. As a result, the market price of our
common stock is likely to be similarly volatile. You may experience a decrease, which could be subsu tantial, in the value of
your stock, including decreases unrelated to our operating performance or prospects, and could lose part or all of your
investment. The price of our common stock could be subju ect to wide fluctuations in response to a number of factors,
including those described elsewhere in this Annual Report and others such as:

• actuat l or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly or annual operating results and the performance of our competitors;
• publication of research reports by securities analysts about us, our competitors or our industry;rr
• our failure or the failure of our competitors to meet analysts’ projections or guidance that we or our competitors may
give to the market;

• additions and departurt es of key personnel;
• sales, or anticipated sales, of large blocks of our stock or of shares held by our stockholders, directors or executive
offiff cers;

• strategic decisions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions, divestitures, spin-offs, joint venturt es, strategic
investments or changes in business strategy;

• the passage of legislation or other regulatoryrr developments affeff cting us or our industry;rr
• speculation in the press or investment community, whether or not correct, involving us, our supplu iers or our
competitors;

• changes in accounting principles;
• litigation and governmental investigations;
• terrorist acts, acts of war or periods of widespread civil unrest;
• a food-borne illness outbrt eak;
• severe weather, natural disasters and other calamities; and
• changes in general market and economic conditions.

As we operate in a single industry,rr we are especially vulnerabla e to these factors to the extent that they affeff ct our
industryrr or our products. In the past, securities class action litigation has ofteff n been initiated against companies following
periods of volatility in their stock price. This type of litigation could result in subsu tantial costs and divert our management’s
attention and resources, and could also require us to make subsu tantial payments to satisfy judgments or to settle litigation.

Provisions in our certiftt icff atett of incorporatiott n and bylaws and Delaware law maya discii ouragea ,e delaya or prevent a change
of contrott l of our companyn or changes in our managea ment and, thereforff e, maya depree ess the tradingii price of our stoctt k.

Our certificff ate of incorporation and bylaws include certain provisions that could have the effeff ct of discouraging,
delaying or preventing a change of control of our company or changes in our management, including, among other things:

• restrictions on the ability of our stockholders to fill a vacancy on the board of directors;
• our ability to issue preferff red stock with terms that the board of directors may determine, without stockholder approval,
which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquirer;

• the inability of our stockholders to call a special meeting of stockholders;
• the absence of cumulative voting in the election of directors, which may limit the ability of minority stockholders to
elect directors;

• advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and nominations, which may discourage or deter a potential
acquirer from soliciting proxies to elect a particular slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us;
and

• our bylaws may only be amended by the affiff rmative vote of the holders of at least 2/3 of the voting power of
outstanding shares of our capia tal stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors or by our board of
directors.

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law may affeff ct the ability of an “interested stockholder” to
engage in certain business combinations, including mergers, consolidations or acquisitions of additional shares, for a period
of three years following the time that the stockholder becomes an “interested stockholder.” An “interested stockholder” is
defined to include persons owning directly or indirectly 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock of a corporation.

It is not possibli ell to predicdd t the aggregatett proceedsdd resultingii from sales made underdd the Sales Agreement.

On November 3, 2021, we entered into an equity sales agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with William Blair &
Company, L.L.C. (the “Sales Agent”), pursuant to which we may issue and sell from time to time shares of our common
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stock having an aggregate offeff ring price of up to $40 million through the Sales Agent (the “At-the-Market Offeff ring”).
Subju ect to certain limitations in the Sales Agreement and compliance with applicable law, we have the discretion to deliver
a placement notice to the Sales Agent at any time throughout the term of the Sales Agreement. The number of shares that
are sold through the Sales Agent afteff r delivering a placement notice will fluctuate based on a number of factors, including
the market price of our common stock during the sales period, the limits we set with the Sales Agent in any applicable
placement notice, and the demand for our common stock during the sales period. Because the price per share of each share
sold will fluctuate during the sales period, it is not currently possible to predict the aggregate proceeds to be raised in
connection with those sales.

We maya not be ablell to access suffiu cient fundsdd underdd the Sales Agreement when neededdd .dd

The Sales Agent is only obligated to act as our agent in the sale of shares pursuant to the Sales Agreement on a
commercially reasonabla e effoff rts basis and subju ect to certain conditions set forth in the Sales Agreement. Thereforff e, we may
not in the future, have access to the full amount availabla e to us under the Sales Agreement. Any amounts we sell under the
Sales Agreement may not satisfy all of our funding needs, even if we are able and choose to sell and issue all of our
common stock currently registered.

Because we have no planll s to pay regue lar cash dividendsdd on our common stoctt k for the foreseeablell future,e you maya not
receive anyn return on investmett nt unless you sell your common stoctt k for a price greater than that which you paid for it.

We may retain future earnings, if any, for future operations, expansion and debt repayment and have no current
plans to pay any cash dividends for the foreseeable future. Any decision to declare and pay dividends in the future will be
made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on, among other things, our results of operations, financial
condition, cash requirements, contractuat l restrictions and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant. In
addition, our ability to pay dividends may be limited by covenants of any existing and future outstanding indebtedness we
or our subsu idiaries incur, including our Term Loan. As a result, you may not receive any return on an investment in our
common stock unless you sell our common stock for a price greater than that which you paid for it.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

We recognize the critical importance of maintaining the trusrr t and confidff ence of our customers, franchisees and
employees. Consequently, our cybersecurity policies, standards, processes and practices are contained within our Corporate
Security Policy. Our cybersecurity policies, standards, processes and practices are fully integrated into the Company's
enterprise risk management program.

We utilize multiple information systems, including accounting software, customer relationship management
solutions, our mobile app, online ordering platforms, point-of-sale software and data warehouse. In the ordinary course of
business, we collect, and our franchisees may collect confidff ential information.

To protect the information that we gather and the availabia lity of our IT systems from cybersecurity threats, we
have an ongoing cybersecurity risk mitigation program, which includes maintaining up-to-date detection, prevention and
monitoring systems and contracting with outside cybersecurity firms to provide constant monitoring of our systems. A
cybersecurity threat is any potential unauthorized occurrence on or conducted through our information systems or the
information systems of a third party that we utilize in our business which may result in adverse effeff cts on the
confidff entiality, integrity or availabia lity of our information systems or any information residing therein. Our cybersecurity
policies, standards, processes and practices are based on the Center for Internet Security Critical Security Controls and
include the following components:

◦ Collaborative Approach:We have implemented a comprehensive, cross-functional approach to
identifyiff ng, preventing and mitigating cybersecurity threats and incidents, while also implementing
controls and procedurd es that provide for the prompt escalation of certain cybersecurity incidents so that
decisions regarding the public disclosure and reporting of such incidents can be made by management in
a timely manner.

◦ Deployment of Technical Safeguards:We deploy technical safeguards that are designed to protect our
information systems from cybersecurity threats, including firewalls, intrusion prevention and detection
systems, anti-malware functionality and access controls, which are evaluated and improved through
vulnerability assessments and cybersecurity threat intelligence. We identify and address information
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security risks by employing a defense-in-depth methodology that provides multiple, redundant defensive
measures in case of security control fails or a vulnerability is exploited.

◦ Development and Periodic Testing of Incident Response and Recovery Planning:We have
developed and maintain comprehensive incident response and recovery plans that address our response to
a cybersecurity threat, and such plans are tested and evaluated on a regular basis. Our periodic testing of
these plans include a wide range of activities, such as audits, assessments, tabletop exercises, threat
modeling, vulnerability testing and other exercises focused on evaluating the effectiveness of our
cybersecurity measures and planning. We engage third parties to perform assessments on our
cybersecurity measures, including information security maturity assessments, internal audits and
independent reviews of our information security control environment and operating effectiveness. The
results of such assessments, audits and reviews are reported to the Audit Committee, and we adjust our
cybersecurity policies, standards, processes and practices as necessary based on the information provided
by these assessments, audits and reviews.

◦ Outside Consultants: The Company engages various outside consultants, including contractors,
assessors, auditors, outside attorneys and other third parties, to, among other things, externally audit our
systems against top information security standards, including controls for Payment Card Industry Data
Security Standard (PCI DSS) and conduct regular testing of our networks and systems to identify
vulnerabilities.

◦ Third-Party Risk Management:We maintain a comprehensive, risk-based approach to identifying and
overseeing cybersecurity risks presented by third parties, including service providers, franchisees and
other external users of our systems, as well as the systems of third parties that could adversely impact our
business in the event of a cybersecurity incident affecting those third-party systems. We conduct due
diligence of third-party vendors that we engage.
Implementation of Regular and Mandatory Employee Training and Awareness Programs:We
provide regular, mandatory training for personnel regarding cybersecurity threats as a means to equip our
personnel with effective tools to address cybersecurity threats, and to communicate our evolving
information security policies, standards, processes and practices.

As of the date of this report, we are not aware of any material risks from cybersecurity threats, including as a
result of any previous cybersecurity incidents, that have materially affected us, or that are reasonably likely to affect us,
including our business strategy, results of operations or financial condition.

Governance

The Board has delegated to the Audit Committee the responsibility for monitoring and overseeing the Company’s
cybersecurity and other information technology risks, controls, strategies and procedurd es. The Audit Committee receives
timely information regarding any cybersecurity incident that meets establa ished reporting thresholds, as well as ongoing
updates regarding any such incident until it has been addressed. On a quarterly basis, the Audit Committee discusses our
approach to cybersecurity risk management with our Chief Information Offiff cer (“CIO”). The Audit Committee makes
regular reports to the full Board regarding our information technology risks. Each member of our Audit Committee is
experienced in the area of information security, either as a result of their profesff sional history,rr their current responsibilities
in overseeing processes and controls in this area at the Company, or both. The Audit Committee may discuss such
processes and controls with our internal accounting and security teams and independent registered public accounting firm.

Our CIO manages our Cyber Security Program, including the management of risks arising from cybersecurity
threats. Our management receives quarterly, and more frequently, if necessary, presentations and reports on cybersecurity
risks, which address a wide range of topics including recent developments, evolving standards, vulnerabia lity assessments,
third-party and independent reviews, the threat environment, technological trends and information security considerations
arising with respect to our peers and third parties. Our CIO works, in coordination with our senior management, to
implement new programs, as needed, and to oversee our current programs which are designed to protect our information
systems from cybersecurity threats and to promptly respond to any cybersecurity incidents in accordance with our incident
response and recovery plans. Our CIO monitors the prevention, detection, mitigation and remediation of cybersecurity
threats and incidents in real time, and report such threats and incidents to the Audit Committee when appropriate.

Our CIO has served in various roles in information technology and information security for over 20 years,
including serving in senior leadership roles overseeing information technology systems, including previous service at a
company in our industry.rr Our CIO serves on the board of directors of the Chicago chapter of the Society for Information
Management where he has the opportunity to interact with senior IT leaders throughout the technology and business fields,
including in the industry,rr government and academic sectors.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We do not own any real property. As of December 31, 2023, we had the following number of company-operated
shops located in the following areas:

Location Number of Shops Location Number of Shops

Illinois 108 Indiana 9
Texas 58 Massachusetts 5
Michigan 29 Oregon 5
Virginia 22 Kansas 3
District of Columbia 21 Oklahoma 2
Minnesota 20 Kentuct ky 1
Wisconsin 14 Missouri 1
Maryland 13 Pennsylvania 1
Ohio 12 Utah 1
Arizona 10
Colorado 10

Total 345

Initial lease terms for our company-operated properties are generally ten years, with the majoa rity of the leases
providing for an option to renew for two additional five-year terms. Nearly all of our leases provide for a minimum annual
rent, and some of our leases call for additional rent based on sales volume at the particular location over specified
minimum levels. Generally, the leases are net leases that require us to pay our share of the costs of real estate taxes,
utilities, building operating expenses, insurance and other charges in addition to rent. For additional information regarding
our leases, see Note 8 in Item 8.

As of December 31, 2023, we occupiu ed approximately 15,000 square feet of offiff ce space in Chicago, Illinois for
our corporate headquarters which is leased through March 31, 2027.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are subju ect to legal proceedings, claims and liabia lities, such as employment-related claims and personal injun ry
cases, which arise in the ordinary course of business and are generally covered by insurance. In the opinion of
management, the amount of ultimate liabia lity with respect to those actions is not expected to have a material adverse impact
on our financial position or results of operations and cash flows.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not Applicable

34



PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Common Stock Market Prices and Dividends

Our common stock is listed on the NASDAQ under the symbol “PBPB”.

As of Februarr ry 25, 2024, there were 33 stockholders of record of our common stock. This number excludes
stockholders whose stock is held in nominee or street name by brokers.

Dividend Policy

We currently intend to retain all availabla e funds and any future earnings to fund the development and growth of
the business and for repurchases of our common stock, and thereforff e we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the
foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of the Potbelly Board of Directors,
subju ect to compliance with covenants in future agreements governing our indebtedness, and will depend upon our results of
operations, financial condition, capital requirements and other factors that the Board of Directors deems relevant. In
addition, in certain circumstances, the Revolving Facility restricts Potbelly’s ability to pay dividends. See “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Revolving Facility” in Item 7.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer

There were no purchases of our common stock made by or on behalf of Potbelly Corporation during the year
ended December 31, 2023.

Perforff mance Graph

The following graph and accompanying tabla e show the cumulative total return to stockholders of Potbelly
Corporation’s common stock relative to the cumulative total returns of the NASDAQ Composite Index, S&P 600
SmallCap Index and S&P 600 Restaurants Index. The graph tracks the performance of a $100 investment in our common
stock and in each of the indices (with the reinvestment of dividends) from December 31, 2018 to December 31, 2023. The
stock price performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.

5 Year Cumulative Total Return

Potbelly Corporation NASDAQ Composite- Total Return S&P 600 SmallCap Index S&P 600 Restaurants Index
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ITEM 6. RESERVED

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATRR IONS

The following discii ussion of our financial condition and resultstt of operations shouldl be read in conjunction with
our consolidatdd ed financial statements and the related notes to those statements included in Item 8. The discii ussion contains
forward-looking statements involving riskii s,kk uncertainties and assumptions that couldl cause Potbelly results to diffei r
materially from expex ctations. Our actual resultstt maya diffi erff materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking
statements as a result of certain factors,rr including those described in “Risk Factors”rr in Item 1A and elsell where in this
repore t.

This section of this Form 10-K generally discii usses our results of operations and financial condition for the year
ended December 31, 2023. For a discii ussion of similar topio cs for the years ended December 25, 2022 and December 26,
2021, please refee r to “IteII m 7 – Management’s Discii ussion and Analysll is of Financial Condition and Results of Operations"
in our Form 10-K, filed on March 2, 2023, which is incorporated herein by refee rence.

Overview

Potbelly Corporation is a neighborhood sandwich concept that has been a much-needed lunch-break escapea for
more than 40 years. Potbelly owns and operates Potbelly Sandwich Shop concepts in the United States. We also have
domestic franchise operations of Potbelly Sandwich Shop concepts. Potbelly’s chief operating decision maker is our Chief
Executive Offiff cer. Based on how our Chief Executive Offiff cer reviews financial performance and allocates resources on a
recurring basis, we have one operating segment and one reportabla e segment.

Our shop model is designed to generate, and has generated, strong cash flow, attractive shop-level financial results
and high returns on investment. We operate our shops successfulff ly in a wide range of geographic markets, population
densities and real estate settings. We aim to generate average shop-level profitff margins, a non-GAAP measure, that range
from mid to high teens. Our ability to achieve such margins and returns depends on a number of factors, including
consumer behaviors, the economy, and labora and commodity costs. For example, we face increasing labora and commodity
costs, which we have partially offsff et by increasing menu prices. Although there is no guarantee that we will be able to
achieve these returns, we believe our attractive shop economics supporu t our ability to profitaff bla y grow our brand in new and
existing markets.

The tabla e below sets forth a rollforward of company-operated and franchise-operated activities:

Company-
Operated

Franchise-
Operated Total Company

Shops as of December 27, 2020 400 46 446
Shops opened — 3 3
Shops closed (3) (3) (6)
Shops refranchised — — —
Shops as of December 26, 2021 397 46 443
Shops opened — 1 1
Shops closed (13) (2) (15)
Shops refranchised — — —
Shops as of December 25, 2022 384 45 429
Shops opened 1 5 6
Shops closed (7) (4) (11)
Shops refranchised (33) 33 —
Shops as of December 31, 2023 345 79 424

36



Fiscal Year

Operating results are reported on a 52-week fiscal year calendar, with a 53-week year occurring everyrr fifth or
sixth year. Our fiscal year ends on the last Sunday of each calendar year. Fiscal year 2023 consists of 53 weeks and fiscal
years 2022 and 2021 were 52-week fiscal years. The first three quarters of our fiscal year consist of 13 weeks and our
fourth quarter consists of 14 weeks for a 53-week fiscal year and 13 weeks for a 52-week fiscal year.

Key Perforff mance Indicators

In assessing the performance of our business, we consider a variety of performance and financial measures. The key
measures for determining how the business is performing are comparable store sales, number of company-operated shop
openings, shop-level profitff margins, and adjud sted EBITDA.

Company-n Operatedtt Comparablell Stortt e Sales

Comparabla e store sales reflect the change in year-over-year sales for the comparable company-operated store
base. We define the comparable store base to include those shops open for 15 months or longer. For the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2023, December 25, 2022, and December 26, 2021 there were 366, 379 and 366 shops, respectively, in our
comparable company-operated store base. Comparable store sales growth can be generated by an increase in number of
transactions and/or by increases in the average check amount resulting from a shiftff in menu mix and/or increase in price.
This measure highlights performance of existing shops as the impact of new shop openings is excluded. For purposr es of the
comparable store sales calculation, a transaction is defined as an entrée, which includes sandwiches, salads and bowls of
soup or mac and cheese.

Number of Company-n Operatedtt Shop Openings

The number of company-operated shop openings during a particular reporting period may have an impact on our
results that period and other surrounding periods. Before we open new company-operated shops, we incur pre-opening
costs. Ofteff n, new shops open with an initial start-up period of higher than normal sales volumes, which subsu equently
decrease to stabilized levels. While sales volumes are generally higher during the initial opening period, new shops
typically experience normal ineffiff ciencies in the form of higher cost of sales, labora and other direct operating expenses and
as a result, shop-level profitff margins are generally lower during the start-up period of operation. The average start-up
period is 10 to 13 weeks. With our focus on franchise shop development, we expect our company shop development will
be limited in 2024.

Number of Franchise-Operatedtt Shop Openings

The number of franchise-operated shop openings during a particular reporting period may have an impact on our
franchise revenue during that period and subsu equent periods. For each franchise-operated shop, we collect an initial
franchise fee that is recognized as revenue over the term of the franchise agreement, beginning with the shop opening date.
We also collect royalties and other fees from the franchisee afteff r their shop opens and they begin generating sales. We
enter into development agreements with some franchisees to open a certain number shops over a specified development
schedule, and we expect the number of franchise-operated shop openings to increase as franchisees make progress on their
development commitments.

Shop-o Le- vel Profitff Margin

Shop-level profitff margin is defined as net company-operated sandwich shop sales less company-operated sandwich
shop operating expenses, excluding depreciation, which consists of food, beverage and packaging costs, labora and related
expenses, occupau ncy expenses, and other operating expenses, as a percentage of net company-operated sandwich shop
sales. Other operating expenses include all other shop-level operating costs, excluding depreciation, the majoa r components
of which are credit card fees, fees to third-party marketplt ace partners, marketing and advertising, shop technology and
software, supplu y chain costs, operating supplu ies, utilities, and repair and maintenance costs. Shop-level profitff margin is not
required by, or presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP. We believe shop-level profitff margin is important in evaluating
shop-level productivity, effiff ciency and performance.

Adjudd stedtt EBITDADD
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We define adjud sted EBITDA as net income (loss) attributable to Potbelly before depreciation and amortization,
interest expense and provision for income taxes, adjud sted for the impact of the following items that we do not consider
representative of ongoing operating performance: stock-based compensation expense, impairment and shop closure
expenses, gain or loss on disposal of property and equipment and gain on Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative
activities as well as other one-time, non-recurring charges, such as gain on extinguishment of debt. Adjud sted EBITDA is
not required by, or presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP. We believe that adjud sted EBITDA is a usefulff measure of
operating performance, as it provides a picturt e of operating results by eliminating expenses that management does not
believe are reflective of underlying business performance.

Key Financial Definitions

Sandwidd ch shop sales, net

Net sandwich shop sales includes of food and beverage sales, net of promotional allowances and employee meals
generated by company-operated shops. Company-operated shop sales are influenced by new shop openings, shop closures,
including refranchise transactions, and comparable store sales.

Franchise royao ltiett s, fees and rentaltt income

Franchise royalties, fees and rental income includes royalty income and Brand Fund contributions collected from
our franchisee, both of which are earned based on a percentage of franchisee sales, an initial franchise fee, which is
recognized over the term of the franchise agreement once a shop is opened, fees to supporu t shop systems and technology,
and in some cases where we sublu ease to a franchisee, rental income.

Food, beveragea and packagingii coststt

The components of food, beverage and packaging costs are variable in nature, change with sales volume, are
influenced by menu mix and are subju ect to increases or decreases based on fluctuations in commodity costs.

Labor and Related Expexx nses

Labora and related expenses include all shop-level management and hourly labora costs, including salaries, wages,
benefits and performance incentives, labora taxes and other indirect labora costs.

Occupanu cy Expexx nses

Occupau ncy expenses include fixed and variable portions of rent, common area maintenance and real estate taxes.

Othett r Operatintt g Expexx nses

Other operating expenses include all other shop-level operating costs, excluding depreciation, the majoa r
components of which are fees to third-party marketplt ace partners, credit card fees, operating supplu ies, utilities, repair and
maintenance costs, and shop-level marketing costs. Other operating expenses also include expenses incurred by the Brand
Fund, which are recorded to the company-operated shops based on a percentage of sales. These expenses include
production and media costs related to brand advertising.

Franchise Supporpp t, Rent and Marketintt g Expexx nses

Franchise supporu t, rent and marketing expenses include Brand Fund, information technology, supplu y chain,
occupau ncy and operations expenses for franchised shops.

General and Admidd niii stii ratt tive Expexx nses

General and administrative expenses is comprised of expenses associated with corporate and administrative
functions that supporu t the development and operations of shops, including compensation and benefits, travel expenses,
stock-based compensation costs, legal and profesff sional fees, costs related to abandoned new shop development sites and
other related corporate costs.
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Depree eciatiott n Expexx nse

Depreciation expense includes the depreciation of fixed assets and capia talized leasehold improvements.

Pre-Opening Coststt

Pre-opening costs consist of costs incurred prior to opening a new shop and are made up primarily of travel,
employee payroll and training costs incurred prior to the shop opening, as well as occupau ncy costs incurred from when we
take site possession to shop opening. Shop pre-opening costs are expensed as incurred.

(GaiGG n)ii /L)) oss on Franchise Growth Accelerll atiott n Initiativtt e Activities

(Gain)/Loss on Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative Activities includes the gains and losses recognized on the
sale of company-operated shops and other expenses incurred to execute a refranchising transaction.

Impaim rmii ent, Loss on Dispii osal of Propertytt and Equipmii ent and Shopo Closll ures

Potbelly reviews long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, intangibles and lease right-of-use assets, for
impairment when events or circumstances indicate the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverabla e and records an
impairment charge when appropriate. The impairment loss recognized is the excess of the carrying value of the asset over
its fair value. Typically, the fair value of the asset is determined by estimating discounted future cash flows associated with
the asset. The fair value of right-of-use assets is estimated using market comparative information for similar properties.
Loss on disposal of property and equipment represents the net book value of property and equipment less proceeds
received, if applicable, on assets abandoned or sold. These losses are related to normal disposals in the ordinary course of
business, along with disposals related to shop closures and selected shop remodeling activities. Shop closures includes
lease termination payments and the derecognition of the associated right-of-use assets and lease liabia lities, as well as any
other costs directly incurred in the closure of the shop and afteff r a shop has closed for business.

Loss/(G// aiGG n)ii on Extinguishment of Debt

Loss/(gain) on extinguishment of debt includes the gains and losses recognized on the termination in full of our
obligations and commitments under various credit facilities. Refer to the Liquidity and Capia tal Resources section of this
filing for additional information.

Interest Expexx nse, Net

Interest expense, net primarily consists of interest and fees associated with our Term Loan, including the
amortization of debt issuance costs and other miscellaneous interest charges. Interest expense, net includes interest income
generated through our investments in money market funds.

Income Taxaa Expexx nse

Income tax expense represents estimated tax charges due to municipalities based on our income earned in those
jurisdictions.

Non-contrott llingii Intereststt

Non-controlling interests represents non-controlling partners’ share of the assets, liabia lities and operations related
to seven joint venturt e investments. Potbelly has ownership interests ranging from 51-80% in these consolidated joint
venturt es.
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Results of Operations

Fiscal Year 2023 (53 Weeks) Compared to Fiscal Year 2022 (52 Weeks)

The following tabla e presents information comparing the components of net income for the periods indicated
(dollars in thousands):

Fiscal Year

2023
% of

Revenues 2022
% of

Revenues 2021
% of

Revenues
Revenues
Sandwich shop sales, net $ 482,246 98.1 % $ 447,901 99.1 % $ 377,283 99.3 %
Franchise royalties, fees and rental income 9,163 1.9 4,072 0.9 2,769 0.7
Total revenues 491,409 100.0 451,973 100.0 380,052 100.0

Expenses
(Percentages stated as a percent of sandwich shop sales, net)
Sandwich shop operating expenses, excluding
depreciation
Food, beverage and packaging costs 133,726 27.7 129,151 28.8 105,035 27.8
Labora and related expenses 143,744 29.8 142,095 31.7 127,099 33.7
Occupau ncy expenses 51,885 10.8 54,536 12.2 53,821 14.3
Other operating expenses 84,363 17.5 74,916 16.7 63,514 16.8

(Percentages stated as a percent of total revenues)
Franchise supporu t, rent and marketing expenses 5,741 1.2 694 0.2 313 NM
General and administrative expenses 48,496 9.9 37,741 8.4 31,724 8.3
Depreciation expense 12,138 2.5 11,890 2.6 15,909 4.2
Pre-opening costs 115 NM — NM — NM
Gain on Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative
activities (2,142) (0.4) — NM — NM

Impairment, loss on disposal of property and
equipment and shop closures 3,338 0.7 4,754 1.1 5,125 1.3

Total expenses 481,403 98.0 455,777 100.8 402,540 105.9
Income (loss) from operations 10,006 2.0 (3,804) (0.8) (22,488) (5.9)

Interest expense, net 3,281 0.7 1,349 0.3 963 0.3
Loss/(gain) on extinguishment of debt 239 NM (10,191) (2.3) — NM
Income (loss) before income taxes 6,486 1.3 5,038 1.1 (23,451) (6.2)
Income tax expense 909 0.2 327 NM 172 NM
Net income (loss) 5,577 1.1 4,711 1.0 (23,623) (6.2)
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests 458 NM 366 NM 161 NM
Net income attributable to Potbelly Corporation $ 5,119 1.0 % $ 4,345 1.0 % $ (23,784) (6.3) %

Fiscal Year
Other Key Perforff mance Indicators 2023 2022 2021
Comparable Store Sales 12.0 1% 8.5 3% 0.3 %
Shop-level profitff margin 14.2 1% 0.5 7% .4 %
Adjud sted EBITDA $ 28,331 $ 15,739 $ 522

"NM" - Amount is not meaningfulff
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This section of this Form 10-K generally discii usses our results of operations and financial condition for the year
ended December 31, 2023. For a discii ussion of similar topio cs for the years ended December 25, 2022 and December 26,
2021, please refee r to “IteII m 7 – Management’s Discii ussion and Analysll is of Financial Condition and Results of Operations"
in our Form 10-K, filed on March 2, 2023, which is incorporated herein by refee rence.

Sandwidd ch shop sales, net

Sandwich shop sales, net increased by $34.3 million, or 7.7%, to $482.2 million for the fiscal year 2023, from
$447.9 million for the fiscal year 2022. This increase was primarily driven by the sustained recovery of our company-
operated shops in central business districts and airport locations, improved performance of our catering channel, successfulff
marketing programs, and increased prices to offsff et cost inflation. Fiscal year 2023 included an additional week in the fourth
quarter which contributed $6.2 million in shop sales, a lower volume week due the timing of holidays. Company-operated
comparable store sales resulted in an increase of $51.2 million, or 12.0% for fiscal year 2023. The increase in revenue also
included sales from shops that were temporarily closed in 2022. These increases were partially offsff et by a decrease in sales
of $24.7 million from shops that have permanently closed or were refranchised over the last 12 months.

Franchise royao ltiett s, fees and rentaltt income

Revenue from franchise royalties, fees and rental income increased by $5.1 million, or 125.0% driven primarily by
an increase in franchise shops due to refranchise transactions, including rental income from new sublu eases on certain
refranchised shops.

Food, beveragea and packagingii coststt

Food, beverage and packaging costs increased by $4.6 million, or 3.5%, to $133.7 million for fiscal year 2023,
compared to $129.2 million for fiscal year 2022. This increase was primarily driven by an increase in shop sales volume
and inflation, as well as an additional week in the fourth quarter of 2023. As a percentage of sandwich shop sales, food,
beverage and packaging costs decreased to 27.7% for fiscal year 2023, from 28.8% for fiscal year 2022, primarily driven
by increased menu prices and lower costs of protein.

Labor and Related Expexx nses

Labora and related expenses increased by $1.6 million, or 1.2%, to $143.7 million for fiscal year 2023, from $142.1
million for the fiscal year 2022, primarily driven by an increase in shop sales volumes and higher shop labora wage rates as
a result of labora availabia lity challenges in certain restaurants. Fiscal year 2023 also included labora and related expenses for
an additional week in the fourth quarter. As a percentage of sandwich shop sales, labora and related expenses decreased to
29.8% for fiscal year 2023, from 31.7% for fiscal year 2022, primarily driven by sales leverage in certain labora related
costs not directly variable with sales as well as a continued focus in realizing operational effiff ciencies in our workforce.

Occupanu cy Expexx nses

Occupau ncy expenses decreased by $2.7 million, or 4.9%, to $51.9 million for fiscal year 2023, from $54.5 million
for fiscal year 2022, primarily due to our refranchising effoff rts partially offsff et by an additional week in the fourth quarter of
fiscal year 2023. As a percentage of sandwich shop sales, occupau ncy expenses decreased to 10.8% for the fiscal year 2023,
from 12.2% for fiscal year 2022, primarily due to increased sales leverage in certain occupau ncy related costs and
refranchising activities.

Othett r Operatintt g Expexx nses

Other operating expenses increased by $9.4 million, or 12.6%, to $84.4 million for fiscal year 2023, from $74.9
million for fiscal year 2022. The increase was primarily related to an increase in marketing and advertising spend and
certain variable costs, including fees to third-party deliveryrr partners and credit card fees as well as an additional week in
the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2023. Brand Fund expenses included in other operating expenses were $12.3 million and
$6.6 million for fiscal years 2023 and 2022, respectively. As a percentage of sandwich shop sales, other operating expenses
increased to 17.5% for fiscal year 2023, from 16.7% for fiscal year 2022, primarily driven by increased Brand Fund
expenses as noted above.

Franchise supporu t, rent and marketintt g expexx nses
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Franchise supporu t, rent and marketing expenses increased by $5.0 million, or 727.2%, to $5.7 million for fiscal
year 2023, from $0.7 million for fiscal year 2022. The increase was driven by an increase in marketing and advertising
expenses related to the Brand Fund and rent expense from shops sublu eased to franchisees.

General and Admidd niii stii ratt tive Expexx nses

General and administrative expenses increased by $10.8 million, or 28.5%, to $48.5 million for fiscal year 2023,
from $37.7 million for fiscal year 2022. This increase was primarily driven by an increase in bonus expense, payroll costs
and stock-based compensation expense. As a percentage of revenues, general and administrative expenses increased to
9.9% for fiscal year 2023, from 8.4% for fiscal year 2022, primarily driven by an increase in corporate headcount to
supporu t our growth and development initiatives.

Depree eciatiott n Expexx nse

Depreciation expense increased by $0.2 million, or 2.1%, to $12.1 million for fiscal year 2023, from $11.9 million
for fiscal year 2022. As a percentage of revenues, depreciation decreased to 2.5% for fiscal year 2023, from 2.6% for fiscal
year 2022.

Gain on Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative activitiett s

Gain on Franchise Growth Acceleration was a gain of $2.1 million during fiscal year 2023. The gain was driven by
the execution of two refranchise transactions in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2023, partially offsff et by losses incurred in
connection with two refranchising transactions in the first half of fiscal year 2023. No gains or losses were incurred during
fiscal year 2022 since no refranchising transactions were entered during that period.

Impaim rmii ent, Loss on Dispii osal of Propertytt and Equipmii ent and Shopo Closll ures

Impairment, loss on disposal of property and equipment and shop closures decreased to $3.3 million for fiscal year
2023, compared to $4.8 million for fiscal year 2022.

Afteff r performing a periodic review of our shops during fiscal year 2023, it was determined that indicators of
impairment were present for certain shops as a result of continued underperformance. We performed an impairment
analysis related to these shops and recorded an impairment charge of $1.2 million for fiscal year 2023.

During fiscal year 2023, the Company incurred $0.5 million in lease termination fees, which were fully offsff et by
gains recognized on the termination of the leases.

Loss/(G// aiGG n)ii on Extinguishment of Debt

Loss/(gain) on extinguishment of debt was a loss of $0.2 million in fiscal year 2023 compared with a gain of
$10.2 million in fiscal year 2022. The loss in fiscal year 2023 was a result of the termination of our Former Credit Facility.
The gain in fiscal year 2022 was a result of forgiveness of our Paycheck Protection Payment Loan. Both of these
transactions are further described in the Liquidity and Capia tal Resource section of this filing.

Interest Expexx nse, Net

Interest expense, net was $3.3 million for fiscal year 2023 and $1.3 million for fiscal year 2022, as a result of
higher borrowings outstanding and higher interest rates on our Term Loan entered into in Februarr ry 2023. The increase was
partially offsff et by interest income generated through investments in money market funds of $0.5 million during fiscal year
2023.

Income Taxaa Expexx nse

We recognized income tax expense of $0.9 million for fiscal year 2023 compared to $0.3 million for fiscal year
2022. The increase was driven by an increase in our taxabla e income and the related taxes in jurisdictions where the income
is not able to be fully offsff et by our net operating loss carryforwards.
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Non-Contrott lling Intereststt

The portion of income attributable to non-controlling interest increased in fiscal year 2023 compared with fiscal
year 2022 primarily due to increased airport travel driving higher traffiff c in these locations, partially offsff et by additional
costs incurred.

43



Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Shop-o Le- vel Profitff Margin

Shop-level profitff margin was 14.2% for fiscal year 2023. Shop-level profitff margin is not required by, or presented
in accordance with GAAP. We believe shop-level profitff margin is important in evaluating shop-level productivity,
effiff ciency and performance.

Fiscal Year Ended
December 31,

2023
December 25,

2022
December 26,

2021

Income (loss) from operations [A] $ 10,006 $ (3,804) $ (22,488)
Income (loss) from operations margin [A÷B] 2B .0 % (0.8)(( % (5.9)(( %
Less: Franchise royalties, fees and rental income 9,163 4,072 2,769
Franchise supporu t, rent and marketing expenses 5,741 694 313
General and administrative expenses 48,496 37,741 31,724
Depreciation expense 12,138 11,890 15,909
Pre-opening costs 115 — —
Gain on Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative
activities (2,142) — —

Impairment, loss on disposal of property and
equipment and shop closures 3,338 4,754 5,125

Shop-level profitff [C] $ 68,528 $ 47,203 $ 27,814
Total revenues [B] $ 491,409 $ 451,973 $ 380,052
Less: Franchise royalties, fees and rental income 9,163 4,072 2,769

Sandwich shop sales, net [D] $ 482,246 $ 447,901 $ 377,283
Shop-level profitff margin [C÷D] 14.2 % 10.5 % 7.4 %
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Adjudd stedtt EBITDADD

Adjud sted EBITDA was $28.3 million for the fiscal year 2023. Adjud sted EBITDA is not required by, or presented
in accordance with GAAP. We believe that adjud sted EBITDA is a usefulff measure of operating performance, as it provides
a picturt e of operating results by eliminating expenses that management does not believe are reflective of underlying
business performance.

Fiscal Year Ended
December 31,

2023
December 25,

2022
December 26,

2021
($ in thousands)

Net income (loss) attributable to Potbelly Corporation $ 5,119 $ 4,345 $ (23,784)
Depreciation expense 12,138 11,890 15,909
Interest expense 3,281 1,349 963
Income tax expense 909 327 172

EBITDA $ 21,447 $ 17,911 $ (6,740)
Impairment, loss on disposal of property and
equipment, and shop closures (a

pp
) 3,338 4,754 5,125

Stock-based compensation 5,449 3,265 2,137
Loss (gain) on extinguishment of debt 239 (10,191) —
Gain on Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative
activities (b) (2,142) — —

Adjud sted EBITDA $ 28,331 $ 15,739 $ 522

______________________________
(a) This adjud stment includes costs related to impairment of long-lived assets, loss on disposal of property and

equipment and shop closure expenses.
(b) This adjud stment includes cost related to our plan to grow our franchise units domestically through multi-unit shop

development area agreements, which may include refranchising certain company-operated shops.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

General

Potbelly’s ongoing primaryrr sources of liquidity and capia tal resources are cash provided from operating activities,
existing cash and cash equivalents, and our Term Loan (subsequently replaced by the Revolving Facility, as further
described below). In the short term, Potbelly’s primary requirements for liquidity and capital are existing shop capia tal
investments, maintenance, lease obligations, working capital and general corporate needs. Potbelly’s requirement for
working capital is not significant since our customers pay for their food and beverage purchases in cash or payment cards
(credit or debit) at the time of sale. Thus, Potbelly is able to sell certain inventoryrr items before we need to pay our supplu iers
forff such items. Company shops do not require significant inventories or receivabla es.

We ended the fiscal year 2023 with a cash balance of $34.5 million and total liquidity (cash less restricted cash) of
$33.8 million compared to a balance of $15.6 million and total liquidity (cash less restricted cash plus amounts availabla e
under our Former Credit Facility, which is further described in the section below) of $31.4 million at the end of fiscal year
2022. The total liquidity was $30.9 million as of September 24, 2023, $34.3 million as of June 25, 2023, $25.6 million and
March 26, 2023.

On Februarr ry 9, 2021, we closed on a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “SPA”) for the sale of 3,249,668 shares
of our common stock at a par value of $0.01 per share and the issuance of warrants to purchase 1,299,861 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $5.45 per warrant for gross proceeds of $16.0 million, before deducting placement
agent fees and offeff ring expenses of approximately $1.0 million. The warrants were exercisabla e commencing August 13,
2021 through their expiration date of August 12, 2026.

We believe that the proceeds from the SPA, cash from our operations, borrowings under our Revolving Facility
and sales under our equity offeff ring program will be sufficff ient to provide liquidity for the next twelve months and for the
foreseeable future. Refer to our discussion regarding the Revolving Facility in the paragraphs below.

Cash Flowll sw

The following tabla e presents summary cash flow information for the periods indicated (in thousands):

Fiscal Year

Net cash provided by (used in) 2023 2022

Operating activities $ 19,488 $ 12,476
Investing activities (10,771) (8,426)
Financing activities 10,202 (2,784)

Net increase in cash $ 18,918 $ 1,266

Operatintt g Activitieii s

Net cash provided by operating activities increased to $19.5 million for fiscal year 2023 from cash provided by
operating activities of $12.5 million for the fiscal year 2022. The $7.0 million change in operating cash was primarily
driven by an increase in cash received from newly executed development agreements and an increase in income from
operations compared to the prior year, partially offsff et by an additional month of occupau ncy costs paid to landlords due to
the timing of the end of the Company's fiscal year.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities increased to $10.8 million for fiscal year 2023 from cash used in investing
activities of $8.4 million for the fiscal year 2022. The increase in cash outflow of $8.6 million was primarily driven by
additional capital expenditures which related to ongoing investment in our company-operated shops and digital platforms.
This cash outflow was partially offsff et by $6.3 million cash collected from the sale of refranchised assets.
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Finaii ncing Activitieii s

Net cash provided by financing activities increased to $10.2 million for fiscal year 2023 from cash used in
financing activities of $2.8 million for fiscal year 2022. The $13.0 million increase in financing cash was primarily driven
by net proceeds from the Term Loan executed in the first quarter of 2023 partially offsff et by repayments under our Former
Credit Facility.

Stock Repurchase Program

On May 8, 2018, we announced that our Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program for up to $65.0
million of its outstanding common stock. The program permits us, from time to time, to purchase shares in the open market
(including in pre-arranged stock trading plans in accordance with the guidelines specified in Rule 10b5-1 under the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) or in privately negotiated transactions. The number of common shares
actually repurchased, and the timing and price of repurchases, will depend upon market conditions, SEC requirements and
other factors. Purchases may be started or stopped at any time without prior notice depending on market conditions and
other factors. We did not repurchase any shares of our common stock during 2023. We do not have plans to repurchase any
common stock under its stock repurchase program at this time. As of December 31, 2023, the remaining dollar value of
authorization under the share repurchase program was $37.9 million, which includes commission. Repurchased shares are
included as treasuryrr stock in the consolidated balance sheets and the consolidated statements of equity.

Equity Offeff ring Program

On November 3, 2021, we entered into an Equity Sales Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with William Blair &
Company, L.L.C., as agent pursuant to which we may sell shares of our common stock having an aggregate offeff ring price
of up to $40.0 million from time to time, in our sole discretion, through an “at the market” equity offeff ring program.

Under the Sales Agreement, we will set the parameters for the sale of shares, including the number of shares to be
issued, the time period during which sales are requested to be made, the limitation on the number of shares that may be sold
on any trading day and any minimum price below which sales may not be made. Subju ect to the terms and conditions of the
Sales Agreement, William Blair may sell the Shares by methods deemed to be an “at the market offeff ring” as defined in
Rule 415(a)(4) promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, including sales made directly on The Nasdaq
Global Select Market or on any other existing trading market for the Shares, and, with our consent, in negotiated
transactions at market prices prevailing at the time of sale or at prices related to such prevailing market prices. The Sales
Agreement may be terminated by the Company upon five days’ written notice to William Blair for any reason. William
Blair may terminate the Sales Agreement upon five days’ written notice to the Company for any reason or at any time
under certain circumstances, including but not limited to the occurrence of a material adverse change in the Company.

The Sales Agreement provides that William Blair will be entitled to compensation for its services of 3.0% of the
aggregate gross proceeds from each sale under the Sales Agreement. The Company has no obligation to sell any Shares
under the Sales Agreement and may at any time suspend solicitation and offeff rs under the Sales Agreement. The Sales
Agreement contains customaryrr representations, warranties and agreements by the Company, indemnificff ation obligations of
the Company and William Blair and other obligations of the parties.

The Shares will be issued pursuant to the Company’s effeff ctive shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (File No.
333-255845) (the “Registration Statement”), declared effeff ctive by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”) on May 13, 2021.

Revolving Facility

On Februarr ry 7, 2024, Potbelly Sandwich Works, LLC (the “Borrower”) entered into a credit agreement (the
“Credit Agreement”) with Wintrust Bank, N.A. as administrative agent (the “Agent”), the other loan parties party thereto
and the lenders party thereto. The Credit Agreement provides for a revolving loan facility with an aggregate commitment
of $30,000,000 (the “Revolving Facility”, the commitments thereunder, the “Revolving Commitments”). Concurrently with
entryrr into the Credit Agreement, the Company repaid in full and terminated the obligations and commitments of the lenders
under the Term Loan. Proceeds from the Revolving Facility will be used for general corporate and working capital
purposrr es.

The Revolving Commitments expire on Februar ry 7, 2027.
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Loans under the Credit Agreement will initially bear interest, at the Company’s option, at either one-month term
SOFR or the base rate plus, in each case, an applicable rate per annum, based upon the Consolidated Adjud sted Leverage
Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement). The applicable rate may vary between 3.75% and 2.75% with respect to
borrowings which are based upon the one-month term SOFR and between 2.25% and 1.25% with respect to borrowings
which are based upon the base rate. Initially, the applicable rate with respect to one-month term SOFR borrowings is
3.25% and the applicable rate with respect to base rate borrowings is 1.75% until the Agent receives a compliance
certificff ate for the fiscal quarter ending on March 31, 2024.

The Company may prepay the Revolving Commitments at any time and from time to time in whole or in part
without premium or penalty, subju ect to prior notice in accordance with the Credit Agreement.

Subju ect to certain customaryrr exceptions, obligations under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by the Company
and all of the Company’s current and future wholly-owned material domestic subsu idiaries and are secured by a first-priority
security interest in subsu tantially all of the assets of the Company and its subsu idiary guarantors.

The Credit Agreement contains customaryrr representations and affiff rmative and negative covenants. Among other
things, these covenants restrict the Company’s and certain of its subsu idiaries’ ability to incur certain indebtedness and liens,
undergo certain mergers, consolidations and certain other fundamental changes, make certain investments, make certain
dispositions and acquisitions, enter into sale and leaseback transactions, enter into certain swap transactions, make certain
restricted payments (including certain payment of dividends, repurchases of stock and payments on certain indebtedness),
engage in certain transactions with affiff liates, enter into certain types of restricted agreements, make certain changes to its
organizational documents and indebtedness, and use the proceeds of the Revolving Commitments for certain non-permitted
uses. In addition, the Credit Agreement requires that the Company and its subsu idiaries maintain compliance with certain
minimum fixed charge coverage ratios and maximum consolidated leverage ratios as set forth in the Credit Agreement.

The Credit Agreement also contains customaryrr events of default. If an event of default occurs, the Agent and
lenders are entitled to take various actions, including the acceleration of amounts due under the Credit Agreement,
termination of commitments thereunder and all other actions permitted to be taken by a secured creditor.

Term Loan

On Februarr ry 7, 2023 (the “Closing Date”), we entered into a credit and guaranty agreement (the “Term Loan
Credit Agreement”) with Sagard Holdings Manager LP as administrative agent (the “Administrative Agent”). The Term
Loan Credit Agreement provides for a term loan facility with an aggregate commitment of $25 million (the “Term Loan”).
Concurrent with the entryrr into the Term Loan Credit Agreement, we repaid in full and terminated the obligations and
commitments under our Former Credit Facility. The remaining proceeds from the Term Loan will be used to pay related
transaction fees and expenses, and for general corporate purposr es.

The Term Loan Credit Agreement was scheduled to mature on Februar ry 7, 2028.

Loans under the Term Loan Credit Agreement initially bore interest, at the Company’s option, at either at the term
SOFR plus 9.25% per annum or base rate plus 8.25% per annum.

We were able to prepay the Term Loan in agreed-uponu minimum principal amounts, subju ect to prepayment fees
equal to (a) if the prepayment occurred on or prior to the one (1) year anniversaryrr of the Closing Date, a customaryrr make-
whole amount plus 3.00% of the outstanding principal balance of the Term Loan, (b) if the prepayment occurred afteff r such
one (1) year anniversaryrr and prior to the two (2) year anniversaryrr of the Closing Date, 3.00% of the outstanding principal
balance of the Term Loan, (c) if the prepayment occurred afteff r such second anniversaryrr of the Closing Date and prior to the
three (3) year anniversaryrr of the Closing Date 1.00% of the outstanding principal balance of the Term Loan and (d)
thereafteff r, no prepayment fee.

Subju ect to certain customaryrr exceptions, obligations under the Term Loan Credit Agreement were guaranteed by
the Company and all of the Company’s current and future wholly-owned material domestic subsu idiaries and were secured
by a first-priority security interest in subsu tantially all of the assets of the Company and its subsu idiary guarantors.

The Term Loan Credit Agreement contained customaryrr representations and affiff rmative and negative covenants.
Among other things, these covenants restricted the Company’s and certain of its subsu idiaries’ ability to incur indebtedness,
make certain investments, pay dividends or repurchase stock, and make dispositions and acquisitions. In addition, the Term
Loan Credit Agreement required that the Company and its wholly-owned subsu idiaries maintain certain maximum total net
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leverage ratios as set forth in the Term Loan Credit Agreement, an average liquidity amount that shall not be less than $10
million, maximum capia tal expenditures per year as set forth in the Term Loan Credit Agreement and a minimum fixed
charge coverage ratio as set forth in the Term Loan Credit Agreement.

The Term Loan Credit Agreement also contained customaryrr events of default. If an event of default occurs, the
Administrative Agent and lenders were entitled to take various actions, including the acceleration of amounts due under the
Term Loan Credit Agreement, termination of commitments thereunder and all other actions permitted to be taken by a
secured creditor.

As of December 31, 2023, we had $22.2 million outstanding under the Term Loan.

Upon execution of the Revolving Facility on Februar ry 7, 2024, we repaid in full and terminated the obligations
and commitments under our Term Loan. As a result of repaying and terminating the Term Loan, we expect to recognize a
loss on extinguishment of debt of approximately $2 to $3 million in the first quarter of 2024.

Former Credit Facility

On August 7, 2019, we entered into a second amended and restated revolving credit facility agreement (the
"Former Credit Agreement") with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (“JPMorgan”). The Former Credit Agreement amends and
restates that certain amended and restated revolving credit facility agreement, dated as of December 9, 2015, and amended
on May 3, 2019 (collectively, the "Prior Credit Agreement") with JPMorgan. The Former Credit Agreement provided,
among other things, for a revolving credit facility in a maximum principal amount $40 million, with possible future
increases of up to $20 million under an expansion featurt e. Borrowings under the credit facility generally bear interest at our
option at either (i) a eurocurrency rate determined by reference to the applicable LIBOR rate plus a specified margin or (ii)
a prime rate as announced by JP Morgan plus a specified margin. The applicable margin was determined based upon our
consolidated total leverage ratio. On the last day of each calendar quarter, we were required to pay a commitment fee of
0.20% per annum in respect of any unused commitments under the credit facility. So long as certain total leverage ratios,
EBITDA thresholds and minimum liquidity requirements are met and no default or event of default has occurred or would
result, there was no limit on the “restricted payments” (primarily distributions and equity repurchases) that we may make,
provided that proceeds of the loans under the Former Credit Agreement may not be used for purposr es of making restricted
payments.

As disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 26, 2021, we subsu equently
amended the Former Credit Agreement during fiscal years 2020 and 2021. The Former Credit Agreement provides for a
revolving credit facility in a maximum principal amount of $25 million.

On January 28, 2022, we entered into Amendment No. 6 (the "Sixth Amendment") to the Former Credit
Agreement. The Sixth Amendment, among other things, (i) extended the maturity date under the Former Credit Agreement
from January 31, 2023 to May 31, 2023, (ii) changed the benchmark interest rates under the Former Credit Agreement for
borrowings from the London Interbank Offeff red Rate (LIBOR) to the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) subju ect to
certain adjud stments in the Sixth Amendment, (iii) increased the interest rate margin by 75 basis points with respect to any
CBFR Loan (as defined in the Former Credit Agreement), (iv) sets the interest rate margin at 600 basis points with respect
to any Term Benchmark Loan (as defined in the Former Credit Agreement), (v) amended certain financial covenant testing
levels, and (vi) amended the definition of subsu idiary to exclude the Potbelly Employee Relief Fund NFP, an Illinois not-
for-profit corporation.

On May 31, 2022, we entered into Amendment No. 7 (the "Seventh Amendment") to the Former Credit Agreement.
The Seventh Amendment, among other things (i) extended the maturity date under the Credit Agreement from May 31,
2023 to August 31, 2023 and (ii) amended certain financial covenant testing levels.

On September 23, 2022, we entered into Amendment No. 8 (the "Eighth Amendment") to the Former Credit
Agreement. The Eighth Amendment, among other things (i) extended the maturity date under the Former Credit Agreement
from August 31, 2023 to December 31, 2023 and (ii) amended certain financial covenant testing levels.

As of December 31, 2023, we had no amounts outstanding under the Former Credit Agreement due to the payment
in full and termination of our obligations and commitments under the Credit Agreement on Februar ry 7, 2023. As of
December 25, 2022, we had $8.6 million outstanding under the Former Credit Agreement.
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Paycheck Protection Program Loan

On August 10, 2020, PSW, an indirect subsu idiary of ours, entered into a loan agreement with Harvest Small
Business Finance, LLC in the aggregate amount of $10.0 million (the “Loan”), pursuant to the PPP under the CARES Act.
The Loan was necessary to suppu ort our ongoing operations due to the economic uncertainty resulting from the COVID-19
pandemic and lack of access to alternative sources of liquidity.

The Loan was scheduled to mature 5 years from the date on which PSW applies for loan forgiveness under the
CARES Act, bears interest at a rate of 1% per annum and is subju ect to the terms and conditions applicable to loans
administered by the U.S. Small Business Administration ("SBA") under the CARES Act. The PPP provides that the use of
the Loan amount shall be limited to certain qualifyiff ng expenses and may be partially or wholly forgiven in accordance with
the requirements set forth in the CARES Act. We used all of the PPP proceeds toward qualifyiff ng expenses and pursued
forgiveness of the full Loan amount.

On July 12, 2022, we received notificff ation from Harvest Small Business Finance, LLC that the SBA approved our
loan forgiveness application for the entire outstanding principal and accruer d interest under the Loan equaling $10.2 million,
which we recognized as a gain on extinguishment of debt.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations are based on our consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of financial statements in
conforff mity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affeff ct the reported amounts of
assets and liabia lities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabia lities. Actual results could
differ from those estimates. Critical accounting estimates are those that management believes are both most important to
the portrayal of our financial condition and operating results, and require management’s most difficult, subju ective or
complex judgments, ofteff n as a result of the need to make estimates about the effeff ct of matters that are inherently uncertain.
We base our estimates on historical experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonabla e under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabia lities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Judgments and uncertainties affeff cting the application of those policies may result in
materially different amounts being reported under different conditions or using different assumptions. Our significant
accounting policies can be found in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8. We consider the following
estimates to be the most critical in understanding the judgments that are involved in preparing our consolidated financial
statements.

Impaim rmii ent of Long-Lgg ived Assets

We assess potential impairments to our long-lived assets, which includes property and equipment and right-of-use
assets for operating leases, whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverabla e. Assets are grouped at the individual shop-level for purposes of the impairment assessment because a shop
represents the lowest level for which identifiaff bla e cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and
liabia lities. Recoverabia lity of an asset group is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset group to its
forecasted shop cash flows expected to be generated by the asset group. If the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds
its forecasted shop cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset
group exceeds the fair value of the asset group. The fair value of the shop assets is determined using the income approach.
Key inputs to this approach include forecasted shop cash flows, discount rate, and estimated market rent, which are all
classified as Level 3 inputs. Level 3 inputs are derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or
significant value drivers are unobservabla e. We used a weighted average cost of capital to discount the future cash flows. A
100 basis point change in any of these key inputs would not have a material impact on the calculation of an impairment
charge.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Riskii

Potbelly is subju ect to interest rate risk in connection with borrowings under the Term Loan, which bears interest at
variable rates. As of December 31, 2023, $22.2 million remained outstanding under the Term Loan, see Note 9 for more
details. A 100 basis point change in the interest rate would not have a material impact on our financial condition or results
of operations. We currently do not use interest rate derivative instruments to manage our exposure to interest rate
fluctuations.

Commodityii Price Riskii

Potbelly is also exposed to commodity price risks. Many of the food products we purchase are subju ect to changes
in the price and availabia lity of food commodities, including among other things beef,ff poultry,rr grains, dairyrr and produce.
Prices may be affeff cted due to market changes, increased competition, the general risk of commodity inflation, shortages or
interruptu ions in supplu y due to weather, disease or other conditions beyond our control, or other reasons. We work with our
supplu iers and use a mix of forward pricing protocols for certain items under which we agree with supplu iers on fixed prices
for deliveries at some time in the future, fixed pricing protocols under which we agree on a fixed price with the supplu ier for
the duration of that protocol and formula pricing protocols under which the prices we pay are based on a specified formula
related to the prices of the goods, such as spot prices. Our use of any forward pricing arrangements varies subsu tantially
from time to time and these arrangements tend to cover relatively short periods (i.e., typically twelve months or less). We
do not enter into futures contracts or other derivative instruments. Increased prices or shortages could generally affeff ct the
cost and quality of the items we buy or may require us to further raise prices or limit our menu options. These events,
combined with other general economic and demographic conditions, could impact our pricing and negatively affeff ct our
sales and profitff margins. We also could experience shortages of key ingredients if our supplu iers face disruptr ions in their
supplu y chain.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Potbelly Corporation

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Potbelly Corporation and subsu idiaries (the “Company”)
as of December 31, 2023, and December 25, 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations, equity, and cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the
“finff ancial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Company as of December 31, 2023, and December 25, 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conforff mity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Publu ic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria
establa ished in Internal Controt l—In— tegre ated Frameworkrr (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 8, 2024, expressed an unqualifieff d opinion on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonabla e assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedurd es to assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedurd es that respond to those risks. Such procedurd es
included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits
also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonabla e basis for our
opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements
that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts or
disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subju ective, or complex
judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements,
taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the
critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Impaim rmii ent of Long-Lgg ived Assets—Re— fee r to Note 2 and Note 5 to the finaii ncial stattt emtt ents

Critical Audit Matter Descripti ion

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had long-lived assets, which includes property and equipment and right-of-use
assets for operating leases, of $189.5 million. The Company recorded impairment, loss on disposal of property and
equipment and shop closures charges of $3.3 million. Long-lived assets are grouped at the individual shop-level (long-lived
shop assets or asset group) for the purposr e of the impairment assessment. The Company assesses potential impairments
whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverabla e. Recoverabia lity of
an asset group is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset group to its forecasted shop cash flows
expected to be generated by the asset group. If the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds its estimated forecasted shop
cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds the
fair value of the asset group. The fair value of the asset group is determined using the income approach.
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We identifieff d the evaluation of long-lived shop asset impairment as a critical audit matter because the determination of the
forecasted individual shop cash flows, including revenue, cost of goods sold, and labora expenses, requires a high degree of
auditor judgment and increased extent of effoff rt.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addrdd essed in the Audit

Our primary audit procedurd es related to the forecasted individual shop cash flows included the following, among others:

• We tested the effeff ctiveness of controls over the long-lived shop asset impairment assessment, including those over
the forecasted cash flows.

• We assessed the reasonabla eness of management’s forecasted shop cash flows, including revenue, cost of goods
sold and labora expenses, by comparing the forecasts to (1) actuat l results from recent historical periods, (2) internal
communications to management and the Board of Directors, (3) external communications made by management
to analysts and investors, and (4) industryrr data.

• We evaluated the impact of changes to an individual shop’s operating environment and market conditions on
management’s forecasts.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Chicago, Illinois
March 8, 2024

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2005.

54



Potbelly Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(amounts in thousands, except par value data)
December 31,

2023
December 25,

2022

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 33,788 $ 15,619
Accounts receivabla e, net of allowances of $26 and $16 as of December 31, 2023 and December 25, 2022,
respectively 7,960 6,420

Inventories 3,516 3,990

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 7,828 4,501

Total current assets 53,092 30,530

Property and equipment, net 45,087 44,477

Right-of-use assets for operating leases 144,390 160,891

Indefinite-lived intangible assets 3,404 3,404

Goodwill 2,056 2,222
Restricted cash 749 —

Deferred expenses, net and other assets 3,681 3,647

Total assets $ 252,460 $ 245,171

Liabilities and equity

Current liabilities

Accounts payabla e $ 9,927 $ 10,718

Accruerr d expenses 35,377 30,826

Short-term operating lease liabia lities 24,525 27,395

Current portion of long-term debt 1,250 —

Total current liabilities 71,078 68,939

Long-term debt 19,168 8,550

Long-term operating lease liabia lities 142,050 160,968

Other long-term liabia lities 6,070 2,441

Total liabilities 238,367 240,898

Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)

Equity
Common stock, $0.01 par value—authorized 200,000 shares; outstanding 29,364 and 28,819 shares as of
December 31, 2023 and December 25, 2022, respectively 389 384
Warrants 2,219 2,566

Additional paid-in-capital 462,583 455,831
Treasuryrr stock, held at cost, 10,077 and 9,924 shares as of December 31, 2023, and December 25, 2022,
respectively (116,701) (115,388)

Accumulated deficit (333,797) (338,916)

Total stockholders’ equity 14,693 4,477

Non-controlling interest (600) (204)

Total equity 14,093 4,273

Total liabilities and equity $ 252,460 $ 245,171

See accompanying notes to the consolidatdd ed financial statements.
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Potbelly Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(amounts and shares in thousands, except per share data)

Fiscal Year
2023 2022 2021

Revenues
Sandwich shop sales, net $ 482,246 $ 447,901 $ 377,283
Franchise royalties, fees and rental income 9,163 4,072 2,769
Total revenues 491,409 451,973 380,052

Expenses
Sandwich shop operating expenses, excluding depreciation

Food, beverage and packaging costs 133,726 129,151 105,035
Labora and related expenses 143,744 142,095 127,099
Occupau ncy expenses 51,885 54,536 53,821
Other operating expenses 84,363 74,916 63,514

Franchise supporu t, rent and marketing expenses 5,741 694 313
General and administrative expenses 48,496 37,741 31,724
Depreciation expense 12,138 11,890 15,909
Pre-opening costs 115 — —
Gain on Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative activities (2,142) — —
Impairment, loss on disposal of property and equipment and shop
closures 3,338 4,754 5,125
Total expenses 481,403 455,777 402,540
Income (loss) from operations 10,006 (3,804) (22,488)

Interest expense, net 3,281 1,349 963
Loss/(gain) on extinguishment of debt 239 (10,191) —
Income (loss) before income taxes 6,486 5,038 (23,451)
Income tax expense 909 327 172
Net income (loss) 5,577 4,711 (23,623)
Net income attributable to non-controlling interest 458 366 161
Net income (loss) attributable to Potbelly Corporation $ 5,119 $ 4,345 $ (23,784)

Net income (loss) per common share attributable to common
stockholders:

Basic $ 0.18 $ 0.15 $ (0.86)
Diluted $ 0.17 $ 0.15 $ (0.86)

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 29,201 28,625 27,640
Diluted 30,088 29,065 27,640

See accompanying notes to the consolidatdd ed financial statements.
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Potbelly Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(amounts in thousands)
Fiscal Year

2023 2022 2021
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ 5,577 $ 4,711 $ (23,623)
Adjud stments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation expense 12,138 11,890 15,909
Noncash lease expense 25,814 25,792 25,856
Deferred income tax — 18 18
Stock-based compensation expense 5,450 3,265 2,137
Asset impairment, store closure and disposal of property and equipment 1,058 3,651 4,572
Gain on Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative activities (2,202) — —
Loss/(gain) on extinguishment of debt 224 (10,191) —
Amortization of debt issuance costs 482 270 305
Changes in operating assets and liabia lities:
Accounts receivabla e, net (1,580) (387) (1,677)
Inventories 177 (499) (502)
Prepaid expenses and other assets (3,989) (520) 1,083
Accounts payabla e (1,025) 2,239 326
Operating lease liabia lities (30,721) (27,984) (32,932)
Accruerr d expenses and other liabia lities 8,086 221 3,655

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 19,488 12,476 (4,873)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (17,053) (8,426) (9,048)
Proceeds from sales of refranchised shops 6,282 — —

Net cash used in investing activities (10,771) (8,426) (9,048)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings under Term Loan 25,000 — —
Principal payments made for Term Loan (2,838) — —
Borrowings under revolving credit facility 14,600 39,050 38,000
Repayments under revolving credit facility (23,150) (40,350) (34,436)
Payment of debt issuance costs (2,205) (196) (195)
Proceeds from issuance of common shares and warrants, net of fees 961 — 14,839
Proceeds from exercise of stock options — — 219
Employee taxes on certain stock-based payment arrangements (1,312) (813) (1,298)
Distributions to non-controlling interest (854) (475) (189)
Contributions from non-controlling interest — — 208

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 10,202 (2,784) 17,148

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 18,918 1,266 3,227
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period 15,619 14,353 11,126
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 34,537 $ 15,619 $ 14,353

Supplu emental cash flow information:pp
Income taxes paid 278 139 185
Interest paid 3,483 936 608
Supplu emental non-cash investing and financing activities:pp g g
(Loss)/gain on extinguishment of debt and accruerr d interest $ (224) $ 10,191 $ —
Unpaid liabia lity for purchases of property and equipment 1,008 778 460
Unpaid liabia lity for employee taxes on certain stock-based payment arrangements 13 15 13

See accompanying notes to the consolidatdd ed financial statements.
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POTBELLY CORPORATRR ION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(1) Organization and Other Matters

Busineii ss

Potbelly Corporation, a Delaware corporation, together with its subsu idiaries (collectively referred to as “the
Company,” “Potbet lly,” “we,” “us”, or “our”), owns and operates 345 company-operated shops in the United States as of
December 31, 2023. Additionally, Potbelly franchisees operate 79 shops domestically.

Basisii of Presentation

We do not have any components of other comprehensive income recorded within our consolidated financial
statements and thereforff e, do not separately present a statement of comprehensive income in our consolidated financial
statements.

(2) Summary of Significff ant Accounting Policies

(a)a Principlii esll of Consolidll atdd iott n

The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Potbelly; its wholly-owned
subsu idiary, Potbelly Illinois, Inc. (“PII”); PII’s wholly-owned subsu idiaries, Potbelly Franchising, LLC and Potbelly
Sandwich Works, LLC (“PSW”); seven of PSW’s wholly-owned subsu idiaries and PSW’s six joint venturt es, collectively,
the “Company.” All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. For our six
consolidated joint venturt es, "non-controlling interest" represents the non-controlling partner’s share of the assets, liabilities
and operations related to the joint venturt e investments. Potbelly has ownership interests ranging from 51-80% in these
consolidated joint venturt es.

(b)b Reporee ting Period

We use a 52/53-week fiscal year that ends on the last Sunday of the calendar year. Approximately everyrr five or
six years a 53rd week is added. Fiscal year 2023 consists of 53 weeks and fiscal years 2022 and 2021 each consisted of 52
weeks.

(c)c Segme ent Reporee ting

We own and operate Potbelly Sandwich Shop concepts in the United States. We also have domestic franchise
operations of Potbelly Sandwich Shops concepts. Our chief operating decision maker (the “CODM”) is our Chief
Executive Offiff cer. As the CODM reviews financial performance and allocates resources at a consolidated level on a
recurring basis, we have one operating segment and one reportabla e segment.

(d)dd Use of Estimatestt

Preparation of financial statements in conforff mity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (U.S. GAAP) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affeff ct the amounts reported
in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying disclosures. These estimates are based on management's best
knowledge of current events and actions the Company may undertake in the future. Significant estimates are used in
accounting for, among other items, long-lived assets and income taxes. Actual results may ultimately differ from estimates,
although management does not generally believe such differences would materially affeff ct the financial statements in any
individual year.

(e)e Fair Value Measurements

We apply fair value accounting for all financial assets and liabilities and nonfinff ancial assets and liabia lities that are
recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis. Fair value is defined as the price that
would be received from selling an asset or paid to transferff a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. When determining the fair value measurements for assets and liabia lities that are required to be
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recorded at fair value, we assume the highest and best use of the asset by market participants in which we would transact
and the market-based risk measurements or assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liabia lity,
such as inherent risk, transferff restrictions, and credit risk.

We apply the following fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value into three
levels, and bases the categorization within the hierarchy upon the lowest level of input that is availabla e and significant to
the fair value measurement:

• Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabia lities.

• Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabia lities,
quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets, or other inputs that are
observabla e or can be corroborated by observabla e market data for subsu tantially the full term of the assets or
liabia lities.

• Level 3 — Inputs that are both unobservabla e and significant to the overall fair value measurement reflect an
entity’s estimates of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liabia lity.

The following tabla e presents information about our financial assets that were measured at fair value on a recurring basis
and indicates the level of the fair value hierarchy used to determine such fair values:

December 31,
2023

December 25,
2022

Assets - Level 1
Money market funds $ 6,398 $ —
Financial assets measured at fair value on recurring basis $ 6,398 $ —

(f) Finaii ncial Instrutt mentstt

We record all financial instruments at cost, which is the fair value at the date of transaction. The amounts reported
in the consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivabla e, accounts payabla e and all other
current liabia lities approximate their fair value because of the short-term maturities of these instruments.

(g)gg Cash and Cash Equivalentstt

We consider all highly liquid investment instruments with an original maturity of three months or less when
purchased to be cash equivalents. We maintain cash in bank deposit accounts that, at times, may exceed federally insured
limits; however, we have not experienced any losses in these accounts. We believe this cash is not exposed to any
significant credit risk. These are valued within the fair value hierarchy as Level 1 measurements.

(h)h Restritt ctedtt Cash

As of December 31, 2023, we had restricted cash related to funds held in a money market account as collateral for
letters of credit to certain lease agreements.

The reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash presented in the condensed consolidated
balance sheets to the total amount shown in our condensed consolidated statements of cash flows is as follows:

December 31,
2023

December 25,
2022

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 33,788 $ 15,619
Restricted cash, noncurrent 749 —
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown on statement of cash
flows $ 34,537 $ 15,619

(i)i Accountstt Receivable,ll net

Accounts receivable, net consists of amounts owed from credit card processors, customers, third-party deliveryrr
platforms, franchisees, vendors and other miscellaneous receivables.
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(j)jj Inventories

Inventories, which consist of food products, and papea r goods and supplu ies, are valued at the lower of cost (first-in,
first-out) or net realizable value. No adjud stment is deemed necessary to reduce inventoryrr to the lower of cost or net
realizable value due to the rapia d turnover and high utilization of inventory.rr

(k)k Propertytt and Equipmii ent

Property and equipment acquired is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Property and equipment is
depreciated based on the straight-line method over the estimated usefulff lives, generally ranging from three to five years for
furniture and fixturt es, computer equipment, computer software, and machineryrr and equipment. Leasehold improvements
are depreciated over the shorter of their estimated usefulff lives or the related lease life,ff generally 10 to 15 years. For leases
with renewal periods at our option, we determine the expected lease period based on whether the renewal of any options is
reasonabla y assured at the inception of the lease.

Direct costs and expenditures for refurbishments and improvements that significantly add to the productive
capacity or extend the usefulff life of an asset are capitalized, whereas the costs of repairs and maintenance are expensed
when incurred. Capia talized costs are recorded as part of the asset to which they relate, primarily to leasehold
improvements, and such costs are amortized over the asset’s usefulff life.ff When assets are retired or sold, the asset cost and
related accumulated depreciation are removed from the consolidated balance sheet and any gain or loss is recorded in
impairment, loss on disposal of property and equipment and shop closures in the consolidated statement of operations.

(l)ll Goodwill and Indefie niii teii -Lived Intangible Assets

We review goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets, which includes tradenames, annually at fiscal year-end
for impairment or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverabla e. An
impaired asset is written down to its estimated fair value based on the most recent information availabla e. We assess the fair
values of our intangible assets and the fair value of our reporting unit for goodwill using an income-based approach and
market-based approach, respectively. Under the income approach, fair value is based on the present value of estimated
future cash flows. The income approach is dependent on a number of factors, including forecasted revenues and expenses,
appropriate discount rates and other variables. Under the market-based approach, fair value is based on using publicly
availabla e market data, including publicly traded stock prices and total shares outstanding. The annual impairment review
utilizes the estimated fair value of the intangible assets and the overall reporting unit and compares those estimates to the
carrying values as of the testing date. If the carrying value of these intangible assets or the reporting unit exceeds the fair
values, we would then use the fair values to measure the amount of any required impairment charge not to exceed the
respective carrying amount. No impairment charge was recognized for intangible assets or goodwill for any of the fiscal
periods presented.

(m)m Revenue Recogno itiott n

We primarily earn revenue at a point in time for sandwich shop sales which can occur in person at the shop, over
our online or app platforms, or through a third-party platform. Sales taxes collected from customers are excluded from
revenues and the obligation is included in accruer d liabia lities until the taxes are remitted to the appropriate taxing
authorities. We have other revenue-generating activities including franchise revenue, gift card revenue, and loyalty
program revenue.

Franchiseii Royao lties and Fees

We earn an initial franchise fee, a franchise development agreement fee and ongoing royalty fees and supporu t fees
under our franchise agreements. Initial franchise fees are considered highly dependent upon and interrelated with the
franchise right granted in the franchise agreement. As such, these franchise fees are recognized over the contractuat l term of
the franchise agreement. We record a contract liabia lity for the unearned portion of the initial franchise fees. Franchise
development agreement fees represent the exclusivity rights for a geographical area paid by a third party to develop
Potbelly shops for a certain period of time. Franchise development agreement fee payments received by us are recorded in
the consolidated balance sheets as accruer d expenses or other long-term liabia lities, and amortized over the term of the
franchise agreement once the shops are opened. These franchise fees are considered highly dependent upon and interrelated
with the franchise right granted in the franchise agreement. Royalty fees and Brand Fund contributions are based on a
percentage of sales and are recorded as revenue as the fees are earned and become receivabla e from the franchisee. Other
supporu t fees, which primarily include fees for software and technology, are recorded as revenue as the fees are earned and
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the service is provided to the franchisee. Revenue from supporu t fees are recognized gross of the related expenses since we
are the principal in the arrangement to provide those services.

Gifti Card Redemptions / Breakage Revenue

Potbelly sells gift cards to customers, records the sale as a contract liabia lity and recognizes the associated revenue
as the gift card is redeemed. A portion of these gift cards are not redeemed by the customer ("breakage"), which is
recognized as revenue as a percentage of customers gift card redemptions. The expected breakage amount recognized is
determined by a historical data analysis on gift card redemption patterns. We recognize gift card breakage income within
net sandwich shop sales in the consolidated statements of operations.

Loyao lty Program

As of December 31, 2023, we offeff r a customer loyalty program for customers using the Potbelly Perks application
at the point of sale. The customer will typically earn 10 points for everyrr dollar spent, and the customer will earn a free
entrée afteff r earning 1,000 points. Once a customer earns a free entrée, that entrée reward will expire afteff r 30 days. We
defer revenue associated with the estimated selling price of points earned by Potbelly Perks members towards free entrées
as each point is earned, and a corresponding deferred revenue liabia lity is establa ished in accruerr d expenses. The deferral is
based on the estimated value of the unredeemed points and free entrées. The estimated value and the estimated redemption
rates are based on a historical data analysis of loyalty reward redemptions. Estimated breakage is recognized in net shop
sandwich sales in the consolidated statement of operations. When points are redeemed, we recognize revenue for the
redeemed product and reduce accruerr d expenses.

In January 2024, we enhanced our Potbelly Perks program to provide more reward options and flexibility for
members. Members will earn 10 or more coins, the equivalent of points under the legacy program, for everyrr dollar they
spend. The number of coins earned per dollar is dependent on each member's annual spend with Potbelly. Coins can be
redeemed for a variety of items across the Potbelly menu. The coins expire one year afteff r they are earned. We will continue
to defer revenue as Potbelly Perks coins are earned and recognize the revenue upon redemption.

Contrat ct Coststt

Sales commissions earned by internal or external sales personnel for the execution of new franchise agreements
are considered incremental and recoverabla e costs of obtaining a contract with a customer. Sales commissions for new
franchise agreements are capia talized and then amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the franchise agreement,
which is typically eight years.

Development costs incurred for the identification of optimal site selection within a given market assists with the
company's ability to fulfilff l the franchise agreement and such costs are expected to be recovered. These costs are capia talized
if the service performed relates to an executed franchise agreement, in which case the costs are amortized over the term of
the market within the development agreement, which is ofteff n the same eight year term.

(n)n Leases

We determine if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception of the arrangement. We lease retail shops,
warehouse, and offiff ce space under operating leases. Our leases generally have terms of ten years and most include options
to extend the leases for additional five-year periods. For leases with renewal periods at our option, we determine the
expected lease period based on whether the renewal of any options are reasonabla y assured at the inception of the lease.

Operating leases result in the recording a right-of-use asset and lease liabia lity on the consolidated balance sheet.
Right-of-use assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabia lities represent our
obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease assets and liabia lities are recognized at the lease
commencement date, which is the date we take possession of the property. Operating lease liabia lities represent the present
value of lease payments not yet paid. Operating right-of-use assets represent the operating lease liabia lity adjud sted for
prepayments or accruer d lease payments, initial direct costs, lease incentives, and impairment. In determining the present
value of lease payments not yet paid, we estimate our incremental secured borrowing rates corresponding to the maturities
of our leases. We estimate these rates based on prevailing financial market conditions, comparable company and credit
analysis, and management judgment.
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Our leases typically contain rent escalations over the lease term and lease expense is recognized on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. Tenant incentives used to fund leasehold improvements are recognized when earned and reduce
right-of-use assets related to the lease. The tenant incentives are amortized through the right-of-use asset as reductions of
rent expense over the lease term.

We elected a short-term lease exception policy, permitting us to not apply the recognition requirements of
Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 842, Leases, to short-term leases (i.e., leases with terms of 12 months or less)
and an accounting policy to account for lease and non-lease components as a single component for certain classes of assets.

Rental income for operating leases on properties sublu eased to franchisees is recorded to franchise royalties, fees
and rental income in the consolidated statement of operations. We recognize revenue for fixed sublu ease payments, net of
incentives, on a straight-line basis over the term of the sublu ease. We recognize revenue for variable sublu ease payments as
the related service has been transferff red to the sublu essee. Sublu ease income is recognized to the extent that collectability is
probabla e.

(o)o Potbellyll Brand Fund

We maintain the Potbelly Brand Fund (the "Brand Fund") for the purposr e of collecting and administering funds to
be used for advertising, customer research, marketing technology, agencies, and other activities that promote the Potbelly
brand in order to deliver sales at our shops. Company-operated and franchised shops both contribute to the Brand Fund
based on a percentage of sales.

Beginning in the first quarter of fiscal year 2022, we manage these advertising and marketing expenses through
the Brand Fund using the funds contributed by our shops. We manage these funds separately from our general operating
expenses, but we are not obligated to maintain the funds in separate accounts or entities. We may spend more or less in any
fiscal period than the amounts contributed to the Brand Fund, and we may choose to roll over any unused contributions to
the following fiscal period or return them to our shops.

Brand Fund contributions made by company-operated shops are eliminated from the consolidated financial
statements. Franchisee contributions are included within franchise royalties and fees in the condensed consolidated
statements of operations.

Expenses incurred by the Brand Fund are recorded to company-operated and franchised shops based on a
percentage of sales. Company-operated Brand Fund expense is included within other operating expenses in our condensed
consolidated statements of operations. Franchisee Brand Fund expense is presented as franchise marketing expenses in our
condensed consolidated statements of operations. Prior periods have been reclassified to conforff m to the current
presentation of these expenses.

(p)pp Franchise supporu t, rent and marketintt g expexx nses

Franchise supporu t, rent and marketing expenses include Brand Fund, information technology, supplu y chain,
occupau ncy and operations expenses for franchised shops. Other than occupau ncy, these expenses are expensed as incurred.
Occupau ncy expenses are recognized consistent with our lease policy described above.

(q)qq Stoctt k-Ba- sed Compensation

We account for stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718, Stock Based Compensation. We record
stock-based compensation expense, net of forfeitures, on a straight-line basis over the vesting period based on the grant-
date fair value of the awards, which is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing valuation model for stock options
and the quoted share price of Potbelly’s common stock on the date of grant for restricted stock units (“RSUs”). We record
stock-based compensation expense within general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

We award performance share units (“PSUs”) to eligible employees which are subju ect to service and market
vesting conditions. The PSUs will vest based on the terms defined in each award, which may include our common stock
achieving certain price targets or based on its relative performance versus the Russell 3000 Travel & Leisure Index. Refer
to Note 13 for more details regarding our Equity Plans.
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(r)r Pre-openingii Coststt

Pre-opening costs consist of costs incurred prior to opening a new shop and are made up primarily of travel,
employee payroll and training costs incurred prior to the shop opening, as well as occupau ncy costs incurred from when we
take site possession to shop opening. Shop pre-opening costs are expensed as incurred.

(s)s Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiatt tive

On March 2, 2022, we announced our Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative, which included a plan to grow
our franchise units domestically through multi-unit shop development area agreements, which may include refranchising
certain company-operated shops. Deals for refranchised shops typically include cash consideration for the sale of the
current shops as well as development agreement fees for commitments to develop new shops to fully penetrate existing
markets. On an ongoing basis, we collect additional cash consideration for royalties and lease payments.

All gains and losses recognized on sales of shops and other expenses incurred to execute a refranchising
transaction are included in gain on Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative activities in the condensed consolidated
statement of operations. Development agreement fees received are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets as accruer d
expenses or other long-term liabia lities, and amortized over the term of the franchise agreement once the shops are opened.
For the year to date ended December 31, 2023, we completed refranchising transactions under the Franchise Growth
Acceleration Initiative that resulted in the sale of 33 company-operated shops and commitments to develop 77 additional
shops. Further details on the impact of these transactions on our financial statements are described in Note 10.

(t)t Impaim rmii ent of Long-Lgg ived Assets

We assess potential impairments of our long-lived assets, which include property and equipment and right-of-use
assets for operating leases, whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverabla e. Assets are grouped at the individual shop-level for the purposrr es of the impairment assessment because a shop
represents the lowest level for which identifiaff bla e cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and
liabia lities. Recoverabia lity of an asset group is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset group to its
estimated forecasted shop cash flows expected to be generated by the asset group. If the carrying amount of the asset group
exceeds its estimated forecasted shop cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized as the amount by which the carryirr ng
amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset group in the impairment, loss on disposal of property and equipment
and shop closures in the consolidated statement of operations. The fair value of the shop assets is determined using the
income approach. Key inputs to this approach include forecasted shop cash flows, discount rate, and estimated market rent,
which are all classified as Level 3 inputs. See “Fair Value Measurements” above for a definition of Level 3 inputs.

Assets recognized or disclosed at fair value on the consolidated financial statements on a nonrecurring basis
included items such as leasehold improvements, property and equipment, right-of-use assets for operating leases, goodwill,
and other intangible assets. These assets are measured at fair value if determined to be impaired.

(u)u Income Taxeaa s

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabia lities are
attributed to differences between financial statement and income tax reporting. Deferred tax assets, net of any valuation
allowances, represent the future tax return consequences of those differences and for operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards, which will be deductible when the assets are recovered. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation
allowance if it is deemed more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. In making this
assessment of the realizability of deferred tax assets, we consider all positive and negative evidence as to whether it is more
likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred
tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxabla e income during the periods in which those temporaryrr
differences become deductible. We consider the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabia lities, projected future taxabla e
income, and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Deferred tax liabia lities are recognized for temporaryrr
differences that will be taxabla e in future years’ tax returns.

We account for uncertain tax positions under current accounting guidance, which prescribes a minimum
probabia lity threshold that a tax position must meet before a financial statement benefit is recognized. The minimum
threshold is defined as a tax position that is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by tax authorities, based
on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefit to be recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefit that is
greater than fifty percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement.
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(v)v Recent Accountintt g Pronouncements

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standard Board (FASB) issued guidance to expand annual and
interim disclosure requirements for reportabla e segments, primarily through additional disclosures on segment expenses. We
will adopt the accounting guidance in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 29, 2024. We do not
anticipate the updated standard will have a material impact on our financial statement disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued guidance to enhance transparency of income tax disclosures. The updated
guidance requires additional disclosures on income tax rate reconciliation and income taxes paid, among other things. We
will adopt the accounting guidance in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 27, 2025. We are
currently evaluating the impact that the updated standard will have on our financial statement disclosures.

(3) Revenue

Revenue recognized from all revenue sources on point in time sales was $489.2 million, $450.9 million and
$379.3 million for the fiscal years 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Revenue recognized from sales over time was $2.2
million, $1.1 million and $0.8 million for the fiscal years 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

We recognized gift card breakage income of $0.9 million, $0.7 million and $0.2 million for the fiscal years ended
2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively, which is recorded within net sandwich shop sales in the consolidated statements of
operations.

Contratt ct Liabilitii iett s

As described in Note 2, we record current and noncurrent contract liabia lities in accruerr d expenses and other long-
term liabia lities, respectively, for initial franchise fees, gift cards, and loyalty programs. We have no other contract liabilities
or contract assets recorded. The opening and closing balances of our current and noncurrent contract liabia lities from
contracts with customers were as follows:

Current
Contract
Liability

(Thousands)

Noncurrent
Contract
Liability

(Thousands)

Beginning balance as of December 25, 2022 $ 7,008 $ 1,677
Ending balance as of December 31, 2023 8,028 4,397
Increase in contract liability $ 1,020 $ 2,720

The aggregate value of remaining performance obligations on outstanding contracts was $12.4 million as of
December 31, 2023. The overall increase in the liabia lity during fiscal year 2023 was a result of new franchise development
agreements, purchases of new gift cards and a net increase in the loyalty program liabia lity, partially offsff et by amortization
of initial franchise fees and gift card redemptions and breakage. We expect to recognize revenue related to contract
liabia lities as follows (in thousands), which may vary based upon franchise activity, and gift card and loyalty program
redemption patterns:

Years Ending Amount

2024 $ 6,375
2025 1,176
2026 877
2027 859
2028 398
Thereafteff r 2,740
Total revenue recognized $ 12,425

For fiscal year 2023, the amount of revenue recognized related to the December 25, 2022 liability ending balance
was $4.7 million. For fiscal year 2022, the amount of revenue recognized related to the December 26, 2021 liability ending
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balance was $2.5 million. This revenue related to gift card and loyalty program redemptions and recognition of initial
franchise fees. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 25, 2022, we did not recognize any revenue from
obligations satisfieff d (or partially satisfied) in prior periods.

Contratt ct Coststt

Deferred contract costs, which include sales commissions and site mappia ng fees, totaled $0.9 million as of
December 31, 2023. Amortization expense for deferred costs was $0.1 million for fiscal year 2023. No contract costs were
capitalized or amortized in fiscal year 2022. There was no impairment loss in relation to the costs capitalized for the
periods presented.

(4) Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic and diluted income (loss) per common share attributable to common stockholders are calculated using the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted income (loss) per common share
attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the income (loss) allocated to common stockholders by the
weighted average number of fully diluted common shares outstanding. In periods of a net loss, no potential common shares
are included in diluted shares outstanding as the effeff ct is anti-dilutive. For fiscal year 2021, we had a loss per share,
thereforff e, potentially dilutive shares were excluded from the calculation.

The following tabla e summarizes the earnings (loss) per share calculation (in thousands, except per share
information):

Fiscal Year
2023 2022 2021

Net income (loss) attributable to Potbelly Corporation $ 5,119 $ 4,345 $ (23,784)
Weighted average common shares outstanding-basic 29,201 28,625 27,640
Plus: Effeff ct of potentially dilutive stock-based compensation awards 490 414 —
Plus: Effeff ct of potential warrant exercise 397 26 —
Weighted average common shares outstanding-diluted 30,088 29,065 27,640
Income (loss) per share availabla e to common stockholders-basic $ 0.18 $ 0.15 $ (0.86)
Income (loss) per share availabla e to common stockholders-diluted $ 0.17 $ 0.15 $ (0.86)
Potentially dilutive shares that are considered anti-dilutive:y
Shares 367 618 1,951

(5) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2023

December 25,
2022

Leasehold improvements $ 140,203 $ 149,375
Machineryrr and equipment 45,372 47,481
Furniture and fixturt es 30,614 32,590
Computer equipment and software 37,769 37,710
Construcr tion in progress 3,322 864
Property and equipment, gross 257,280 268,020
Less: Accumulated depreciation (212,193) (223,543)
Property and equipment, net $ 45,087 $ 44,477

We recognized $0.5 million, $0.5 million and $2.4 million in 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, of losses on
disposal of property and equipment in impairment, loss on disposal of property and equipment and shop closures in the
consolidated statement of operations, primarily related to closures of company-operated shops.
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(6) Accrued Expenses

Accruer d expenses consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2023

December 25,
2022

Accruer d labora and related expenses $ 12,778 $ 13,451
Deferred revenue 4,057 3,345
Gift card liabia lity 3,972 3,630
Accruer d marketing 2,904 635
Accruer d occupau ncy and utilities 2,410 2,448
Accruer d sales and use tax 2,135 1,732
Accruer d liabia lity insurance 2,039 1,654
Other accruerr d expenses $ 5,082 $ 3,931
Total $ 35,377 $ 30,826

We incur expenses associated with exit activity for certain signed lease agreements, which are recognized in
impairment, loss on disposal of property and equipment and shop closures in the consolidated statement of operations.
Accruer d contract termination costs consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2023

December 25,
2022

Accruer d contract termination costs—be— ginning balance $ — $ —
Contract termination costs incurred 458 153
Contract termination costs settled and paid (458) (153)
Accruer d contract termination costs—ending balance $ — $ —

(7) Income Taxes

Income (loss) before income taxes for our domestic operations was as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year
2023 2022 2021

Domestic operations $ 6,486 $ 5,038 $ (23,451)

Income tax expense (benefitff ) consisted of the following (in thousands):

scal Year
2023 2022 2021

Federal:
Current $ 38 $ — $ —
Deferred 22 (14) (150)

60 (14) (150)
State and Local:
Current 782 399 161
Deferred 68 (58) 161

849 341 322
Income tax expense $ 909 $ 327 $ 172
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Income tax expense (benefitff ) differff ed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal income tax rates to
income (loss) before income taxes as a result of the following (in thousands):

Fiscal Year
2023 2022 2021

U.S. federal statutt oryrr tax 21.0% 21.0% 21.0%
Computed “expected” tax expense/(benefit)ff $ 1,266 $ 981 $ (4,959)
Increase (reduction) resulting from:
Valuation allowance (1,526) 2,280 5,456
Rate change impact of net operating loss carryback — — —
Minority interest 96 77 34
Permanent differences 805 (1,755) 1,004
State and local income taxes, net of federal income tax effeff ct 793 (287) (730)
FICA and other tax credits (297) (559) (592)
Equity compensation 159 (43) (237)
Other — — —
Tax rate change (387) (367) 196

Income tax expense $ 909 $ 327 $ 172

The tax effeff cts of temporaryrr differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and
liabia lities reflected in the consolidated balance sheets are presented below (in thousands):

December 31,
2023

December 25,
2022

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 20,542 $ 22,566
Accruer d liabia lities 2,625 1,838
Deferred revenue 1,944 514
Stock-based compensation 1,378 1,330
Property and equipment 3,290 3,380
Operating lease liabia lities 43,799 49,802
Other 226 —
Tax credits and other carryforwards 2,794 3,761
Gross deferred tax assets 76,598 83,191
Valuation allowance (35,439) (37,210)
Net deferred tax assets 41,159 45,981

Deferred tax liabia lities:
Prepaids (477) (351)
Right-of-use asset for operating leases (39,179) (43,818)
Intangible assets (1,377) (1,371)
Smallwares (400) (458)
Other — (169)
Total deferred tax liabilities (41,433) (46,167)

Net deferred tax liabilities $ (274) $ (186)

We recorded deferred tax assets related to federal and state income tax net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards
of approximately $20.5 million and $22.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 25, 2022,
respectively. The federal NOL, and a portion of the state NOLs, can be carried forward indefinitely, although certain
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jurisdictions, including federal and numerous states, limit NOL carryforwards to a percentage of current year taxabla e
income.

We regularly assesses the need for a valuation allowance related to our deferred tax assets, which includes
consideration of both positive and negative evidence related to the likelihood of realization of such deferred tax assets to
determine, based on the weight of the availabla e evidence, whether it is more-likely-than-not that some or all of our deferred
tax assets will not be realized. In our assessment, we considered recent financial operating results, projected future taxabla e
income, the reversal of existing taxabla e differences, and tax planning strategies. We recorded a full valuation allowance
against our net deferred tax assets during the first quarter of 2019, resulting in a non-cash charge to income tax expense of
$13.6 million. We assess the likelihood of the realization of our deferred tax assets each quarter and the valuation
allowance is adjud sted accordingly. We continued to maintain a valuation allowance against all of our deferred tax assets
based on our assessment as of December 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2023 and December 25, 2022, we have a valuation
allowance related to our deferred tax assets of $35.4 million and $37.2 million, respectively.

Given the recent trend in our earnings and forecasted future earnings, we believe there is a reasonabla e possibility
that sufficient positive evidence may become availabla e in the next several quarters to conclude that all or a portion of the
valuation allowance will no longer be needed. This would result in the recognition of deferred tax assets on our
consolidated balance sheet and a decrease to tax expense on our consolidated statement of operations in the period when
the release is recorded. However, the exact timing and amount of any valuation allowance releases are subju ect to change
based on the earnings achieved in future periods.

In accordance with our accounting policy, we recognize accruer d interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax
benefits as a component of income tax expense. As of December 31, 2023 and December 25, 2022, we had no interest or
penalties accruerr d. As of December 31, 2023 and December 25, 2022, we had no uncertain tax positions.

The tax years prior to 2017 are generally closed for examination by the United States Internal Revenue Service
("IRS"). However, certain of these tax years are open for examination as a result of net operating losses generated in these
years and utilized in subsu equent years. Our last IRS examination was for the 2014 tax year; no IRS audits are currently
ongoing. State statutt es are generally open for audit for the 2016 to 2022 tax years.

(8) Leases

We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception of the arrangement. We lease retail shops and warehouse
and offiff ce space under operating leases. Our leases generally have terms of ten years and most include options to extend
the leases for additional five-year periods. For leases with renewal periods at our option, we determine the expected lease
period based on whether the renewal of any options are reasonabla y assured at the inception of the lease. In addition, we
lease certain properties from third parties that we sublu ease to franchisees. We remain primarily liabla e to the landlord for the
performance of all obligations in the event that the sublu essee does not perform its obligations under the lease. All of our
sublu eases are classified as operating leases with fixed and variable income.

Lessee Discii losures

The gains and losses recognized upon lease terminations are recorded in impairment, loss on disposal of property
and equipment and shop closures in the consolidated statement of operations. The right-of use assets, liabilities and gains/
losses recognized upon termination of lease contracts were as follows (in thousands, except for shop figures):

Fiscal Year Ended
December 31,

2023
December 25,

2022

Leases terminated 2 3
Lease termination fees $ 458 $ 75
Right-of-use assets derecognized upon lease termination 571 505
Lease liabia lities derecognized upon lease termination 941 663
Gain/(loss) recognized upon lease termination $ (89) $ 158
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Operating lease term and discount rate were as follows:

December 31,
2023

December 25,
2022

Weighted average remaining lease term (years) 6.18 6.68
Weighted average discount rate 9.04% 8.26%

Certain of our operating lease agreements include variable payments that are passed through by the landlord, such
as common area maintenance and real estate taxes, as well as variable payments based on percentage rent for certain of our
shops. Pass-through charges and payments based on percentage rent are included within variable lease cost.

The components of lease cost were as follows (in thousands), which are included in occupau ncy, general and
administrative and franchise suppu ort, rent and marketing expense:

Fiscal Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 25, 2022

Operating lease cost $ 40,604 $ 40,214
Variable lease cost 15,082 13,905
Short-term lease cost 313 312
Total lease cost $ 55,998 $ 54,431

Supplu emental disclosures of cash flow information relating to leases is as follows (in thousands):
Fiscal Year Ended

December 31,
2023

December 25,
2022

Operating cash flows rent paid for operating lease liabilities $ 45,846 $ 42,658
Operating right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabia lities 12,286 23,263
Reducd tion in operating right-of-use assets due to lease terminations and modifications $ 1,799 $ 1,876

Maturities of lease liabilities were as follows at December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Operating Leases

2024 $ 38,793
2025 39,748
2026 36,216
2027 30,360
2028 23,714
Thereafteff r 52,725
Total lease payments 221,557
Less: imputed interest (54,982)
Present value of lease liabia litie $s 166,575

Lessor Discii losures

We recognized $2.9 million in franchise rental income in fiscal year 2023, which is included in franchise royalties,
fees and rental income in the condensed statement of operations. No franchise rental income was recognized in fiscal year
2022. During fiscal year 2023, we incurred $3.0 million in expenses associated with these leases, which are included in
franchise supporu t, rent and marketing expenses in the condensed consolidated statement of operations from the inception of
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the related sublu ease agreements. The components of lease income were as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended

December 31,
2023

December 25,
2022

Number of sublu ease 3s 3 0

Operating lease income $ 2,139 $ —
Variable lease income $ 806 $ —
Franchise rental income $ 2,945 $ —

Future expected fixed sublu ease payments from franchisees to Potbelly were as follows at December 31, 2023 (in
thousands):

Operating Leases

2024 $ 3,599
2025 3,530
2026 3,078
2027 2,095
2028 1,704
Thereafteff r 3,687
Total sublu ease payments $ 17,693

(9) Debt and Credit Facilities

The components of long-term debt were as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2023

December 25,
2022

Term loan credit facility $ 22,162 $ —
Unamortized debt issuance costs (1,744) —
Revolving credit facility — 8,550
Less: current portion of long-term debt (1,250) —
Total long-term debt $ 19,168 $ 8,550

Term Loan

On Februarr ry 7, 2023 (the “Closing Date”), we entered into a credit and guaranty agreement (the “Term Loan
Credit Agreement”) with Sagard Holdings Manager LP as administrative agent (the “Administrative Agent”). The Term
Loan Credit Agreement provides for a term loan facility with an aggregate commitment of $25 million (the “Term Loan”).
Concurrent with entryrr into the Term Loan Credit Agreement, we repaid in full and terminated the obligations and
commitments under our existing senior secured credit facility (the “Former Credit Facility”). Upon termination of the
Former Credit Facility, we recognized a loss on extinguishment of debt of $0.2 million. The remaining proceeds from the
Term Loan were used to pay related transaction fees and expenses, and for general corporate purposr es.

The Term Loan Credit Agreement is scheduled to mature on Februar ry 7, 2028. We are required to make principal
payments equal to 1.25% of the initial principal of the Term Loan on the last business day of each fiscal quarter. If not
previously paid, any remaining principal balance must be repaid on the maturity date.

Loans under the Term Loan Credit Agreement will initially bear interest, at the Company’s option, at either the
term SOFR plus 9.25% per annum or base rate plus 8.25% per annum.

As of December 31, 2023, the effeff ctive interest rate was 15.63%.
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We may prepay the Term Loan in agreed-uponu minimum principal amounts, subju ect to prepayment fees equal to
(a) if the prepayment occurs on or prior to the one (1) year anniversaryrr of the Closing Date, a customaryrr make-whole
amount plus 3.00% of the outstanding principal balance of the Term Loan, (b) if the prepayment occurs afteff r such one (1)
year anniversaryrr and prior to the two (2) year anniversaryrr of the Closing Date, 3.00% of the outstanding principal balance
of the Term Loan, (c) if the prepayment occurs afteff r such second anniversaryrr of the Closing Date and prior to the three (3)
year anniversaryrr of the Closing Date 1.00% of the outstanding principal balance of the Term Loan and (d) thereafteff r, no
prepayment fee.

Subju ect to certain customaryrr exceptions, obligations under the Term Loan Credit Agreement are guaranteed by the
Company and all of the Company’s current and future wholly-owned material domestic subsu idiaries and are secured by a
first-priority security interest in subsu tantially all of the assets of the Company and its subsu idiary guarantors.

The Term Loan Credit Agreement contains customaryrr representations and affiff rmative and negative covenants.
Among other things, these covenants restrict the Company’s and certain of its subsu idiaries’ ability to incur indebtedness,
make certain investments, pay dividends or repurchase stock, and make dispositions and acquisitions. In addition, the Term
Loan Credit Agreement requires that the Company and its wholly-owned subsu idiaries maintain certain total net leverage
ratios as set forth in the Term Loan Credit Agreement, an average liquidity amount that shall not be less than $10 million,
maximum capia tal expenditures per year and fixed charge coverage ratios each as set forth in the Term Loan Credit
Agreement.

The Term Loan Credit Agreement also contains customaryrr events of default. If an event of default occurs, the
Administrative Agent and lenders are entitled to take various actions, including the acceleration of amounts due under the
Term Loan Credit Agreement, termination of commitments thereunder and all other actions permitted to be taken by a
secured creditor.

In connection with entering into the Term Loan Credit Agreement, we paid $2.2 million in debt issuance costs, all
of which were capia talized. During the quarter and year to date ended December 31, 2023, we amortized $0.1 million and
$0.3 million of debt issuance costs, respectively, using the effeff ctive interest method, which is included in interest expense
in the condensed consolidated statement of operations. As of December 31, 2023, we had $24.1 million outstanding under
the Credit Agreement. We are currently in compliance with all financial debt covenants.

On Februarr ry 7, 2024, we repaid in full and terminated the obligations and commitments under the Term Loan
Credit Agreement. Refer to Note 15 for additional information related to this transaction.

Former Credit Facility

On August 7, 2019, we entered into a second amended and restated revolving credit facility agreement (the
"Former Credit Agreement") with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (“JPMorgan”). The Former Credit Agreement amends and
restates that certain amended and restated revolving credit facility agreement, dated as of December 9, 2015, and amended
on May 3, 2019 (collectively, the "Prior Credit Agreement") with JPMorgan. The Former Credit Agreement provided,
among other things, for a revolving credit facility in a maximum principal amount $40 million, with possible future
increases of up to $20 million under an expansion featurt e. Borrowings under the credit facility generally bear interest at our
option at either (i) a eurocurrency rate determined by reference to the applicable LIBOR rate plus a specified margin or (ii)
a prime rate as announced by JP Morgan plus a specified margin. The applicable margin was determined based upon our
consolidated total leverage ratio. On the last day of each calendar quarter, we were required to pay a commitment fee of
0.20% per annum in respect of any unused commitments under the credit facility. So long as certain total leverage ratios,
EBITDA thresholds and minimum liquidity requirements are met and no default or event of default has occurred or would
result, there was no limit on the “restricted payments” (primarily distributions and equity repurchases) that we may make,
provided that proceeds of the loans under the Former Credit Agreement may not be used for purposr es of making restricted
payments.

As disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 26, 2021, we subsu equently
amended the Former Credit Agreement during fiscal years 2020 and 2021. The Former Credit Agreement provides for a
revolving credit facility in a maximum principal amount of $25 million.

On January 28, 2022, we entered into Amendment No. 6 (the "Sixth Amendment") to the Former Credit
Agreement. The Sixth Amendment, among other things, (i) extended the maturity date under the Former Credit Agreement
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from January 31, 2023 to May 31, 2023, (ii) changed the benchmark interest rates under the Former Credit Agreement for
borrowings from the London Interbank Offeff red Rate (LIBOR) to the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) subju ect to
certain adjud stments in the Sixth Amendment, (iii) increased the interest rate margin by 75 basis points with respect to any
CBFR Loan (as defined in the Former Credit Agreement), (iv) sets the interest rate margin at 600 basis points with respect
to any Term Benchmark Loan (as defined in the Former Credit Agreement), (v) amended certain financial covenant testing
levels, and (vi) amended the definition of subsu idiary to exclude the Potbelly Employee Relief Fund NFP, an Illinois not-
for-profit corporation.

On May 31, 2022, we entered into Amendment No. 7 (the "Seventh Amendment") to the Former Credit Agreement.
The Seventh Amendment, among other things (i) extended the maturity date under the Credit Agreement from May 31,
2023 to August 31, 2023 and (ii) amended certain financial covenant testing levels.

On September 23, 2022, we entered into Amendment No. 8 (the "Eighth Amendment") to the Former Credit
Agreement. The Eighth Amendment, among other things (i) extended the maturity date under the Former Credit Agreement
from August 31, 2023 to December 31, 2023 and (ii) amended certain financial covenant testing levels.

As of December 31, 2023, we had no amounts outstanding under the Former Credit Agreement due to the payment
in full and termination of our obligations and commitments under the Credit Agreement on Februar ry 7, 2023. As of
December 25, 2022, we had $8.6 million outstanding under the Former Credit Agreement.

On Februarr ry 7, 2023, we repaid in full and terminated the obligations and commitments under the Former Credit
Agreement.

((1 )0) Franc ihise GGrowth Acceleratiion Iniitiia itive

The following is a summaryrr of the refranchising activities recorded as a result of the Franchise Growth Acceleration
Initiative during the year ended December 31, 2023:

cember 31, 2023 December 25, 2022

Number of shops sold to franchises 33 0

Proceeds from sales of company-operated shops $ 6,433 $ —
Net assets sold (3,563) —
Goodwill related to the company-operated shops sold to franchisees (166) —
Gain on sale of company-operated shops, net 2,705 —

Adjud stment to recognize held-for-sale assets at fair value (503) —
Other expenses(a) (60) —
Gain on Franchise Growth Acceleration Initiative activities $ 2,142 $ —

______________________________
(a) These costs primarily include profesff sional service fees and travel expenses incurred to execute the refranchising transaction

(11) Capital Stock

As of December 31, 2023 and December 25, 2022, we had authorized an aggregate of 210 million shares of
capital stock, of which 200 million shares were designated as common stock and 10 million shares were designated as
preferff red stock. As of December 31, 2023, we had issued and outstanding 38.7 million and 29.4 million shares of common
stock, respectively. As of December 25, 2022, we had issued and outstanding 38.7 million and 28.8 million shares of
common stock, respectively.

Common Stock

On May 8, 2018, we announced that our Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program for up to $65.0
million of its outstanding common stock. The program permits us, from time to time, to purchase shares in the open market
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(including in pre-arranged stock trading plans in accordance with the guidelines specified in Rule 10b5-1 under the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) or in privately negotiated transactions. The number of common shares
actually repurchased, and the timing and price of repurchases, will depend upon market conditions, SEC requirements and
other factors. Purchases may be started or stopped at any time without prior notice depending on market conditions and
other factors. We did not repurchase any shares of our common stock during 2023. We do not have plans to repurchase any
common stock under its stock repurchase program at this time. As of December 31, 2023, the remaining dollar value of
authorization under the share repurchase program was $37.9 million, which includes commission. Repurchased shares are
included as treasuryrr stock in the consolidated balance sheets and the consolidated statements of equity.

On Februarr ry 9, 2021, we closed on a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “SPA”) for the sale by us of 3,249,668
shares of our common stock at a par value of $0.01 per share and the issuance of warrants to purchase 1,299,861 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $5.45 per warrant for gross proceeds of $16.0 million, before deducting placement
agent fees and offeff ring expenses of approximately $1.0 million. The warrants are initially exercisabla e commencing August
13, 2021 through their expiration date of August 12, 2026. The proceeds received from the SPA were allocated between
shares and warrants based on their relative fair values at closing. The warrants were valued utilizing the Black-Scholes
method. In fiscal year 2023, 176,272 warrants were exercised at the exercise price of $5.45 per warrant. As of
December 31, 2023, we had 1,123,589 warrants outstanding that are exercisabla e through August 12, 2026.

On November 3, 2021, we entered into a certain Equity Sales Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with William
Blair & Company, L.L.C., as agent (“William Blair”) pursuant to which we may sell shares of our common stock having an
aggregate offeff ring price of up to $40.0 million (the “Shares”), from time to time, in our sole discretion, through an “at the
market” equity offeff ring program under which William Blair will act as sales agent. As of March 8, 2024, we have not sold
any shares under the sales agreement.

(12) Employee Benefit Plan

We sponsor a 401(k) profitff sharing plan for all employees who are eligible based upon age and length of service.
We made matching contributions of $0.6 million, $0.9 million, and $0.3 million for fiscal years 2023, 2022 and 2021,
respectively, which are recorded in labora and related expenses and general and administrative expenses in the consolidated
statement of operations.

(13) Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-Based Compensation Granted Under the 2019 Long-Term Incentive Planl

Stock options and restricted stock units are awarded under the 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2019 Plan”)
to eligible employees and certain non-employee members of the Board of Directors. The 2019 Plan gives broad powers to
our Board of Directors to administer and interpret the 2019 Plan, including the authority to select the individuals to be
granted equity awards and rights and to prescribe the particular form and conditions of each equity award to be granted.

On May 16, 2019, our stockholders approved the 2019 Plan and, in connection therewith, all equity awards made
afteff r that date were made under the 2019 Plan. On June 10, 2019, we registered 1.2 million shares of our common stock
reserved for issuance under the 2019 Plan. The Amended and Restated 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2013 Plan”)
had 0.6 million remaining shares of common stock reserved for issuance, which are availabla e for issuance under the 2019
Plan and no future awards will be made under the 2013 Plan. On June 24, 2020 and May 18, 2023, the 2019 Plan was
amended and restated effeff ctive to increase the number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance by 0.9 million
and 1.1 million shares, respectively, for a total of 3.2 million shares. As of December 31, 2023, there have been 6.5 million
shares of restricted stock units and performance stock units granted under the 2019 Plan. As of December 31, 2023, there
are 1.4 million shares reserved for future issuance.

Stock Options

Under the Plans, the number of shares and exercise price of each option are determined by the committee designated
by our Board of Directors. The options granted are generally exercisabla e within a 10-year period from the date of grant. We
award options to certain employees including the senior leadership team. Options outstanding expire on various dates
through the year 2028. The range of exercise prices for options outstanding as of December 31, 2023 is $10.59 to $20.53
per option, and the options generally vest in one-fourth and one-fifff thff increments over four and five-year periods,
respectively.

A summary of stock option activity is as follows:
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Options
Shares

(Thousands)

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

(Thousands)

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Term
(Years)

Outstanding—December 27, 2020 1,233 $ 10.68 $ — 2.49
Granted — —
Exercised (31) 7.24
Canceled (664) 9.75

Outstanding—December 26, 2021 538 $ 12.03 $ — 2.35
Granted — —
Exercised — —
Canceled (65) 10.65

Outstanding—December 25, 2022 473 $ 12.22 $ — 1.46
Granted — —
Exercised — —
Canceled (351) 11.70

Outstanding—December 31, 2023 122 $ 13.71 $ — 1.44
Exercisabla e—December 31, 2023 122 $ 13.71 $ — 1.44

There were no stock option grants in 2023, 2022, or 2021.

Stock-based compensation related to stock options is measured at the grant date based on the calculated fair value
of the award, and is recognized as expense over the requisite employee service period, which is generally the vesting period
of the grant with a corresponding increase to additional paid-in capital. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and
December 25, 2022, we did not recognize any stock based compensation expense for stock options. As of December 31,
2023, we do not have unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to stock options.

Restrit cted stock units

We award RSUs to certain employees and certain non-employee members of our Board of Directors. Grants of
RSUs to our Board of Directors fully vest on the first anniversaryrr of the grant date, or upon termination from the Board of
Directors for any reason other than for cause, a pro rata portion of the shares vest on the termination date. The employee
grants generally vest in one-third increments over a three-year period.

A summaryrr of RSU activity is as follows:
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Us
Number of RSUs
(Thousands)

Weighted
Average

Fair Value per
Share

Non-vested as of December 27, 2020 994 $ 3.35
Granted 649 6.16
Vested (479) 7.05
Canceled (13) 3.50

Non-vested as of December 26, 2021 1,151 $ 4.87
Granted 498 6.11
Vested (693) 5.77
Canceled (48) 5.90

Non-vested as of December 25, 2022 908 $ 4.25
Granted 612 7.46
Vested (630) 5.63
Canceled (89) 6.98

Non-vested as of December 31, 2023 801 $ 7.18

For the years ended December 31, 2023, December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021, we recognized stock-based
compensation expense related to RSUs of $4.2 million, $2.7 million and $1.6 million, respectively. As of December 31,
2023, unrecognized stock-based compensation expense for RSUs was $4.2 million, which will be recognized though fiscal
year 2026.

Perforff mance stock units

We award PSUs to certain employees. The PSUs have certain vesting conditions based upon our stock price and
relative stock performance.

Because these PSUs are subju ect to service and market vesting conditions, we determine the fair market value of
each grant using a Monte Carlo simulation model. Participants are entitled to receive a specified number of shares of our
common stock contingent on achievement of a stock return on our common stock. For the years ended December 31, 2023,
December 25, 2022 and December 26, 2021, we recognized stock-based compensation expense related to PSUs with
market vesting conditions of $1.3 million, $0.6 million and $0.5 million, respectively.

A summaryrr of activity for PSUs with market vesting conditions is as follows:

PSUs
Number of PSUs
(Thousands)

Weighted
Average

Fair Value per
Share

Non-Vested as of December 26, 2021 130 $ 8.43
Granted 145 $ 10.15
Vested — $ —
Canceled — $ —

Non-vested as of December 25, 2022 275 $ 9.34
Granted 297 9.45
Vested (18) 4.30
Canceled (40) 9.25

Non-vested as of December 31, 2023 513 $ 9.59

(14) Commitments and Contingencies

We are subju ect to legal proceedings, claims and liabia lities, such as employment-related claims and slip and fall
cases, which arise in the ordinary course of business and are generally covered by insurance. We accruerr for such liabia lities
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when it is probabla e that future costs will be incurred and such costs can be reasonabla y estimated. Such accruarr ls are based
on developments to date, our estimates of the outcomes of these matters and its experience in contesting, litigating and
settling other similar matters. In the opinion of management, the amount of ultimate liabia lity with respect to those actions
should not have a material adverse impact on our financial position or results of operations and cash flows.

Many of the food products we purchase are subju ect to changes in the price and availabia lity of food commodities,
including, among other things, beef,ff poultry,rr grains, dairyrr and produce. We work with our supplu iers and uses a mix of
forward pricing protocols for certain items including agreements with its supplu ier on fixed prices for deliveries at a time in
the future and agreements on a fixed price with our supplu ier for the duration of those protocols. We also utilize formula
pricing protocols under which the prices we pay are based on a specifieff d formula related to the prices of the goods, such as
spot prices. Our use of any forward pricing arrangements varies subsu tantially from time to time and these arrangements
tend to cover relatively short periods (i.e., typically twelve months or less). Such contracts are used in the normal purchases
of our food products and not for speculative purposr es, and as such are not required to be evaluated as derivative
instruments.

(15) Subsequent Events

Settlement

On January 2, 2024, we executed a settlement agreement with a third-party software provider. The third-party
provider was subju ect to a ransomware incident in the second quarter of 2023. The incident impacted the effiff ciency of our
shop operations but did not have an impact on our financial reporting nor resulted in the exposure of any of our data. The
settlement is expected to result in a gain of approximately $1.1 million in our consolidated statement of operations for the
first quarter of 2024.

Revolving Facility

On Februarr ry 7, 2024, Potbelly Sandwich Works, LLC (the “Borrower”) entered into a credit agreement (the
“Credit Agreement”) with Wintrust Bank, N.A. as administrative agent (the “Agent”), the other loan parties party thereto
and the lenders party thereto. The Credit Agreement provides for a revolving loan facility with an aggregate commitment
of $30,000,000 (the “Revolving Facility”, the commitments thereunder, the “Revolving Commitments”). Concurrently with
entryrr into the Credit Agreement, we repaid in full and terminated the obligations and commitments of the lenders under our
existing Term Loan. Proceeds from the Revolving Facility will be used for general corporate and working capital purposr es.

The Revolving Commitments expire on Februar ry 7, 2027.

Loans under the Credit Agreement will initially bear interest, at our option, at either one-month term SOFR or the
base rate plus, in each case, an applicable rate per annum, based upon the Consolidated Adjud sted Leverage Ratio (as
defined in the Credit Agreement). The applicable rate may vary between 3.75% and 2.75% with respect to borrowings
which are based upon the one-month term SOFR and between 2.25% and 1.25% with respect to borrowings which are
based upon the base rate. Initially, the applicable rate with respect to one-month term SOFR borrowings is 3.25% and the
applicable rate with respect to base rate borrowings is 1.75% until the Agent receives a compliance certificff ate for the fiscal
quarter ending on March 31, 2024.

We may prepay the Revolving Commitments at any time and from time to time in whole or in part without
premium or penalty, subju ect to prior notice in accordance with the Credit Agreement.

Subju ect to certain customaryrr exceptions, obligations under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by the Company
and all of the Company’s current and future wholly-owned material domestic subsu idiaries and are secured by a first-priority
security interest in subsu tantially all of the assets of the Company and its subsu idiary guarantors.

The Credit Agreement contains customaryrr representations and affiff rmative and negative covenants. Among other
things, these covenants restrict our ability to incur certain indebtedness and liens, undergo certain mergers, consolidations
and certain other fundamental changes, make certain investments, make certain dispositions and acquisitions, enter into
sale and leaseback transactions, enter into certain swap transactions, make certain restricted payments (including certain
payment of dividends, repurchases of stock and payments on certain indebtedness), engage in certain transactions with
affiff liates, enter into certain types of restricted agreements, make certain changes to its organizational documents and
indebtedness, and use the proceeds of the Revolving Commitments for certain non-permitted uses. In addition, the Credit
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Agreement requires that we maintain compliance with certain minimum fixed charge coverage ratios and maximum
consolidated leverage ratios as set forth in the Credit Agreement.

The Credit Agreement also contains customaryrr events of default. If an event of default occurs, the Agent and
lenders are entitled to take various actions, including the acceleration of amounts due under the Credit Agreement,
termination of commitments thereunder and all other actions permitted to be taken by a secured creditor.

As a result of repaying and terminating the Term Loan, we expect to recognize a loss on extinguishment of debt of
approximately $2 to $3 million in the first quarter of 2024.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Discii losure Controt ls and Procedurdd es

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Offiff cer (as the principal executive offiff cer and
person performing functions similar to that of the principal financial offiff cer), has evaluated the effeff ctiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedurd es (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”)) as of December 31, 2023. Based upon that evaluation, we have concluded that, as of
December 31, 2023, our disclosure controls and procedurd es were effeff ctive in ensuring that information required to be
disclosed in reports that we file or submu it under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within
the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Offiff cer, as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Repore t on Internal Controt l over Financial Repore ting

Management, including our Chief Executive Offiff cer, is responsible for establa ishing and maintaining adequate
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Our internal
control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonabla e assurance regarding the reliabia lity of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposr es in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedurd es that (i) pertain to
the maintenance of records that, in reasonabla e detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our
assets; (ii) provide reasonabla e assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and (iii) provide reasonabla e assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a
material effeff ct on our financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Thereforff e, even those systems determined to be effeff ctive can provide only reasonabla e assurance with
respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation of effeff ctiveness to future
periods are subju ect to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedurd es may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effeff ctiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023.
In making this assessment, management used the criteria establa ished by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013). Based on this assessment,
management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2023, our internal control over financial reporting was effeff ctive, at a
reasonabla e assurance level.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the financial statements
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, has issued an attestation report on our internal control over financial
reporting.

Changes in Internal Controt l over Financial Repore ting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) that occurred during our fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2023 that have materially affeff cted, or are
reasonabla y likely to materially affeff ct, our internal control over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Potbelly Corporation

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Potbelly Corporation and subsu idiaries (the “Company”) as
of December 31, 2023, based on criteria establa ished in Internal Contrott l—In— tegre ated Frameworkrr (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained,
in all material respects, effeff ctive internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria
establa ished in Internal Controt l—In— tegre ated Frameworkrr (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Publu ic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023, of the Company
and our report dated March 8, 2024, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effeff ctive internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effeff ctiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonabla e assurance about whether effeff ctive internal control over financial reporting was maintained in
all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing
the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effeff ctiveness of internal control
based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedurd es as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonabla e basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonabla e assurance regarding the
reliabia lity of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposr es in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedurd es that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonabla e detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonabla e assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonabla e assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effeff ct on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effeff ctiveness to future periods are subju ect to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedurd es may deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Chicago, Illinois
March 8, 2024
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

During the quarter ended December 31, 2023 no director or offiff cer of Potbelly adopted or terminated a "RulRR e
10b5-1 trading agreement" or "non-Rule 10b5-1 trading agreement," as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation
S-K.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

None.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATRR E GOVERNANCE

Except as set forth below, the information required by this item will be contained in Potbelly’s definitive proxy
statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting (our “Proxy Statement”) and is incorporated herein by reference.

Potbelly has adopted an ethics code of conduct applicable to the directors, offiff cers and employees. A copy of that
code is availabla e on our corporate website at www.potbet lly.com, which does not form a part of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. Any amendments to such code, or any waivers of its requirements, will be posted on our website.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item will be contained in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by
reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Except as set forth below, the information required by this item will be contained in Potbelly’s Proxy Statement
and is incorporated herein by reference.

Equity Compensation Plan Informationq y p

The following tabla e presents certain information related to Potbelly’s equity incentive plans under which the
equity securities are authorized for issuance as of December 31, 2023 (shares in thousands):

(a) (b) (c)

Plan Category

Number of Securities to
be issued upon exercise
of outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Weighted-average
exercise price of

outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under
equity compensation
plans (excluding

securities refleff cted in
column (a))

Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders (1) 122 $ 13.71 1,401 (2)

Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders — — —

Total 122 $ 13.71 1,401
______________________________
(1) Consists of the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan, the 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan and the 2019 Long-Term

Incentive Plan. No further awards may be made under the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan or the 2013 Long-Term
Incentive Plan. All remaining shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the 2013 Plan are availabla e for
issuance under the 2019 Plan.

(2) The total amount reported consists only of shares availabla e for future issuance under the 2019 Long-Term
Incentive Plan, which may be issued in connection with awards of stock options, stock appreciation rights,
restricted stock, restricted stock units, deferred stock units, performance stock and performance stock units.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSRR ACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item will be contained in Potbelly’s Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein
by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item will be contained in Potbelly’s Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein
by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Financial Statements

(1) The financial statements filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are listed in the index to the
financial statements.

(2) Any financial statement schedules required to be filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are set forth
in section (c) below.

(b) Exhibits

See the Exhibit Index at the end of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which is incorporate by reference.

(c) Financial Statement Schedules

No financial statement schedules are provided because the information called for is not applicable or is shown in
the financial statements or notes thereto.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

3.1 Seventh Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Potbelly Corporation (filed as Exhibit 3.1
to Form S-1 (File No. 333-190893) filed on August 29, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference)

3.2 Amended and Restated By-laws of Potbelly Corporation (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Form 8-K (File No.
001-36104) filed June 12, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference)

4.1 Description of Capital Stock

4.2 Fifth Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form S-1 (File No.
333-190893) filed on August 29, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.1 Potbelly Corporation 2004 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form S-1 (File
No. 333-190893) filed on August 29, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference) †

10.2 Amended and Restated Potbelly Corporation 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
Form 8-K (File No. 001-36104) filed June 12, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference) †

10.3 Potbelly Corporation 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K (File No.
001-36104) filed May 21, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference) †

10.3A Potbelly Corporate 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan (As Amended and Restated Effective June 24, 2020)
(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-36104) filed June 30, 2020 and incorporated herein by
reference). †

10.3B Amendment to Potbelly Corporate 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan (As Amended and Restated Effective
June 24, 2020) (incorporated by reference to our Registration Statement on Form S-8). †

Potbelly Corporation Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-Q
(File No. 001-36104) filed August 8, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference). †

10.5 Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of August 7, 2019, among Potbelly
Sandwich Works, LLC, the other Loan Parties party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q (File No. 001-36104)
filed August 8, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.5A Amendment No. 1, dated May 15, 2020, to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated
as of August 7, 2019, among Potbelly Sandwich Works, LLC, the other Loan Parties party thereto, the
Lenders party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and J.P. Morgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as Sole Bookrunner and Sole Lead Arranger (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q (File No.
001-36104) filed May 18, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.5B Amendment No. 2, dated July 17, 2020, to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated
as of August 7, 2019, among Potbelly Sandwich Works, LLC, the other Loan Parties party thereto, the
Lenders party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and J.P. Morgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as Sole Bookrunner and Sole Lead Arranger (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-Q (File No.
001-36104) filed August 5, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.5C Amendment No. 3, dated August 19, 2020, to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement,
dated as of August 7, 2019, among Potbelly Sandwich Works, LLC, the other Loan Parties party thereto,
the Lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent and J.P. Morgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Sole Bookrunner and Sole Lead Arranger (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K (File
No. 001-36104) filed August 21, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference).

Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit
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10.5D Amendment No. 4, dated November 4, 2020, to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement,
dated as of August 7, 2019, among Potbelly Sandwich Works, LLC, the other Loan Parties party thereto,
the Lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent and J.P. Morgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Sole Bookrunner and Sole Lead Arranger (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K (File
No. 001-36104) filed November 9, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.5E Amendment No. 5, dated February 26, 2021, to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement,
dated as of August 7, 2019, among Potbelly Sandwich Works, LLC, the other Loan Parties party thereto,
the Lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent and J.P. Morgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Sole Bookrunner and Sole Lead Arranger (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q (File
No. 001-36104) filed May 6, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.5F Amendment No. 6, dated January 28, 2022, to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
dated as of August 7, 2019, among Potbelly Sandwich Works, LLC, the other Loan Parties party thereto,
the Lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A., as Administrative Agent and J.P. Morgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Sole Bookrunner and Sole Lead Arranger (filed as Exhibit 10.5F to Form 10-K
(File No. 001-36104) filed March 12, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.5G Amendment No. 7 dated May 31, 2022, to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as
of August 7, 2019, among Potbelly Sandwich Works, LLC, the other Loan Parties party thereto, the
Lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A., as Administrative Agent and J.P. Morgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as Sole Bookrunner and Sole Lead Arranger (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q (File No.
001-36104) filed June 26, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.5H Amendment No. 8 dated September 23, 2022, to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
dated as of August 7, 2019, among Potbelly Sandwich Works, LLC, the other Loan Parties party thereto,
the Lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A., as Administrative Agent and J.P. Morgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Sole Bookrunner and Sole Lead Arranger (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q (File
No. 001-36104) filed September 25, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.6 Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of February 7, 2023, among Potbelly Corporation, the other
loan parties named therein, Sagard Holdings Manager LP, as administrative agent, and the lenders set
forth therein (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-36104) filed February 10, 2022 and
incorporated herein by reference).

10.7 Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of February 7, 2024, among Potbelly Sandwich Works, LLC,
the other loan parties named therein, Wintrust Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and the lenders set
forth therein and filed Feburuary 12, 2024 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.8 Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock to be issued pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement
(filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-36104) filed February 10, 2021 and incorporated herein
by reference).

10.9 Equity Sales Agreement, dated as of November 3, 2021, by and between Potbelly Corporation and
William Blair & Company, L.L.C. (filed as Exhibit 1.1 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-36104) filed on
November 4, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.10 Form of Registration Rights Agreement to be entered into by and among the Company and the persons
party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-36104) filed February 10, 2021 and
incorporated herein by reference).

10.11 Executive Employment Agreement, dated April 6, 2020, between Potbelly Corporation and Steve Cirulis
(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-36104) filed April 13, 2020 and incorporated herein by
reference). †

Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit
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10.12 Executive Employment Agreement, dated July 20, 2020, between Potbelly Corporation and Robert D.
Wright (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-36104) filed July 20, 2020 and incorporated
herein by reference). †

10.13 Executive Employment Agreement, dated August 28, 2020, between Potbelly Corporation and Adam
Noyes (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-36104) filed September 1, 2020 and
incorporated herein by reference). †

10.14 Executive Employment Agreement, dated September 30, 2019, between Potbelly Corporation and Jeff
Douglas †

10.15 Executive Employment Agreement, dated November 11, 2020, between Potbelly Corporation and Adiya
Dixon †

10.16 Form of stock option agreement for grants for non-employee directors pursuant to 2004 Equity Incentive
Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.13 to Form S-1 (File No. 333-190893) filed August 29, 2013 and incorporated
herein by reference). †

10.17 Form of stock option agreement pursuant to 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.14 to
Form S-1 (File No. 333-190893) filed August 29, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference) †

10.18 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement pursuant to 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan, As
Amended and Restated (filed as Annex A to the Definitive Proxy Statement (File No. 001-36104) filed
May 20, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.19 Form of Director Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for non-employee directors pursuant to 2019
Long-Term Incentive Plan, As Amended and Restated

10.20 Restricted Stock Unit Inducement Award Agreement effective as of August 5, 2020, between Potbelly
Corporation and Robert D. Wright (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Form 10-Q (File No. 001-36104) filed
November 5, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference). †

10.21 Restricted Stock Unit Inducement Award Agreement effective as of August 28, 2020, between Potbelly
Corporation and Adam Noyes (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Form 10-Q (File No. 001-36104) filed November
5, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference). †

10.22 Employment Agreement Amendment, dated November 2, 2022, between Potbelly Corporation and
Robert D. Wright (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-36104) filed November 2, 2022 and
incorporated herein by reference). †

10.23 Form of Performance Stock Unit Award Agreement pursuant to 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan, As
Amended and Restated. †

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP

24.1 Power of Attorney (included on signature page)

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

97 Potbelly Corporation Executive Officer Clawback Policy (filed herewith)

Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit
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101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labea l Linkbase

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
† Management contract or compensatory plan

Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, Potbelly
Corporation has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

POTBELLY CORPORATRR ION

Dated: March 8, 2024 /s/ Robert D. Wright
Robert D. Wright

Chiefe Executive Officff er and Presidendd t

Dated: March 8, 2024 /s/ Steven Cirulis
Steven Cirulis

Chiefe Financial Offiff cer
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and
appoints Robert Wright and Adiya Dixon and each of them, his or her truer and lawfulff attorneys-in-fact, each with full
power of subsu titution, for him or her in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this report on Form 10-K and to
file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby ratifying and confirff ming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact or their subsu titute or subsu titutes may do
or cause to be done by virtuet hereof.ff Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has
been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Robert D. Wright Chief Executive Offiff cer and President; Director
(Principal Executive Offiff cer) March 8, 2024

Robert D. Wright

/s/ Steven Cirulis Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Offiff cer, Chief Strategy Offiff cer
(Principal Financial Offiff cer, Principal Accounting Offiff cer) March 8, 2024

Steven Cirulis

/s/ Joseph Boehm
Director March 8, 2024

Joseph Boehm

/s/ Adrian Butler
Director March 8, 2024

Adrian Butler

/s/ David T. Pearson
Director March 8, 2024

David T. Pearson

/s/ David Head
Director March 8, 2024

David Head

/s/ David Near
Director March 8, 2024

David Near

/s/ Jill Sutton
Director March 8, 2024

Jill Sutton

/s/ Vann Avedisian
Director March 8, 2024

Vann Avedisian

/s/ Todd W. Smith
Director March 8, 2024

Todd W. Smith
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Executive Officers 

Robert D. Wright 
President, 
Chief Executive Officer 

Steven Cirulis 
Senior Vice President, 
Chief Financial Officer and 
Chief Strategy Officer 

David Daniels 
Senior Vice President, 
Chief Marketing Officer 

Adiya Dixon 
Senior Vice President, 
Chief Legal Officer, Chief 
Compliance Officer 
and Secretary 

Jeffrey Douglas 
Senior Vice President, 
Chief Information Officer 

Lynette McKee 
Senior Vice President of 
Franchising 

Adam Noyes 
Senior Vice President, 
Chief Operating Officer 

Patrick Walsh 
Senior Vice President and Chief 
People Officer 

 Board of Directors 

Joseph Boehm 
Chairman of the Board 

Vann Avedisian 

Adrian Butler 

David Head 

David Near 

David Pearson 

Todd Smith 

Jill Sutton 

Robert D. Wright 

 Corporate Headquarters 

111 N. Canal Street 
Suite 325 
Chicago, Il 60606 

Transfer Agent 

American Stock Transfer & Trust 
Company, LLC 

Address: 
Operations Center 
6201 15th Avenue 
Brooklyn, NY 11219 

Telephone: 
(800) 937-5449 or (718) 921-8124 

Website: 
http://www.amstock.com/ 

Investor Relations 

investor@potbelly.com 
(332) 242-4370 

 

Biographies of the directors and executive officers are contained respectively under the headings Director Biographies on pg. 7 and 
Executive Officers on pg. 22 of the proxy statement, which is included with this Annual Report. 

 

Forward-looking statements, within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, are made throughout this Annual 
Report. 

They appear in a number of places throughout this Annual Report and include statements regarding our intentions, beliefs or current 
expectations concerning, among other things, our results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, prospects, growth, strategies and the 
industry in which we operate. For a discussion of certain risks and uncertainties that may affect our future results, please see “Business” in 
Item 1, “Risk Factors” in Item 1A and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in 
Item 7. 

 




